
 

  
 
 

       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                      
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Request for Proposals 
#2023-03-M 

 
McCormick Place  

Convention Center  
Food Service Management  

 
 

 

 

METROPOLITAN PIER AND 
EXPOSITION AUTHORITY (MPEA) 

February 2023 



 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
SECTIONS:   
 

I. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION  
 

II. BACKGROUND INFORMATION & OBJECTIVES 
 

III. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND REQUIREMENTS 
    

IV. RFP PROCESS AND SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
 

V. EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

VI. CONDITIONS, DISCLAIMERS, DISCLOSURES 
 
VII. REQUIRED FORMS 
 

 
EXHIBITS:   
 
 

1. DRAFT FORM OF AGREEMENT  
2. SAMPLE EXHIBITS FROM CURRENT CONTRACT 
3. RFP TIMELINE 

 
 

 
 

  
  



 

Food Service Management #2023-03-M 
The Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority (MPEA) 
Page 3  
 

                                                                                                                                                                    

SECTION I. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
The following terms in this Solicitation shall be defined as follows: 
 
“Agreement” or "Contract" means the Agreement that is to be entered into between 
the Authority and the selected Proposer pursuant to this RFP. 
 
"Authority" means the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority. 
 
“Manager” refers to the Proposer that is selected to provide the Services and will enter 
into the Agreement or Contract with the Authority 
 
"Include" Whenever the term "include" (in any of its forms) is used, it means "include, 
without limitation." 
 
 “Laws” means City, State and Federal statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and 
regulations. 

“MBE” means Minority Owned Business Enterprise. 

“MPEA” means Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority. 

"Proposal" means all materials submitted in response to this RFP. 

"Proposer" or “Provider” or “Respondent” means the firm(s), individual(s), 
corporation(s), partnership(s) and joint venture(s) that submit Proposals pursuant to this 
RFP. 

“Responsive” Responsiveness is determined by the Authority and relates to compliance 
with the provisions of the solicitation, including specifications, and contractual terms and 
conditions.  Conformity in material respects or substantial compliance suffices, although 
absolute or precise conformity is not required. The Authority reserves the right to reject 
any Proposal that it deems materially non-responsive.  

“Responsible” Responsibility is determined by the Authority and relates primarily to the 
ability of a Proposer/Bidder to successfully carry out a proposed contract, and whether 
the Proposer/Bidder has the character, reputation, and integrity to receive an award. The 
Authority may determine in its sole discretion that a Proposer/Bidder, otherwise able to 
perform, who has been convicted of a felony, or violation of the public procurement 
requirements of any federal or state governmental entity, is not responsible and therefore 
disqualified from the RFP and RFP process.  Other considerations bearing on a 
determination of responsibility can include experience, past performance, business and 
financial capabilities, skills, technical organization and reliability. Some of the 
mechanisms available to measure a Proposer’s/Bidder’s responsibility are the utilization 
of reference checks, vendor performance on previous contracts and availability of 
financial credit information.  
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"RFP" means this Request for Proposals, including all Exhibits and addenda. 

“Selected Proposer” or “Successful Proposer” or “Successful Contractor” means 
the Proposer selected for award of an Agreement.  

“Trade Reference” means a reference concerning the creditworthiness of the Proposer 
given by another business that extends credit to the Proposer, such as a supplier. 

“WBE” means Women Owned Business Enterprise. 

INTERPRETATIONS 

A. Any headings in this RFP are for convenience of reference only and do not 
define, limit, control or affect the meaning of the RFP provisions.  In this RFP, 
unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "hereby," "herein," "hereof," 
"hereto," "hereunder" and any similar terms used in this RFP refer to this RFP.  
All section references, unless otherwise expressly indicated, are to sections of 
this RFP.  Words of any gender shall be deemed and construed to include 
correlative words of the other genders.  Words indicating the singular number 
shall include the plural number and vice versa, unless the context shall 
otherwise indicate.  All references to any exhibit or document shall be deemed 
to include all supplements and/or amendments to any such exhibits or 
documents entered into in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
RFP and such documents.  All references to any person or entity shall be 
deemed to include any person or entity succeeding to the rights, duties, and 
obligations of such persons or entities in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of this RFP. 

B. Unless a contrary meaning is specifically noted elsewhere, the words “as 
required,” “as directed,” “as permitted” and similar words used in the RFP 
mean that requirements, directions of and permission of MPEA are intended; 
similarly, the words “approved,” “acceptable,” “satisfactory” or words of like 
import mean “approved by,” “acceptable to” or “satisfactory to” MPEA.  Words 
“necessary,” “proper” or words of like import as used with respect to extent, 
conduct or character of Services specified shall mean that the Services as 
outlined in Section III must be conducted in a manner or be of character which 
is “necessary” or “proper” in the option of MPEA. 

C. Unless a contrary meaning is specifically noted elsewhere, the words 
“approved,” “reasonable,” “suitable,” “acceptable,” “properly,” “satisfactory” or 
words of like effect and import used in the RFP mean reasonable, suitable, 
acceptable, proper or satisfactory in the judgment of MPEA.  
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SECTION II. – BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
The Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority, hereinafter referred to as the “Authority” 
or “MPEA”, is a municipal corporation existing under the laws of the State of Illinois 
pursuant to the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority Act, as amended, 70 ILCS 
210/1 et seq. (the “MPEA Act”).   
 
The Authority is governed by a nine-member Board appointed by the Governor of Illinois 
and the Mayor of Chicago.  Current Board Members are listed on the Authority’s website 
at http://www.mpea.com/mpea_board/board.html. The Chairman of the Board is selected 
by fellow Board members and a Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Authority, is appointed by the Board. 
 
The Authority owns McCormick Place®, an exhibition and convention center located at 
23rd Street and Martin Luther King Drive in the City of Chicago, which is managed and 
operated by ASM Global, a private convention management company. The McCormick 
Place convention center includes four buildings: the South, West, North buildings and 
the Lakeside Center. These buildings have a combined total of more than 2.6 million 
square feet of exhibit space, and over 600,000 square feet of meeting rooms, making it 
the nation’s largest convention center. McCormick Place® hosts approximately 125-150 
events and attracts more than 2.5 million trade and public show visitors annually.  
McCormick Place® features the Arie Crown® Theater, a renovated proscenium arch 
theatre which seats approximately 4,200. Wintrust Arena, a 10,387-seat multi-purpose 
arena that hosts DePaul NCAA men’s and women’s home basketball games and 
tournaments and that also serves as the home of the WNBA’s Chicago Sky franchise, is 
part of the McCormick Place Complex “MPC”. Two separate buildings, the Energy Center 
and the Corporate Center, are also part of the MPC.  
 
The Authority also owns two convention center hotels. The Hyatt Regency McCormick 
Place is a 1,258-room hotel and conference center located adjacent to McCormick Place. 
The Hyatt Hotels Corporation is responsible for the operation and management of this 
Hotel under a management agreement with the Authority. The 1,206-room Marriott 
Marquis Chicago is managed by Marriott International pursuant to a management 
agreement between the Authority and Marriott International. While not managed by the 
Food Service Manager, the Successful Proposer’s willingness and ability to work with 
the hotels to enhance the reputation and financial performance of the Authority is critical 
to the Authority and will be a requirement of the Successful Proposer.   
 
OBJECTIVES 
  
The METROPOLITAN PIER AND EXPOSITION AUTHORITY, hereinafter referred to as 
the "Authority" or “MPEA” is issuing this Request for Proposals (RFP) to identify 
management companies capable of providing a full range of comprehensive food service 
management services for the McCormick Place® Complex (MPC) in Chicago, Illinois.  The 
Authority invites submittals from qualified firms that have proven experience in major 
market convention or exhibition facilities’ food service management. 

http://www.mpea.com/mpea_board/board.html
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The Authority is committed to ensuring that the future foodservice experience at 
McCormick Place is second-to-none. This includes providing the highest quality 
banquet/catering and special event services. It also includes providing restaurant style 
services in the concession/cash businesses on the McCormick Place campus.  The 
MPEA is committed to delivering a superior level of service in an environmentally 
responsible manner at a price that is competitive with our prime, national, and regional 
competitors in the convention center industry.    
 
The Submission Requirements and Scope provide more detail regarding the 
qualifications and expectations for the Food Service Manager.  Below includes a 
summary of priorities: 

• Proposer’s relationship with the Authority; ability to independently operate a world 
class food service program and to protect and enhance the reputation of 
McCormick Place, advise the Authority, and implement improvements.   

• Attract, retain, and train staff to provide superior customer service.  
• Employees that provide event planners with creative, economical, and responsive 

service from menu planning to contracting to event service delivery to close out 
and review.   

• Provide high-quality food and beverage, more healthy options, increased variety, 
and use of local vendors at reasonable price points.  Expand hours as needed for 
pre and post event days and hours and consistent onsite staffing.  

• Expand and improve options and technology related to ordering, delivery, and 
payment.   

 
It is the desired goal of the Authority to have an executed management contract with the 
successful Proposer no later than July 1, 2023 to allow for a sufficient transition period.  
The new food service management contract will begin October 1, 2023.   
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SECTION III. – SCOPE OF SERVICES  
 

3.1 SCOPE OF SERVICES 
The Authority seeks a foodservice management company for McCormick Place. The 
Selected Proposer shall be the exclusive provider of all food and beverage services at all 
McCormick Place Complex facilities with the exception of the exclusions detailed herein. 
Food and beverage services shall include banquet operations, concessions operations 
and all special event services not otherwise specifically excluded. The Selected Proposer 
shall also manage the Authority’s interest and direct all Authority Contracted Retail Food 
Licensees who may bring specific branded, thematic, or other specialty food and 
beverage services to McCormick Place. Exclusions include certain hotel in-house and 
McCormick Place Collection events successfully contracted by MPEA’s hotel managers 
with the use of rooms S100 through S106 in the South Building. This Selected Proposer/ 
Authority Contracted Retail Food Licensee relationship shall not diminish in any way the 
master Agreement relationship that the Selected Proposer has directly with the Authority. 
Proposers are encouraged to carefully review the current facilities management 
agreements posted on the MPEA website.   

 
Services include, but are not limited to: 
 

A.  Hire, train and manage all personnel necessary to provide the food and 
beverage services. 

 
B. Provide catering services including but not limited to advance sales, 

hiring and scheduling of all required staff; all necessary food preparation 
and service operations; delivery of all catered services; and cleanup and 
restoration of service areas. 

 
C. Strategically collaborate with the Authority sales team to maximize event 

sales. 
 
D. The provision of food and beverage services to meeting rooms and 

licensed event organizer management offices used by customers. 
Services may range from snacks to elaborate catered meals. These 
services will require constant attention from the Manager for re-supply 
and freshness purposes and may require immediate removal of services 
at specific times. 

 
E.  The provision of food and beverage services to exhibitors at conventions 

and trade shows, with food and/or beverage items served directly to the 
exhibitors’ booth/display location. 

 
F.  The provision of concession services for all scheduled events at the 

convention center, including move-in and move-out periods as required 
by convention center management. Concession services shall include 
at a minimum advance preparation of concession areas; scheduling of 
all necessary staff, equipment and supplies, food products and 
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beverages; operation during the hours specified by McCormick Place, 
ongoing housekeeping service in concession areas during operating 
hours; and equipment removal and storage, and cleanup and restoration 
of concession areas. 

 
G. The provision of portable “thematic” food service, offering a broad range 

of cuisines, incorporating Chicago specialties and local restaurants., 
highlighting food and beverages with related thematic presentations, 
portable carts and displays. 

 
H. The provision of temporary retail and moveable kiosks, including on the 

floor catering and vending machines. 
 
I.  Utilization of mobile platforms to expedite ordering remotely or onsite; 

incorporating technology such as apps, QR codes, and/or kiosks. 
 
J. Procurement and management of third-party licensees, and Starbucks 

(Franchisee). 
 
K.  When unique food and beverage services that the Manager is unable to 

provide are requested, the Manager shall subcontract food and 
beverage service operations for that event or service to a local specialty 
catering company approved by the Authority. 

 
L. The periodic operation of an employee cafeteria for union staff. 
 
M. Servicing and management of vending machines. 
 
N.  Other ancillary services, such as coat check and managing the onsite 

rooftop garden. 
 

Excluded activities include the following: 
 

 Any food and beverages provided by Vendors designated as MPEA 
contracted retail food licensees. 

 
B. Food and beverage distributed by exhibitors under a facility approved 

policy for sampling. 
 
C. Food and beverage brought into the facility as part of the facility defined 

“Personal Consumption Policy.” 
 

D. Food and beverage service provided by an MPEA hotel manager in the S100 
through S106 in the South Building. Food service manager and hotel manager 
must cooperate to ensure compliance with each contract.   

 
3.2 STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE  
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All services must be performed with that degree of skill, care, and diligence normally 
shown by a professional performing service of comparable scope, purpose and 
magnitude. 
 
3.3 FOOD AND BEVERAGE SERVICES 
The sale of all products and the performance of all services will be subject to the approval 
of the Authority. All services must be performed in a first-class manner demonstrating the 
highest level of customer service and product quality. In connection with the services, the 
Manager shall be responsible for the following, without limitation: 
 

A.  Ordering, receiving, cataloging and storing all food and beverage 
products, supplies and equipment; maintaining all such supplies and 
equipment in good working order; replacing equipment according to a 
schedule proposed by Manager and approved by the Authority; 

 
B. Moving food and beverage products, supplies and equipment to the 

storage and preparation areas or to the designated event or other 
McCormick Place location; 

 
C. Preparing and serving all food and beverage for guests; 
 
D. Cleaning all areas used in preparing, storing, transporting and serving 

food and beverage; 
 
E. Managing and overseeing all food and beverage outlets, whether 

operated by the Manager or an Authority Contracted Retail Food 
Licensee; 

 
F.  Conducting operations in a manner consistent with federal, state, and 

local regulations and industry best practices with regard to safe food 
handling and mitigation of risk of food borne illness; and 

 
G. Adhere to public health protocols in response to mitigating the spread of 

any infectious diseases and to help the facility maintain GBAC STAR 
accreditation. 

 
The Manager must provide the services in the form of banquet operations and concession 
operations of the nature and in the locations set forth herein. If the Authority adds facilities 
to McCormick Place not contemplated herein, the Authority reserves the right to 
renegotiate with the Manager a contract for services in the new facilities.  
 

3.3.1 Banquet Operations  
The Manager shall manage and operate a catering program that successfully markets 
and operates full food and beverage services for meetings, receptions, VIP functions, 
show floor booths, banquets and related functions. Manager must be able to execute 
events ranging in size from very small to several thousand attendees. The Manager 
must be able to execute a broad array of culinary options for the Authority’s clients, 
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from local Chicago favorites such as Chicago dogs, hot Italian beef sandwiches and 
deep-dish pizza, to high end fine dining from a variety of cultural backgrounds.  

 
While the Authority generally intends for the Manager to have exclusive rights at 
McCormick Place to provide all food and beverage products and services, including 
alcoholic beverages, the Authority reserves the right to engage or contract for outside 
banquet services for certain events. The Authority shall possess the ability to 
designate an alternate food and beverage provider. This outside banquet service shall 
not sell alcoholic beverages or use Authority owned equipment.  The Authority agrees 
to limit the use of this option to no more than six (6) times per year. 
 
Banquet operations requires constant and timely attention to ensure product quality 
and customer service to the Clients of the Authority. Except as otherwise provided 
herein, the Manager has the limited exclusive right to provide the banquet operations 
at McCormick Place in locations that are outlined below in “Required Locations” and 
in any other space not listed below but which, during the term of the Agreement, may 
be designated by the Authority as an additional location for banquet operations.  

 
A. Required Locations 

Banquet operations will be required in the following locations: ballrooms, 
show floors, meeting rooms, exhibit booths, permissible outdoor spaces 
and any other space designated by the Authority and as further detailed in 
Exhibit 1. Banquet operations in exhibitor booths on the show floor include 
food and beverage being delivered, setup and served based on a “Booth 
Service Menu” which will be developed by the Manager and subject to the 
approval of the Authority. This service may range from an elaborate meal 
to a simple coffee service and is available for all Events. Banquet operations 
must also be provided in the following specific locations, each of which is 
used for public trade shows. Banquet operations are not limited to these 
locations.  

 
(i) The South Building 

a. Ballrooms: The Grand Ballroom (S100) is 33,740 square 
feet and seats 2,249 people for banquets. The Vista 
Ballroom (S406) is 21,365 square feet and seats 1,424 
people for banquets. 

b. Meeting Rooms: The South Building contains 39 meeting 
rooms on three different levels of the building. 

c. Show Floor: The South Building show floor features 840,000 
square feet of exhibit space. As a point of references, the 
largest banquet served on the show floor in this building was 
for 12,000 people.  

 
(ii) The North Building 

a. Ballrooms: None located in the North Building. 
b. Meeting Rooms: The North Building contains 29 meeting 

rooms on three different levels of the building.  
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c. Show Floor: The North Building features over 700,000 
square feet of exhibition space with show floors on two 
levels.  

 
 
 
(iii) The Lakeside Center 

a. Ballrooms: The Lakeside Ballroom (E364) is 44,715 square 
feet and seats 2,981 people for banquets.  

b. Meeting Rooms: The Lakeside Center contains 40 meeting 
rooms on three different levels of the building.  

c. Show Floor: The Lakeside Center features over 583,000 
square feet of exhibition space with show floors on two 
levels. As a point of reference, the largest reception served 
on the show floor in this building was for 13,000 people.  

d. Outdoor Space: The Lakeside Center Outdoor Terrace is 
used for receptions and outdoor concessions on the Level 3 
terrace facing Lake Michigan. As a point of reference, the 
largest outdoor reception was for 3,000 people.  

 
(iv) The West Building 

a. Ballrooms: The West Building Ballroom (W375) is 103,760 
square feet and can be divided into five separate sections 
varying in size from 16,859 to 29,387 square feet.  

b. Meeting Rooms: The West Building contains 62 meeting 
rooms on two different levels of the building.  

c. Show Floor: The West Building features 470,000 square feet 
of exhibition space with the show floor on one level.  

d. Outdoor Space: The West Building Rooftop Garden is 
approximately 11,000 square feet and is utilized for 
receptions for up to approximately 600 people. 

 
(v)  Wintrust Arena 

a. 22 Suites and other locations as depicted in the referenced 
map:  
 

https://wintrustarena.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Wintrust-Arena.pdf 
 

b. The arena floor can be converted to accommodate various 
events: https://wintrustarena.com/arena-info/ 

 
3.3.2 Concession Operations  
The Manager shall also successfully maximize the integration of concessions sales 
outlets and services for all convention center events, including fixed and mobile 
concession stands; cafés and food courts; lounges; and mobile and themed concepts 
and carts. Subject to the limitations stated herein, the Manager has the limited 
exclusive right to provide the concession operations at McCormick Place in the 
manner set forth below. The concession operations require constant and timely 

https://wintrustarena.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Wintrust-Arena.pdf
https://wintrustarena.com/arena-info/
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attention to ensure product quality and customer service to the clients and guests of 
the Authority. The concession operations include the following: selling food and 
beverage at restaurants, bars, cafes, fast food outlets, permanent concession areas, 
portable concession, and in any other spaces not listed below but which, during the 
term of the agreement, may be designated by the Authority as an additional location 
for concession operations. The Authority desires unique, branded (local, regional, and 
national), and diverse concession facilities to be operated throughout the McCormick 
Place campus, with a focus on Chicago area owned and operated concepts that reflect 
the local culinary landscape. These will include, but will not be limited to, mobile-
thematic, semi-fixed kiosks or other apparatus, fixed kiosks, and fixed foodservice 
operations. In addition to self-operated concessions operations, the Manager will have 
the opportunity to operate franchised outlets and will be required to manage all MPEA 
Contracted Retail Food Licenses and integrate their operations into a seamless 
package of concession offerings to customers, vendors, and employees of McCormick 
Place.  

 
A. Franchises 
 In order to provide greater variety and customer satisfaction and comfort, 

the Manager may choose to utilize franchise agreements with locally, 
regionally, or nationally recognized branded food-service operations for the 
delivery of concession services. 

 
(i)  A franchise will be operated by employees of the Manager. 
(ii)  The Authority will have final approval over the selection of 

potential franchises and all terms of any agreement 
between the Manager and the grantor of the franchise. 

(iii)  The Manager will be required to provide any products or 
services in a manner which is clearly identifiable with the 
standards established by the grantor of the franchise. 

(iv)  Any new franchise or licensed outlet must adhere to rules 
set forth in the collective bargaining agreement, or new 
terms must otherwise be negotiated between the Manager 
and the labor union. 

 
B.  MPEA Contracted Retail Food Licensees  

The Authority currently has and may in the future enter into direct license 
agreements with third parties which provide a variety of food services 
including vending, national branded fast-food operations, and portable food 
services at McCormick Place. The Manager shall oversee operations of 
these Authority contracted retail food licensees.  The Manager will manage 
these agreements and will be responsible for ensuring that all terms of the 
retail food licenses are adhered to fully, manage the daily opening and 
closing of these vendors to coordinate with the Manager’s offerings, collect 
required payments from the MPEA Contracted retail food licensees, remit 
these payments to the Authority, and at the request of the Authority will 
assist with the soliciting of additional retail food licenses. In consideration, 
the Authority will compensate the Manager a bid percentage of the retail 
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food license revenue. The current MPEA Contracted retail food licensees 
include the following: 

 
(i)  McDonald's;  
(ii)  Connie’s pizza restaurant; and 
(iii) Miscellaneous portable food vendors. 

 
C. Required Locations 
Concession Operations must be provided on the show floors of each building 
in McCormick Place in permanent and temporary locations designated by the 
Authority. The designations are based on show schedules, locations, and 
constraints imposed by the Authority or by show management of an Event. 
Concession Operations must be provided in the following specific locations of 
McCormick Place and must be open during show hours, some move-in and 
move-out periods, and during other events designated by the Authority.  The 
Authority will work with the Manager to ensure adequate coverage of 
concession operations for each Event. The Authority will have final authority in 
determining which concession locations must be open and operational for each 
event. The Authority shall have the right to determine which concession area(s) 
must be open and the hours of operation. 

 
(i) The South Building 

a. Permanent and Portable Concessions on the show floor. 
Concession operations are required on the show floor during 
show activity and may be provided at Café A1 and A1 
located on raised platforms within the South Building and 
from two concession stands located on the south end of the 
show floor and a grab and go outlet on the north end of the 
show floor. The halls must also be served by portable 
concession operations upon request by the Authority or a 
Client.  

b. A permanent coffee stand located on Level 2.5 of the Grand 
Concourse 

c. The Fine Print Restaurant – Employee Cafeteria 
d. Bar South and Café South (located in the S100 level) 
e. The Plate Room Food Court – multi-cuisine food court 

 
(ii) The North Building 

a. Permanent and Portable Concessions on the show floor. 
Concession operations are required in the Grand 
Concourse Lobby, on the show floor and in permanent 
locations in Halls B1, B2, C1 and C2 during show activity. 
The halls must also be served by portable concession 
operations upon request by the Authority or a Client.  

b. Starbucks (Franchisee)  
c. McDonald’s (Retail Food Licensee) 
d. Café North (“grab and go” dining) 
e. 23rd Street Café 
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f. A semi-permanent grab and go location on Level 2. Used as 

a portable cart staging area on an as needed basis.  
g. Connie’s Pizza restaurant (Retail Food Licensee) 

 
 
 

(iii) The Lakeside Center 
a. Permanent and Portable Concessions on the show floor. 

There are no permanent concession locations on the show 
floor in Halls D1, D2 and E of Lakeside Center, and they are 
serviced entirely by portable concession operations. 
Concession operations are also required on the Level 2 
Lobby in front of the Arie Crown Theater to service patrons 
of the theater before shows and during intermission. 
Concession operations must also be offered on Level 3 East 
Outdoor Terrace during certain summer Events when 
weather permits and upon request of the Authority or a 
Client.  

b. Bistro 23 (panini and other sandwiches)  
c. Lake Side Café (pizza, sandwiches, and salads) 

 
(iv) The West Building 

a. Permanent and Portable Concessions. Concession 
operations are required within Hall F, which may be served 
by portable concession operations, and from the Overlook 
Café located on raised platforms and from other permanent 
concession stands located at each end of the show floor. 
Hall F must also be served by portable concession 
operations upon request by the Authority or a Client.  

b. La Brea Sandwiches and Soup 
c. Starbucks Coffee House (Franchisee)  
d. West Building Food Court (multi-cuisine food court) 
e. Coffee café station (Level 1) 
f. “270 degrees” (used for VIP functions and Event Client 

catering and meetings) 
 

(v) The Wintrust Arena  
a. Six Permanent concession stands: Three on Level 2, Three 

on Level 3 
b. Coors Bar: Large – Level 2; Small – Level 2 
c. DIBS Club: Level 2 
d. Courtside Club: Level 1 
e. 22 Suites: 10 on Level 3; 12 on Level 4 
f. Hot Dog Portable 
   

3.3.3 Portable Foodservice  
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The Manager shall be required to provide portable food outlets for McCormick Place 
events.  The Manager may use a combination of self-operated internal and franchise 
brands as well as Authority contracted retail food licensees to provide specialty items, 
which can be sold on a case-by-case basis on the show floor or other approved 
locations. Portable concession operations will take the form of both mobile thematic 
carts and portable kiosks. All such pieces of equipment will be new and custom 
designed to fit the needs of McCormick Place. Equipment shall be fully outfitted with 
millwork, special lighting and graphics program, shall be UL and NSF approved, and 
shall highly merchandise the products being sold to clients and guests. Examples of 
various types of foodservices to be served in this equipment are identified below. 
However, the types of vendors represented are examples only and are not required 
for the Proposal. 

 
 Authority Owned Portable Kiosks 
2 - Market carts 
2 - Third Coast Roast 
2 - Heartland Burger  
1 - Midwest Melt 
1 - Italian Beef 
1 - Grinder Cart 
1 - Walking Taco Cart 
1 - Luzita’s Taco Cart 
1 - Hot Dog (Large)2 – Hot Dog (Small) 

 
B. Subcontractors: The extent of the current subcontracting and use of 

approved vendors allowed under the CBA is as follows: 
(i)  Robinsons Ribs: Rib, Chicken Breast, Pulled Pork, 

Chopped Steak, and Pulled Turkey Sandwiches. Rib Tips, 
Hot Links, Catfish and Chicken Fingers, Water, Soda, 
Chips, and Deserts from Mobile Cart Locations. 

(ii)  Butch's Lemonade: Lemonade, Soft Pretzels, Water, 
Soda and Chips from Mobile Cart Locations. 

(iii) Ryba's: Ice Cream, Water, Soda, Fudge and Candy from 
Mobile Cart Locations and one built in location on Level 2.5 
of the North Building. 

(iv) Liquid Concessions: Coffee, Soda, Water, Pastries, 
Popcorn, Nuts and Smoothies from Mobile Locations for 
Retail Sale (non-banquets). 

(v) Connie’s Pizza: Pizza, Sub Sandwiches, Salads, Water, 
Soda, Chips, Cookies, Coffee from Mobile Carts and one 
pennant location on Level 2 of the North Building. 

(vi) McDonalds: McDonalds Products from a single permanent 
location on Level 2 of the North Building. 

(vii) Unnamed Kosher Concession Company: The employer 
will select a single Kosher Concession Company to sell 
kosher specific food, for concession sales, at the request of 
clients. This subcontractor will not be used in place of 
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bargaining unit employees in work that they could or would 
otherwise perform under this agreement. 

(viii) Ambrosia: Organic Sandwiches, Organic Salads, Organic 
Snacks and Organic Beverage from Mobile Cart Locations. 

(ix) Cappuccino Catering: Exhibitor Coffee and Specialty 
Coffee Services, Berry Chill Retail, Assorted Nuts, Trail Mix 
and Dried Fruit from Mobile Cart Locations.  

(x)  Crepes-a-Latte: Exhibitor Coffee and Specialty Coffee 
Services from Mobile locations. 

(xi) Quality Catering: Dock Mobile Food Truck.  
(xii) Mimi's Churros: Churros, Popcorn, Soda, Water, and 

Cotton Candy from Mobile Cart Locations.  
 

The Authority reserves the right to replace Connie’s Pizza, McDonald’s, 
Robinson’s Ribs or Ambrosia with subcontractors offering similar products. 
For example, if the Authority severed its subcontracting relationship with 
McDonald’s, the Authority may subcontract the location on Level 2 of the 
North Building to a Burger King. If any of the other subcontractors has 
ceased or ceases business during the term of this agreement, 1) if the 
Authority does not replace the subcontractor, the Authority will conduct any 
operations in the spaces they formerly occupied exclusively with bargaining 
unit employees; 2) if the Authority decides to replace the subcontractor, the 
Authority will require that the subcontractor enter into a card check/neutrality 
agreement. All work not listed above shall be performed exclusively by 
bargaining unit members. 

 
3.3.4 Vending Services 
The Manager will be responsible for maintaining a food, snack, and hot beverage 
vending program at McCormick Place in locations to be designated by the Authority. 
All revenue from the program will be reported as part of other income and part of gross 
receipts on the financial statement. All soft drink beverage machines under the 
exclusive beverage sponsorship agreement with the Authority's soft drink sponsor are 
excluded. These beverage machines are under the direct control of McCormick Place. 
All revenues from these machines are paid directly to McCormick Place and shall not 
be counted as gross receipts. The Manager may not install any vending machines or 
devices of any type or kind without the prior written consent of the Authority. 

 
3.3.5 Non-Event Related Concession Operations  
The Manager will be required to operate some concession operations on a daily basis, 
even when there is no event-related activity at McCormick Place. Currently, 
McDonald’s and Connie’s remain open daily, regardless of convention center activity. 
The location shall provide complete meal service (e.g., sandwich, snack and beverage 
service) and shall be operated without a minimum sales requirement. The decision as 
to which concession location will be open will be a result of communications between 
the Authority and the Manager but will be determined by the Authority alone. 
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3.3.6  Concessions Pricing  
The Manager shall present every year for the Authority’s review and approval its 
written proposal for concessions pricing for the upcoming Fiscal Year. 
 
3.3.7 Catering Pricing 
The Manager shall present every year, for the Authority’s review and approval, its 
written proposal for catering pricing for the upcoming fiscal year.  

 
3.3.8 Existing Contracts 
The Manager shall honor the guaranteed pricing of the incumbent food and beverage 
services Vendor for all Fiscal Year 2023 and Fiscal Year 2024 events that have 
executed food and beverage proposals and/or contracts, as applicable.  

 
3.3.9 Employee Cafeteria  
The Manager shall provide an employee cafeteria when union employee staffing 
levels surpass thresholds determined jointly by the Manager and the Authority. 
Specific operating hours will be determined on a case-by-case basis.  

 
3.3.10  Hours of Operation 
The Authority, after consultation with the Manager, will have final approval of hours of 
operation for concessions operations. 

 
3.3.11 Alcoholic Beverage Service   
The Manager shall offer alcoholic beverages for sale to the extent permitted by, and 
in accordance with, local law. Such sales are to be confined to on-premises 
consumption in the convention center. Alcoholic beverages may not be sold or 
dispensed in unbroken packages for the purpose of permitting the unbroken packages 
to be carried off the premises. 
 
The final approval of the sale of alcoholic beverages at any event or in any designated 
area of the convention center shall be at the discretion of the Authority. The Manager 
shall have the sole responsibility for the decision to serve or refuse service of alcoholic 
beverages to any individual. 
 
All Manager employees involved in the sale and service of alcoholic beverages shall 
be trained by a vendor in effective Alcoholic Beverage service and awareness. This 
training may include, without limitation, policies and procedures developed by the 
Manager dealing with alcohol management and a nationally-recognized program such 
as “Techniques for Effective Alcohol Management” (“TEAM”) or “Techniques for 
Intervention Procedures By Servers of Alcohol (“TIPS”). In addition, City’s event staff 
shall cooperate reasonably with Manager in enforcing Manager’s policies and 
practices for the lawful and safe service and sale of alcoholic beverages, including the 
prevention of sale to minors of alcoholic beverages, and City shall cause its event staff 
to undergo appropriate training in managing alcoholic beverage issues at public event 
venues. 
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3.3.12 Americans with Disabilities Act  
Manager will provide all services in a manner consistent with the requirements of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) as amended. Included in this requirement is 
consideration for persons with hearing, vision, communication, cognitive and physical 
impairments to a major life function. 

 
3.4 SPECIALIZED OFFERINGS 
Manager shall provide a diverse range of offerings to meet ever-changing customer 
requests.  The Vendor must be able to directly provide at a minimum the following types 
of specialized food and beverage services: 
 

A. Organic 
B. Locally grown and raised 
C. Free of Ingredients Containing Gluten 
D. Healthy Options in both the banquet and concessions operations.  
E. Vegetarian and Vegan  
F. Kosher and Halal 

 
Additionally, the Manager must either be able to provide directly or engage a sublicense 
which can provide kosher options or full kosher catering for requesting events.  As dietary 
recommendations, requirements and preferences change over time, Manager will be 
required to add offerings to meet these evolving requests through the term of the 
agreement. 
 
3.5 OTHER SERVICES 
The Manager will operate a coat and luggage check similar in quality and service to that 
of a first-class hotel in the Chicago area. Coat and luggage check may be operated in a 
permanent location or in an area designated by the Authority and/or show management. 
The hours of operation will vary based on the Event schedule.  
 
3.6 LABOR / STAFFING 
The Manager shall employ, train and supervise the necessary personnel to provide all 
services contemplated by this RFP, including the key personnel set forth below. The 
provision of key personnel is a material inducement for the Authority to award a contract.  
Accordingly, all key personnel, including any replacement for any individual in the 
positions identified below, are subject to approval of the Authority. All food and beverage 
services employees shall be employees of the Manager, and not of the Authority. The 
Manager shall be an independent contractor, and the contract shall not in any way create 
or form a partnership or joint venture with the Authority. 

 
3.6.1 Key Personnel 

 
A. Manager’s General Manager. The Manager must have a General 

Manager, a chief on-site operating administrator, who will be responsible 
for McCormick Place. This candidate must have a minimum of five (5) years’ 
experience in an executive position in a major market US convention center, 
convention hotel or business hotel rated 4-stars or above. The Manager’s 
General Manager will have no other assignments and will work on a full-
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time basis. The Manager’s General Manager requires the approval of the 
Authority. 
 

B. Manager’s Assistant General Manager. The Manager must have an 
Assistant General Manager, the “second-in-command” position, who will 
work on a full-time basis and will be responsible for the Manager’s day-to-
day staff supervision and operations as required for the performance of the 
Services. 

 
C. Director of Banquet Operations. The Manager must have a Director of 

Banquet Operations whose duties will be the management and overview of 
all hosted catering and pre-ordered foodservices throughout the McCormick 
Place campus. This candidate must have a minimum of three (3) years’ 
experience in a management position in a major market US convention 
center, convention hotel or business hotel rated 4-stars or above. Special 
emphasis on quality, speed of service, and employee training will be key 
components of this position. 
 

D. Director of Concession Operations. The Manager must have a Director 
of Concession Operations with experience and knowledge in the 
concessions, and branded product business to head up all elements of this 
critically important service. Such individual should possess at least five (5) 
years of continuous experience as the senior manager of a major 
entertainment venue whose primary service is food/beverage and 
entertainment. 
 

E. Executive Chef. The Manager must have an Executive Chef who will be 
chief chef at McCormick Place. The Executive Chef will have no other 
assignments and will work on a full-time basis throughout the term of the 
agreement. This candidate must have a minimum of five (5) years’ 
experience in an executive position in a major market US convention center, 
convention hotel or business hotel rated 4-stars or above. The qualifications 
of such individual, including selection or replacement, shall be subject to the 
review of, and acceptable to, the Authority. Such Executive Chef shall be 
immediately available whenever any of the concession operations are open 
for business and, unless otherwise expressly authorized in writing by the 
Authority, whenever the Authority is providing banquet operations to an 
event at McCormick Place. The Executive Chef shall spend substantially all 
of his or her working hours at McCormick Place. 
 

F. Corporate Executive. The Manager will assign one (1) Corporate 
Executive as the direct contact between McCormick Place and the 
Manager’s corporate office and will notify the MPEA of any name changes 
during the course of the term, including any extension periods. 

 
G. Director of Finance. The Manager must have a Director of Finance 

position that will be responsible for all financial obligations relating to 
McCormick Place. This candidate must have five (5) years’ experience in a 
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management position in a major US convention center, convention hotel or 
business hotel. 

 
H. Human Resources Director / Manager. The Manager must have a Human 

Resources Manager specifically for the McCormick Place Campus. The 
candidate must have experience with a union labor force and collective 
bargaining agreements.  

 
3.6.2 Management Proposal  
On a yearly basis, the Manager shall present a management plan, including every 
foodservice management position proposed, for review and approval by the Authority. 
This list shall include all permanent managers, directors, and supervisors with salary 
and bonus recommendations for the year.  Once approved by the Authority, no portion 
of the plan may be changed, amended or deleted without the approval of the Authority. 
Due to the changing volume of business, the Authority may permit the Vendor to adjust 
the labor schedule upon written notification. 

 
3.6.3 Collective Bargaining Agreement  
The current food service manager has entered into a collective bargaining agreement 
with Unite Here Local 1.  

 
3.6.4 Cost of Labor Negotiations  
The Authority must approve, in advance, the cost of labor negotiations for labor 
contracts for McCormick Place. If the cost is in direct relation to a negotiation that is 
specific to McCormick Place, then the Authority will consider this fact prior to 
determining whether the cost is a direct operating cost or a corporate expense to be 
paid by the Manager. The cost of general negotiations that are not specific to 
McCormick Place operations will not be considered a direct operating cost and must 
be paid by the Manager. 

 
3.6.5 Training  

A. All Manager employees working at the facilities shall complete a mandatory 
orientation program specific to the facilities, to include the required 
customer service standards of the facilities, prior to starting work at 
McCormick Place. 
 

B. The Manager shall train and closely supervise each employee so that each 
employee knows, understands and complies always with the high standards 
of cleanliness, courtesy and service required by the Authority.  

 
C. The Manager shall ensure that its employees are trained and maintain 

current certifications (if required) in customer service, alcohol serving and 
awareness, cashiering, food merchandising, banquet service, workplace 
safety, First Aid, substance abuse recognition, emergency response, and 
other disciplines generally required for the provision of food and beverage 
services. 
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3.7 SUSTAINABILITY 
McCormick Place benefits significantly from a reputation as an environmentally conscious 
facility. The Manager will be required to develop and maintain policies, practices, and 
procedures which are consistent with a sustainable, environmentally responsible 
operation. The Manager will be expected to minimize the impact of operations on the 
environment through programs aimed at limiting consumption of non-renewable 
resources and encouraging reuse and recycling of waste streams.  At a minimum, the 
Manager will ensure the following: 
 

• Certification in compliance with the current Event Industry Council Sustainable 
Events Standard, Silver level. 

• Achievement of Silver level standards by year three of the contract and 
maintenance of at least  Gold level standards for the terms of the contract. 

• Development and implementation of an innovative, actionable sustainability plan 
specific to MPC. 

• Consistent support of sustainability efforts and achievement of, at minimum, an 
annual diversion rate of 60%.  

• Successful third party audited sustainability certification or recognition such as 
Green Seal, or equivalent in addition to the EIC Sustainable Event Standards 
certification for Food and Beverage.  

 
To achieve the maximum sustainability incentive goal, the Manager must create a positive 
green reputation and achieve the Event Industry Council Sustainable Event Standard   
Platinum certification level.  

 
 The Manager must coordinate with the Convention Center Management as well as the 

Authority maintenance and operations team to create synergy as it relates to sustainability 
efforts. To ensure achievement of the Authority goals and objectives, the Manager will 
contribute to and participate in quarterly and annual reviews of the sustainability program. 
The program review will include revision of the sustainability plan and address 
performance metrics including innovation metrics. 
 

3.7.1 Planning   
One month prior to the conclusion of the contract year, the Manager will present a 
final report summarizing all sustainability related activities in the previous year, 
including ongoing and event specific programs as well as initiatives undertaken 
during the reporting year.  The report should provide detail on the environmental 
impact and any additional costs and/or savings related to each program or 
initiative. In the first 30 days of the initial year of the contract, the Manager will 
submit the sustainability plan for the first year of operations. This plan will include 
a chronology for implementing all portions of the plan, including sustainability, 
proposed metrics, and goals for the first year of operation. During the first year of 
operations, emphasis should be placed on the rapid implementation of all 
requirements, and the development of baseline measurements of effectiveness. 
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3.7.2 Purchasing 
 

A. The facility currently provides recycled/recyclable and compostable and/or 
biodegradable service ware including, serving containers, flatware, cups, 
straws, etc. in concession areas and when using disposable goods in 
banquet operations. The Manager shall review these offerings and ensure 
that all disposable service ware is selected based on cost, quality, and ease 
of sorting into a desirable diversion stream. 

 
B. The Manager shall consider the packaging of goods when making 

purchasing decisions. When selecting items of closely comparable price 
and quality, preference should be given to goods which are delivered in 
readily reusable or recyclable packaging and which minimize packaging. 

 
C. The Manager shall develop a purchasing network of organic and local 

growers and providers of locally raised meat and fish to meet customer 
requests for those items. Manager will actively market the availability of 
these options to customers and may charge a reasonable premium for 
additional cost in providing these options. 

 
D. Manager shall consider the efficient use of natural resources when 

evaluating equipment purchases. When evaluating items of closely 
comparable price, preference should be given to the equipment which uses 
resources most efficiently. 

 
3.7.3 Diversion and Minimization  
The Manager shall participate in the facility-wide effort to divert waste from landfills 
through reduction, reuse, and recycling. At a minimum, the Manager shall: 

 
A. Separate and divert the following streams from landfill waste for back of 

house areas including all kitchens, warehouse, preparation, and storage 
areas or other non-public areas utilized by the Manager and for all banquet 
functions. 
 

1) Cardboard 
2) Paper 
3) Recyclable Plastic 
4) Tin and Aluminum 
5) Wood Pallets 
6) Grease 
7) Compostable food product 
 

B. Divert the following streams from landfill waste for all public concession 
areas at all times: 
 

1) Cardboard 
2) Paper 
3) Recyclable Plastic 
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C. Upon request from a facility-contracted show manager, the Manager 

shall provide a separate diversion stream for composting of food product 
and compostable service ware in public concession areas. In the 
absence of a practical method to ensure a separate composting stream 
can be maintained without attendants, Manager will not be required to 
set-up separate composing streams in public areas unless the 
requesting show or facility provides attendants or compensates the 
Manager to provide attendants for this service.  Manager may provide a 
separate composting stream in public areas at any time but will not be 
required to do so. 
 

D. Manager shall not use or allow subcontractors to use any serving 
container, service ware, or other utensils composed of polystyrene (#6) 
plastics in the absence of a viable, recycling or reuse program for those 
materials. 

 
E. Manager will utilize bulk dispensing over individual serving packets 

when available, appropriate to the function or at the request of a 
customer, and when consistent with public safety protocols. 

 
F. The Manager shall operate and offer to show managers a donation 

program which matches charitable organizations with excess un-served 
food which has been purchased by events, but not consumed.  The 
Manager will be required to report to the facility and the show manager 
on an individual event basis the name of the charitable organization(s) 
receiving donations through the program and the quantity by weight of 
product donated and any other agreed upon statistics. Additionally, the 
Manager will be required to report a summary of the same information 
on a monthly and annual basis. 

 
G. The Manager will utilize prudent energy management practices and 

procedures to minimize its utility consumption.  
 

3.7.4 Chemicals  
Manager must use non-toxic environmentally friendly cleaning products where 
available. Any use of cleaning materials which do not obtain Green Seal 
Certification or equivalent must be approved in writing by the Authority.  

 
3.7.5 Training  
The Manager must provide a defined and documented sustainability training 
program for all employees working on site. This program must contain information 
on the green practices enacted on site, the impact of these programs on the 
environment, and the commitment of the organization to maintain and improve 
these practices over time. 
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3.7.6 Resource Conservation  
The Manager will continuously review and evaluate solutions which reduce 
reliance on non-renewable resources and limit impact on all-natural resources. At 
a minimum, Manager will offer the following unless otherwise requested by the 
customer: 

 
A. Beverage services which utilize reusable containers and bulk dispensers as 

an option to individual personal size servings in disposable containers. 
 
B. Beverage service for banquet operations based on customer request rather 

than placement of pre-poured beverage services. 
 
C. Utilization and encouragement of customer use of china, and non-

disposable flatware over disposable service ware wherever practical.   
 

3.7.7 Marketing  
Manager will develop and integrate marketing of sustainability programs into all 
published materials to encourage customer understanding of Managers 
sustainability programs and encourage utilization of those offerings and services. 

 
3.7.8 West Roof Top Garden Manager shall be responsible for planting, 
maintaining, and utilizing the produce from a designated food garden space 
provided by the Authority on the roof of the West Building.  The cost of using the 
plot will be considered a direct operating cost. Currently, the garden produces 
approximately 8000 lbs. of food per year and 50 lbs. of honey (3 beehives).  The 
current manager has partnered with Windy City Harvest to use the garden for 
training. The selected Manager is encouraged to look at innovative use and 
marketing of the garden space and to address potential uses within the 
sustainability plan required as part of their Proposal and within the required annual 
sustainability plan and production reporting. 

 
3.8 MINORITY AND WOMEN BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PROGRAM 
The Authority has adopted and maintains an affirmative action program that pertains to 
all of the Authority’s contracts. The purpose of the Authority’s affirmative action program 
is to ensure that Minority Business Enterprises (“MBE”) and Women Business Enterprises 
(“WBE”) have the maximum possible opportunity to participate in the Authority’s 
contracts. The Manager must carefully review its expenditures and include MBE and WBE 
special conditions in each of its contracts for goods and services where appropriate. 
Manager will work with the Authority in determining applicability of goals. Manager will 
designate one or more persons to review contracting opportunities, ensure contractor 
compliance, and report MBE/WBE payments on a monthly basis to the Authority. It is the 
Authority’s goal that 25% of the costs incurred by the Manager for the performance of 
services shall be payable to MBE firms, and 5% of the costs incurred by the Manager for 
the performance of such services shall be payable to WBE firms.  
 
3.9 MARKETING PLAN 
On an annual basis, the Manager shall provide a plan for marketing and promoting 
McCormick Place’s banquet, concession and restaurant operations in order maximize 
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revenue. Marketing efforts may include, but not be limited to, the following: public 
relations, targeting audiences, specialty concession promotions, client surveys, banquet 
and concessions websites, and restaurant and banquet promotions. All marketing is 
subject to the prior written approval of the Authority. The Authority and the Manager shall 
meet, prior to the commencement of the contract year to develop a marketing plan for the 
new contractual year.  

 
3.10 EQUIPMENT AND INVENTORY 
 
3.10.1 Equipment Provided  

The Authority will provide the Manager with certain equipment for food and 
beverage services. The Authority owns all kitchen equipment, smallwares, 
banquet equipment, concession equipment and supplies, restaurant equipment, 
bar equipment (fixed and portable), office equipment and furniture, cash register 
systems (Quest) and portable, computer hardware and computer software. 
 

3.10.2 Inventory 
The Manager shall ensure that there is an inventory of equipment and smallwares 
adequate to provide the Services to the clients and guests of McCormick Place at 
all times. The Manager must conduct a complete inventory of all equipment and 
smallwares and provide that inventory to the Authority no later than December 31st 
of each year. Copies of the inventory shall be subject to the approval of the Director 
as to the type and similarity to that replaced.  

 
A. The Authority is providing an inventory of smallwares, banquet equipment and 

fixed kitchen equipment and supplies to meet the present needs of McCormick 
Place. The Manager is responsible for maintaining the inventory at the 
accepted par level.  

 
B. Replacements and additions are paid for from the Reserve Fund, as defined in 

Section 3.16 below, if adequate funds are available. If adequate funds are not 
available, the replacement or addition of inventory shall be paid as a direct 
operating cost. The Vendor will make recommendations on a yearly basis as 
to the expected cost of maintaining the inventory at par level. 

 
C. Manager shall develop an inventory system and submit a long-term plan for 

asset management, including preventative maintenance/repair and 
replacement of capital equipment. Costs to count and manage the inventory 
and repair and replace equipment will be paid from the Reserve Fund.  

 
3.10.3 Equipment Cleanliness and Appearance  

The Manager must keep all equipment, furniture, kitchen locations and other 
supplies in pristine, clean condition. The Manager will train staff to treat all 
Authority owned equipment and facilities as though they were owned by the 
Manager.  
 

3.10.4 Equipment Maintenance and Safety 
The Manager will be responsible for maintaining the equipment in safe operating 
condition. Any equipment that is damaged or is not functioning properly must be 
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repaired or replaced as soon as possible with Authority approval. No equipment 
shall be disposed of without the prior consent of the Authority. 

 
3.11 INSURANCE 
The Manager must maintain the types of insurance coverage described in Required Form 
H Insurance Requirements of the Request for Qualifications.  
 
3.12 LIQUOR COMPLIANCE 
Throughout the term of the agreement the Manager, at its own expense, will be required 
to secure and maintain all liquor licenses necessary for the required services. This will 
include, but not be limited to, licenses for catering, concessions, mobile carts, and 
restaurant locations. There are presently eleven (11) liquor licenses at McCormick Place 
and three (3) at the Wintrust Arena. All personnel involved in dispensing or serving liquor 
must be fully trained and certified through an educational alcohol selling and servicing 
program such as the “TIPS Program” or another similar alcohol dispensing program.  

 
All licenses and permits required for the sale of alcoholic beverages at the combined 
venues shall be obtained by and held in the name of, the Manager. The Manager shall 
keep the permits in full force and effect, and neither party shall take any action which 
would impair the Manager's ability to hold the permits. The Manager shall prepare, file, 
and process all applications for renewals of the permits. At the termination of the 
agreement, Manager shall surrender to the city all licenses and permits related to 
alcoholic beverages for the combined venues. 
 
3.13  FOOD SAFETY AND SANITATION REQUIREMENTS 

A. The Manager shall be responsible for ensuring that the services and all facilities 
under the operational jurisdiction of the Manager satisfy all public health and 
sanitation standards and requirements as established by the Authority, City, State, 
and/or Federal Laws. All management personnel must be certified in sanitation 
and food handling and satisfy all City, State and Federal Laws.   
 
Manager must develop and implement a hazard analysis critical control point 
(HACCP) program. All employees shall be trained on the program and Manager 
shall maintain appropriate logs and report to evidence its implementation of such 
as program.   

 
B. The Manager shall be responsible and shall set aside sufficient funds for cleaning 

and sanitation of all areas utilized for the banquet and concession operations. 
 
C. To the extent that the Manager does not have the requisite expertise to perform 

the cleaning services, the Manager may, and the Authority strongly encourages 
the Manager to, contract with an outside cleaning company of its own choosing to 
provide such services. The cost of such services shall be a direct operating cost. 

 
D. The Manager shall provide to the Authority a weekly, detailed cleaning plan and 

maintenance schedule. 
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E. The Manager shall be responsible for and consider all cleaning and sanitation 
costs and expenses for the following: 

(i) All food pods / seating areas / kitchens / freezers and refrigerators 
and coolers 

(ii) All restaurant outlets / food courts / seating areas / back of house 
areas 

(iii) All kitchens / storage spaces / equipment 
(iv) All docks / trash compactors / receiving areas 
(v) All banquet spaces / corridors / staging areas for foodservice 
(vi) Any space 100 feet from banquet operations or concession 

operations 
(vii) All service elevators used in transporting food and beverage 

 
F. Manager is responsible for promptly removing and transporting all refuse, compost 

and waste materials created by its operation after each event to the Authority 
designated receptacles and for depositing such material in the proper receptacle. 
The removal of the waste from the Authority Facilities will be paid for by the 
Manager. Waste food will be kept in closed containers until removed from the 
facilities.  

 
G. The Authority will have the right to object to the appearance and condition of the 

food service receiving docks, storage facilities, kitchens, preparation areas, and 
serving areas, and the Manager will be expected to remedy the appearance and 
condition immediately. 

 
H. The Manager agrees to undergo quarterly inspections by a 3rd party food and 

safety auditor such as  Steritech, or other approved auditor. The Manager will 
provide a chef or manager to accompany the inspector on their inspection, 
regardless of current business levels. Audits will be scheduled by the Authority 
operations department and the Manager will have no advance knowledge of 
impending audits. Audit results shall be shared with the Manager upon receipt. The 
Manager shall develop and submit a plan to address deficiencies within forty-eight 
(48) business hours. 

 
3.14 MISCELLANEOUS  
 

A. “D/B/A” Designation. The Authority reserves the right to designate the name under 
which the Manager will provide services to McCormick Place. The approved name 
shall remain the property of the Authority. 
 

B. Parking. The Authority will provide to certain employees of the Manager parking 
spaces (subject to availability) at McCormick Place at a discount off of the published 
rates in effect at the time of such usage. The Authority reserves the right to modify 
at any time the rate, including charging full value for the parking spaces, and it 
reserves the right to limit at any time the number of spaces available to the Manager. 
 

C. Facilities, Premises and Computers. The Authority will provide the Manager with 
office space, office furniture, office equipment, computer hardware, 
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booking/scheduling software, and the standard office software at the Authority’s 
cost.  The Manager must use the booking/scheduling software and the Quest Point 
of Sales (POS) system used by the Authority. If requested by the Authority, the 
Vendor will be responsible for migrating their banquet event order process from a 
stand-alone database to the facility’s event management software. While the 
Manager will be responsible for the cost of all software required to perform its 
services, the Authority has the exclusive right, but not the obligation, to approve, 
install, and configure all software loaded on or hardware attached to the Authority’s 
computers.  Subject to any restrictions stated in this RFP or in the agreement, the 
Manager will have use of various facilities designated by the Authority including, but 
not limited to, receiving docks, the main kitchens, the warming kitchens, the 
permanent concession stands, and other premises to be identified by the Authority. 

 
D. Energy Management 

The Manager will be expected to practice sound energy management and 
cooperate with the Authority Energy Management Program.  
 

E. Authority Provided Services 
(i) Pest Control. The Authority provides a complex-wide pest control program. 

The Manager will participate and assist in the maintenance of the program 
through excellent sanitation practices in accordance with applicable laws and 
at minimum, the Health and Sanitation goals. There may be occasions when 
the Manager may elect to provide additional measures for controlling rodents, 
birds, and other pests in the foodservice designated areas. Manager will 
cooperate with the Authority and its pest control vendor by instituting standard 
operating procedures and protocols designed to minimize pest incursion. 
Manger shall develop and implement training on standard operating 
procedures and protocols for back of house labor related to pest control 
efforts. Manager shall provide copies of all training materials to the Authority 
upon request. Expenses related to Manager provided pest control are Direct 
Operating costs. The Authority reserves the right to invoice the Manager for 
Pest Control related services.  

 
(ii) Utilities. The Authority shall furnish pursuant to the grant of rights under the 

Agreement, to Manager all existing utility lines and plumbing fixtures, including 
hot and cold water lines and electric lines, stubbed in to the food service areas, 
and all necessary heat, ventilation, air conditioning, hot and cold water, gas 
and electricity, exterior window washing and re-lamping services adequate to 
enable the Manager to operate and utilize all fixtures and equipment used in 
performing the food services. Manager will be responsible for paying for 
electrical usage and the cost of installing and removing temporary electrical 
services as follows:  

a. $360,000 for gas, water and electricity payable at $30,000 per 
period 

b. 1% of gross revenue, per month, for utility installation expenses 
which are defined as all temporary electrical services provided 
by the facility for food and beverage operations. 
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(iii)Labor. The Authority will provide various labor and services to the Manager 
during the term such as, but not necessarily limited to, telecommunication, 
electrical, plumbing and other services in relation to banquet and concession 
operations. The actual costs for these services shall be invoiced by the 
Authority and paid by the Manager as direct operating costs.  

 
 
3.15 FOOD SERVICE OPERATING FUND AND OTHER ACCOUNTS 
One or more bank accounts shall be established and maintained in one or more 
depositories designated in writing by the Authority in the name of the Authority to be used 
in connection with the Manager’s performance of the Services. One of these accounts 
shall be known as the "Operating Fund". The Authority shall be responsible for funding 
the Operating Fund and the Manager shall be authorized to draw upon the Operating 
Fund to pay for the direct operating costs incurred by the Manager in the performance of 
the food services and all other sums due and payable to the Authority and the Manager 
under this agreement. All gross receipts shall be initially deposited in one or more 
separately created depository accounts. All gross receipts shall be deposited with the 
Authority until transfers to the Operating Fund are required. 
 
3.16 RESERVE FUND 

A. Upon commencement of the agreement, the Authority will provide to the 
Manager a fully equipped facility for the performance of the services. The 
Authority has established within its main operating account a sub-account 
known as the “Reserve Fund". The Reserve Fund is intended to be used to 
provide for costs relating to smallwares, equipment replacement, repair and 
maintenance, supplies; marketing and sales promotions; funding for other 
foodservice related activities; and structural modifications or capital purchases 
that the Authority, through consultation with the Manager, deems necessary. 

 
B. The Manager may, subject to the prior written approval of the Authority, 

authorize disbursements from the Reserve Fund for purposes described above 
and in accordance with the agreed upon annual reserve plan. Provided, the 
Reserve Fund shall not be used for the aforementioned items if such costs are 
incurred as a result of the negligence or willful misconduct of the Manager, or 
any of its subcontractors, or any others under the control of the Manager, 
relating to the performance of any part of the food services. 

 
C. The Authority may adjust funding levels in, or authorize additional payments 

from, the Reserve Fund to cover extraordinary expenses for the foodservice 
equipment or facilities.   

 
D. As permitted by law, the Authority shall have the right to withdraw any funds in 

the Reserve Fund in excess of that determined by the Authority to be 
reasonably needed to meet Reserve Fund needs. 

 
3.16.1 Reserve Plan On an annual basis, the Manager shall provide a Reserve 
Fund plan for the following fiscal year which includes a projection of total expected 
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contributions, and planned expenditures with descriptions of use for the categories 
below: 

 
• Smallwares 
• Equipment replacement 
• Repair and Maintenance 
• Structural modifications 
• Funding for other foodservice related activities 

 
Additionally, the Manager will include a five-year projection of major projects with 
individual values of more than twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) with a focus 
on potential equipment replacement, improvements in equipment and facilities, 
and service enhancements. 
 
All reserve fund spending must be approved by the Authority. All structural 
modifications must be reviewed and approved by the Authority. The Authority 
reserves the right to manage the design, procurement and construction of any 
renovations.  

 
3.17 FACILITY OPERATIONAL EXPENSES 
The Manager will be responsible for reimbursing the Authority or the Authority’s 
representative for certain operational expenses related to food service operations. The 
following items will be considered direct operating expenses and will be paid as such. 
Payment and reporting will be separate from the monthly Reserve Fund payment. 
Payments will be due by fifteenth of each month for services incurred in the previous 
month.  

 
A. Room Conversion Fee. The Manager will reimburse the Authority for the 
published meeting room set change rate for any meeting room or ballroom which 
is set for a function with the sole purpose of hosting a food and beverage function 
such as a seated banquet or reception. The fee will not be charged for functions 
where the room is used primarily used for other purposes and includes food and 
beverage service such as an in a show office or when accompanying a meeting. 
This fee is currently calculated at .5% of gross revenues. 

 
B. Food and Beverage for MPEA Staff and Employees. The Manager shall 
provide the Authority’s staff and employees with food and beverage services at the 
actual cost of the food and labor at designated on-site facilities. Revenue for this 
element of service is not subject to base Reserve Fund contributions. This pricing 
may be presented as a discount rate from the public price. The current discount 
offered is 50% off of list price. 
 

3.18 Other Revenue 
 

A.  Franchise Revenue. Franchise operations will be subject to the same 
financial terms as other Manager provided self-operated concessions operations. 
The franchise fee will be considered to be a direct operating cost.  Revenue from 
franchise operations will be considered part of the gross receipts. 
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B.  Retail Food Licensee Revenue. All income and/or commissions received 
by the Manager from retail food licensees shall be reported separately on the 
financial statement and will be entered as retail food licensee revenue. The 
Manager will remit an agreed upon percentage of the proceeds from the licensees 
to the Authority or the Authority’s representative.  Revenue from retail food licenses 
will not be counted as a gross receipt. 
 
C. Advertising Revenue. The Authority reserves all rights of advertising in 
McCormick Place. All revenue generated through advertising, such as cup logos, 
banner table tents, or any other means in McCormick Place is the property of the 
Authority and must be turned over to the Authority in its entirety without any 
deductions. This income shall not be counted as a gross receipt. 
 

3.19 REPORTING 
The Authority requires regular and timely reports related to the financial performance of 
the food and beverage operation on a daily, weekly, monthly and annual basis. The list 
of reports below is not exhaustive, and the Authority may require other reports from the 
Manager: 

 
A. Manager shall prepare and submit an annual budget for each upcoming 

contract year for approval by the Authority. On a monthly basis, the Manager 
shall update the budget to reflect the prior month’s actual results as well as 
any other changes expected for the remaining months of the contract year. 
 

B. Manager shall report monthly to the Authority on the progress of the food and 
beverage operations towards the goals agreed to in the annual plan. This 
report must be presented in writing and include monthly and cumulative 
information on an agreed upon set of metrics as defined in the annual plan. 

 
C. Manager shall report monthly to the Authority on contributions made to the 

Reserve Fund and on expenditures paid from the Reserve Fund. 
  

D. Upon request by the Authority, the Manager must provide a projected profit 
and loss analysis in advance of an event and an actual profit and loss 
statement after the event comparing the actual results to the projected results. 
 

E. In addition, the Manager must comply with all other reporting requirements as 
directed by the Authority. 
 

F. A Quarterly Business Review shall be presented by the Manager to key 
Authority personnel no later than 30 days after the close of each quarter. This 
report will contain in-depth analysis as agreed upon by the Manager and the 
Authority. Manger senior level regional or corporate representation will be 
present for all QBRs. 
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3.20 CASH HANDLING  
 

A. Loss Prevention. The Manager will be responsible for developing and 
implementing a plan to minimize the risk of loss from theft in all its cash handling 
operations, which plan shall be subject to the prior review and approval of the 
Authority.  The Manager shall provide any security staff or the services of an 
armored car company necessary for transporting cash between its various 
locations. The Manager shall be bonded for loss of cash and shall be responsible 
for the payment of all cash shortages, regardless of the cause.  

 
B. Audit. The Authority may, upon providing 24 hours’ prior written notice, 
inspect the books and records of Vendor. Further, in the Authority’s sole discretion, 
the Authority may, upon no less than ten (10) Days’ prior written notice, cause a 
complete audit to be made of Manager’s books and records. If any such audit 
discloses that Manager’s statement of gross receipts for the period under 
examination is understated by three percent (3%) or more, Manager shall promptly 
pay to the Authority the cost of the audit in addition to the deficiency, plus interest, 
which deficiency and interest shall be payable in any event. If any such audit 
discloses that Manager’s statement of gross receipts for the period under 
examination is understated by five percent (5%) or more, the Authority may 
terminate this agreement immediately upon giving notice thereof, without any 
opportunity for Manager to cure. In addition to the foregoing and in addition to all 
other remedies available to the Authority at law, in equity or otherwise, in the event 
that Manager or the Authority’s auditor schedules a date for an audit of Manager’s 
books and records, and Manager fails to be available or otherwise fails to comply 
with the reasonable requirements for such audit, Manager shall pay all reasonable 
costs and expenses associated with the scheduled audit. 

 
C. Financial Management Services For all services provided, the Manager 
will be responsible for financial management including, but not limited to, the 
following: 

 
(i) Collecting gross receipts for and on behalf of the Authority 
(ii) Purchasing of all inventory, products and services 
(iii) Promptly paying all costs and expenses for the performance of the 
services 
(iv) Preparing and completing all reports required, as outlined herein 
(v) Implementing a cash handling system  
(vi) Completing all financial reports contemplated by the agreement or as 
otherwise reasonably requested by the Authority 

 
3.21  VALUE PRICING 
The Manager shall follow a policy of value pricing for all concession operations at 
McCormick Place. The policy generally prohibits the and its MPEA contracted retail food 
licensees from charging more for a product or service than for the same product or service 
at a similar store or restaurant in the Chicago Metropolitan Statistical Area (“Chicago 
MSA”). To monitor the Manager’s adherence to this pricing policy, the Authority reserves 
the right to conduct price comparison surveys of various products and services offered by 
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the Manager and its MPEA contracted retail food licensees. The items will be compared 
with similar items in three benchmark stores (to be proposed by the Manager). 
Benchmark stores, which should be located within the Chicago MSA, are stores that are 
comparable to the proposed concept, but exclude stores at hotels, airports, or within 
enclosed shopping centers if other locations are available. If the Manager currently 
operates other similar stores in the Chicago MSA, then these locations will be designated 
benchmark stores and the Vendor will be required to charge the same prices at both 
McCormick Place and non-McCormick Place locations. 
 

A. Approval Required. All vendor franchise agreements and concession 
agreements must be approved by the Authority prior to working at McCormick 
Place. All financial terms and conditions to be entered into between the Vendor 
and its respective subcontractors must be approved by the Authority. The Authority 
reserves the final decision on any prices, portions, menus, and/or concepts.  The 
Manager will not initiate contact with potential retail licensees unless authorized by 
the Authority or the Authority’s representative. 

 
B. MPEA Sponsored Events. For MPEA sponsored Events, the Manager will 
charge the Authority the Manager’s actual costs of servicing the event. The costs 
incurred by the Manager for MPEA sponsored Events shall not be included in the 
calculation of gross receipts. Events and functions to be charged in this manner 
shall be invoiced to either the Authority or to a third party at the direction of the 
Authority. 

 
C. Sponsorships. The Manager shall use its best efforts to enlist its major 
vendors as corporate sponsors of McCormick Place. Such sponsorships may take 
place in the form of cash donations, long-term interior and exterior building 
signage, graphic sponsorship programs, rebates, or donations as gifts to the 
Authority. All such revenues derived from sponsorships, either directly or indirectly 
received, shall become the sole property of the Authority and shall not be included 
gross receipts. 

 
The Authority has established an exclusive sponsorship agreement with a soft 
drink company. The Authority has also established a sponsorship agreement with 
Miller Coors, for the Wintrust Arena only. To the extent permitted by law, and 
unless otherwise agreed to by the Authority, the Manager is required to exclusively 
utilize and sell the existing and future McCormick Place sponsor’s product and 
brands. The Authority reserves the right to identify and utilize additional sponsors, 
and the Manager agrees to utilize these sponsors for any applicable food and 
beverage services. 
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SECTION IV. – RFP PROCESS AND SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
 
RFP PROCESS 
The Proposer’s written response including all mandatory submission requirements and 
information for “Food Service Management” is due no later than Wednesday, April 5, 
2023. 
 
Requirements and procedures for providing submittals in response to this RFP are 
described herein.  RFP documents will be available for downloading at the MPEA website 
at www.mpea.com under the link “Doing Business” beginning on Friday, February 17, 
2023. 
 
If it becomes necessary to revise or amend any part of this RFP, including the due dates, 
the Authority will publish a revision by written addendum on its website and notify all 
shortlisted Proposers.  It will be the responsibility of the Proposer to obtain all such 
addenda and to acknowledge receipt of any addenda that have been issued.  (If none are 
issued, indicate “NONE” on REQUIRED FORM A, Form of Transmittal Letter.) 
 
Proposers are to contact ONLY the MPEA Procurement Department at 
mpeaprocurement@mpea.com concerning this RFP and should not rely on 
representations, statements, or explanations other than those made in this RFP or in any 
written addendum to this RFP.  
 
The Authority will accept questions, in writing via e-mail, until 12:00 noon Central Time, 
on Thursday, March 9, 2023. Questions should be submitted in writing to 
mpeaprocurement@mpea.com.  A summary of questions received, noted without source, 
and answers will be issued as an addendum on the MPEA procurement website.   
 
A mandatory pre-proposal conference and site visit will be held on Thursday, March 2, 
2023, at 9:00 AM Central Time beginning at the McCormick Place Corporate Center, 
located at 301 East Cermak Road, Chicago, Illinois 60616. A tour of portions of the facility 
will be conducted immediately following the meeting.  
 
RSVP for pre-proposal conference here: McCormick Place Convention Center Food Service 
Management | RFP 2023-03-M (REISSUE) – MPEA 
 
RFP submittals are due no later than 12:00 Noon (CST) on Wednesday, April 5, 2023.  
  
Interested parties must submit four (4) copies of its proposal to the address below 
(preferably on recycled paper, do not use metal or plastic binding, but secured with a 
binder clip or rubber band) and an identical electronic version (PDF and/or Word if 
submitting a redline of the form of agreement) via e-mail to 
mpeaprocurement@mpea.com, or via a secure file sharing platform such as Dropbox or 
similar, before the deadline. The e-mail must reference the RFP #2023-03-M Food 
Service Management. The electronic copy must include Required Form F, Proposed 
Fee Schedule as a separate PDF.  
 
Submittals must be delivered to the Authority at the following address:  

http://www.mpea.com/
mailto:mpeaprocurement@mpea.com
mailto:mpeaprocurement@mpea.com
https://www.mpea.com/event/mccormick-place-convention-center-food-service-management-rfp-2023-03-m-reissue/
https://www.mpea.com/event/mccormick-place-convention-center-food-service-management-rfp-2023-03-m-reissue/
mailto:mpeaprocurement@mpea.com
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Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority 

Attn: Procurement Department 
301 East Cermak Road 
Chicago, Illinois 60616 

 
 
All Proposals must be submitted with a table of contents identifying page numbers with 
section dividers for each item under the Proposal Submission requirements.   

 
The responsibility for submitting a response to this RFP on or before the stated time and 
date will be solely and strictly that of the Proposer. The Authority will in no way be 
responsible for delays caused by the U.S. Post Office or caused by any other entity or by 
any occurrence.  Proposals received after 12:00 Noon Central Time, Wednesday, April 
5, 2023 may be deemed non-responsive and ineligible for consideration. 
 
By submitting a Proposal, Proposer agrees to accept and abide by the terms of this RFP.  
The Authority reserves the right to reject any or all submittals, to waive any informality or 
irregularity, and to accept any responsive submittals which it may deem to be in the best 
interest of the Authority.  Only submittals from responsible Proposers complying with the 
provisions of this RFP will be considered. 
 
Submittals will be considered incomplete if they do not bear the signature of an agent of 
the Proposer who is in a position to contractually bind the Proposer.  The submittals can 
be withdrawn at any time, if requested in writing, until the deadline date at which time it 
will be considered final. 
 
RFP SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
 
Interested Proposers are to provide a thorough submittal using the guidelines presented 
herein.  Emphasis should be on conforming to the RFP instructions, responding to the 
RFP requirements/scope of services, and the completeness and clarity of content.  The 
Proposer is expected to expand on the scope in the submitted Proposal, incorporating 
their expertise and proposed method or approach. 
 
Proposal Submission 
 
The following provides an outline of the information to be included in the proposal 
submission to demonstrate, verify and confirm the Proposer’s competence and ability to 
provide services similar in size and scope to the Services under the Agreement. This 
outline is not all-inclusive, and Proposers can add information as deemed appropriate. 
 
1. Profile of Firm 

• State the name, address, phone, e-mail and website of the firm; include similar 
information for any relevant properties it currently manages.   

• Describe the firm’s history and organizational/ownership structure, including an 
organizational chart and the length of time in operation. 
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• Include the same information for any firm that Proposer intends to partner with to 
provide these services; describe the nature of the partnership/JV/Prime-Sub 
relationship.   

o Include information regarding relevant Chicago accounts and size and 
nature of available local workforce.   

 
2. Experience and Past Performance 

• Summarize the Proposer’s experience and number of years in managing the food 
services, including catering, concessions, and franchises in major market 
exhibition facilities or convention centers, including a list of current and former 
clients.  Include references for selected facilities managed by the Proposer, 
including name, address, email and telephone numbers of key individuals who may 
be contacted.  Also, include the listing and size of other facilities/centers the 
Proposer has managed.  A minimum of five (5) years’ experience in food service 
management for major market exhibition facilities or convention centers similar to 
McCormick Place is required, with a strong preference for publicly owned 
facilities.  A firm that has not been in operation for the minimum of five (5) years 
may present a submittal so long as the key personnel can demonstrate the 
minimum of five (5) years of upper-level management experience of major market 
exhibition facilities or convention centers.  

o Include references and detailed information for any convention center 
contracts that were either terminated, not renewed, or lost in a competitive 
bid process in the last five years.   
 

• For each of the entities listed above, please provide three (3) references (with the 
name, title, and recently verified email address and telephone numbers of the 
contact person and the name and address for each entity).  

 
• For each engagement comparable in scope and complexity to the MPC, the 

Proposer must submit at a minimum: 
• The executed contract and any amendments (if these are not available, 

provide a contact who the MPEA may contact).  Indicate any necessary 
redactions.   

• Annual budgets, actual annual financial results, variance between actual 
and budget, and annual operational performance achievements, including 
audits.   

• Provide sample operating policies and procedures and reports submitted to 
owner/governing body. 

• Provide sample operational policies and Hazard Analysis Critical Control 
Point (HACCP) procedures related to food safety.  

• Describe your event management and accounting systems and provide 
sample records illustrating the capabilities of your system (include sample 
reports). 

• Describe your experience integrating technology to improve customer 
service and speed of service. 

• Describe your sustainability programs. 
• Describe your strategic diversity and inclusion plan for employees and 

experience and ensuring compliance with business diversity goals, 
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ensuring participation by MBE and WBE firms.  The Authority has program 
goals of 25% MBE and 5% WBE. 

• Describe your process for validating to owners how food pricing, food costs, 
and other operational costs compare to peer institutions. 

• Describe your account oversight.  
 
3. Legal Disclosures  
 

• Detail any criminal or civil investigation or pertinent litigation pending or that has 
concluded within the last three (3) years against Proposer’s organization or 
individuals within the organization or any related or affiliated entity. 

• Detail any disputes or claims related to Proposer’s performance of similar 
convention center management alleging negligence within the last three (3) years. 
Detail any disputes or claims Proposer has had with owner/contracting party in 
performance of similar convention center management within the last three (3) 
years. Did any of these disputes result in termination of the contract by either 
party?  

 
 

4. Financial Strength 
The following financial documents must be included in each submittal. Items one (1) 
through six (6) below must be audited financial statements. 
 

1. Balance Sheets for prior three years. 
2. Income Statements for the prior three years. 
3. Statements of Cash Flows for the prior three years. 
4. Statement of changes in stockholder's equity for the prior three years. 
5. Notes to Financial Statements. 
6. Corporate/partnership federal income tax return for the last completed fiscal year. 
7. Credit report (i.e., Dun & Bradstreet report). 
8. Credit history letter(s) from financial institution(s). 
9. Most recent quarterly financial statement. 
10. Evidence of Insurance Coverage and Bonding Capacity  

 
5. Operations Plan 
The Proposer shall provide a thoroughly developed plan which demonstrates its ability to 
meet or exceed all requirements and concepts presented in Section III Scope of Services.  
Within the operations plan the proposer should include a thorough description of the 
resources which will be applied to this project, major policies, practices, and procedures 
which will be utilized and any other information which demonstrates the ability of the 
proposer to meet the operation requirements of the RFP. Proposer should be able to 
demonstrate proven methods for creating customer focused teams, ensuring high 
standards and expectations, controlling costs, and managing to a defined budget target.  
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Additionally, the operations plan should include a description of training to include 
audience, topics and cycles which will be implemented to drive desired results. 
 
6. Management and Staffing Proposal 
The Proposer shall provide a labor plan to include every proposed foodservice 
management position. This plan must identify, without limitation, all permanent manager, 
director, and supervisor positions and all salary and bonus recommendations for each 
position for each year of the term. This plan must also set forth how temporary labor will 
be utilized and how the Proposer will determine how and when to propose to the Authority 
staffing reductions during slow times in the McCormick Place calendar. The Proposer 
must also present a staffing plan and organization chart. 
 
The Successful Proposer must give every person currently employed by the Food Service 
Manager in a non-supervisory capacity at the time of transition an opportunity to continue 
employment, including those on leave with a right to return.  
 
Proposer must provide a hiring plan to ensure a seamless transition and operational 
readiness by October 1, 2023.  
 
Provide details regarding your approach to managing labor relations, including but not 
limited to, titles and job description of management staff responsible for scheduling and 
managing staff and process for resolving grievances.  
 
7. Sustainability Plan 
The Proposer shall indicate its willingness to provide services in a sustainable 
environmentally conscious manner and to meet the minimum requirements as described 
in Section 3.7. Additionally, the Proposer shall provide a sustainability plan which provides 
the specifics of how they will meet the requirements in Section 3.7 and any additional 
innovative solutions they will commit to implementing if selected. 
 
8. Labor Relations 
Describe your experience working with labor unions in a convention center and arena 
setting. Proposer must provide a reference letter from an organized labor group.  
 
Provide details regarding any major disputes, including any labor strikes. Describe the 
nature of the dispute, duration of the strike/dispute, impact on operations, financial impact 
and resolution.  
 
9. Marketing Plan 
The Proposer will submit a plan which thoroughly describes marketing resources 
available for this project including those which will be provided within the on-site staff and 
through corporate or centralized resources. The plan should provide examples of 
successful program in like facilities and demonstrate the proposer’s creativity and ability 
to drive results with targeted marketing programs.   
 
For the five years prior to issuance of this RFP, disclose any negative media coverage of 
Proposer, its affiliates, predecessor companies, and proposed key personnel.  Include a 
summary of Proposer’s response to any allegations, investigations, corrective measures 
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taken and/or changes to prevent or mitigate operational and reputational damage to 
Proposer and venue owner.  Where possible include original sources (articles).   
 

   
10. Proposed Banquet Event Order (BEO) 
The Selected Proposer must provide a BEO to each Client for that Client’s food and 
beverage related activities. The Client must approve and sign off on the BEO. The BEO 
should contain the selected menu, pricing for that menu, Event details such as location 
and time of the Event, and the number of people to be served. Each Proposer shall submit 
its proposed BEO as part of this submittal process. 
 
11. Purchasing Program 
The Proposer shall describe its “Purchasing Program” in detail and shall name the 
companies that will be providing supplies for this account and the type of supplies that 
each company will provide. 
 
12. Product Specification 
The Proposer shall describe in detail its specification of the following products: 

A. Beef (general) 
B. Ground beef 
C. Pork 
D. Lamb 
E. Veal 
F. Poultry 
G. Fish and Seafood 
H. Eggs and Dairy Products 
I. Fruits and Vegetables 
J. Coffee and Tea 
K. House Wine 
L. House brand liquor 

The Proposer shall also provide the following: 

A. Samples of the specification sheets for each category of product 
B. Samples of the unit ordering procedures 
C. Examples of its quality assurance program 
D. A description of the rebate programs and their application in this unit 

 
13. Menus and Pricing 

A. Each Proposer must provide a complete set of proposed menus and prices for the 
Services with respect to each of the following, without limitation: 

(i) Banquets; 
(ii) Restaurants; 
(iii) Concessions; 
(iv) Booth service; and 
(v) Public show and specialty/buffet services. 

B. Each Proposer must include samples of all other proposed menus that it will use 
at McCormick Place. 
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C. McCormick Place must offer a variety of foods and beverages at affordable prices 
for guests of Public Events. Each Proposer must provide its proposed menus and 
pricing strategy for such public shows versus private trade shows. 

D. Each Proposer must submit a listing that states the amount of any discount on 
Concession Operations that the Selected Proposer will give to the following groups 
of people: 

(i) McCormick Place Licensees; 
(ii) Authority Employees; and 
(iii) Labor (both McCormick Place Labor and Contracted Labor) 

 
14. Computer Application Experience 
The Proposer shall indicate its willingness to coordinate its Information Technology (IT) 
support personnel with McCormick Place. The Proposer shall describe each of the 
following in detail: 

A. The Proposer’s computer technology and software utilization for the following: 
(i) Accounting Program 
(ii) Purchasing Program 
(iii) Inventory Management  
(iv) Human Resource Department 
(v) BEO system 
(vi) Other Computer Applications 

B. Any proposed direct link between the Proposer’s corporate office and McCormick 
Place’s on-site operation. 

C. The Proposer’s experience working with Quest Point of Sales system and the 
Proposer’s proposed technical support for the system. 

D. The proposer’s experience working with and willingness to implement Ungerboeck 
Software for BEO’s, and banquet services invoicing. 

E. The Proposer’s Information Technology (IT) support department. 
 
15. Transition Plan and Pre-Opening 
The Proposer shall develop and prepare a transition plan that will minimize the 
interruption of quality service to the Authority’s Clients and guests and that will be 
implemented if the Proposer is selected to provide the Services at McCormick Place.  
 
The information pertaining to the proposed transition plan should, at a minimum, include 
the following: 
 

1. Recruitment of key staff.  Development of McCormick Place specific staff training.   
2. A plan to incorporate fair consideration to retain qualified and experienced 

employees; all personnel must be given the opportunity to interview.   
3. A communications plan to ensure current and prospective customers understand 

how, if at all, the transition will impact them and/ or changes and improvements.   
4. The process and timing for assignment of contracts. 
5. Review of sales and marketing efforts and development of a sales and marketing 

plan.  
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6. The time frame for execution of the overall transition plan (including specific 
reference to key operational departments/functions such as sales/marketing, 
accounting, etc.) 

 
 
16. Customer Satisfaction Surveys 
The Proposer shall provide examples of its customer satisfaction surveys and customer 
feedback program and shall indicate how these surveys are used to improve its operation. 
 
17. Concessions Master Use Plan  
Although the current mix of facilities is listed above, the Authority desires each Proposer 
to carefully create and identify a master use plan for facility concession locations 
throughout the McCormick Place campus. Coordination of these services should include 
a wide mix of food offerings by type of product, style of service, and serving/processing 
speed. Such considerations should be graphically depicted on floor plans the Proposer 
shall provide to the Authority with careful delineation of queue lines to ensure quick and 
efficient service. The Proposer’s graphic representations shall recognize the need to 
accommodate Events having an attendance of 10,000 to 30,000 people, while 
understanding that each Event population will have a unique impact on location, type of 
service/cashiering, and queue functions. These concepts should also outline the internal 
or franchise brand names, location, menu, suggested menu prices, and general 
depictions of each type of space via colored presentation drawings and master plan 
locations on major floor plan drawings.  If the Proposer chooses to recommend externally 
operated, branded MPEA contracted retail food licensees in addition to those listed above 
for consideration by the Authority, they should clearly identify them as such. The Proposer 
must also provide an estimate for any MPEA funded capital improvements or 
modifications that are required for any concepts presented in the plan. 
 
18. Minority and Women Owned Business Enterprises (MBE/WBE) 
In accordance with the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority Act, 70 ILCS 210/23.1 
(b) the Authority has adopted and maintains a minority and women owned business 
enterprise procurement program for any and all work undertaken by the Authority. Goals 
established pursuant to the adoption of this program include the award of not less than 
25% of the annual dollar value of all contracts, purchase orders, or other agreements 
(collectively referred to as "contracts") to minority owned businesses (MBE) and 5% of 
the annual dollar value of all contracts to women owned business enterprises (WBE). The 
Selected Proposer will be required to honor existing contracts’ MBE/WBE participation, 
and further apply the 25% MBE and 5% WBE goals on any future contracts awarded 
during its management tenure.  
 
In addition to completing Required Form E – Special Conditions Regarding Minority and 
Women Business Enterprises, Proposer must submit a written MBE/WBE Plan will be 
required as part of the Proposal submission.  The written plan must include, but not be 
limited to: 
 

1. A detailed description of Proposer’s commitment to diversity through the 
successful inclusion of MBE/WBEs in its current operations in other markets. 
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a. Proposer should identify any other projects which included diversity goals 
and specifically describe its plan/strategy to meet the goals, any issues 
incurred and provide its MBE/WBE participation results. 

b. Proposer should list and describe any awards or recognitions received for 
its diversity efforts. 
 

2. Proposer’s detailed plan/strategy to utilize MBE/WBEs at MPC should it be 
selected. 

a. Proposer should specifically identify additional possible opportunities for 
outsourcing functions at MPC to include MBE/WBE participation, beyond 
any existing contracts with MBE/WBE participation. 

b. Proposer should identify and describe any outreach strategies it intends to 
utilize to attract potential MBE/WBEs.   
 

3. Proposer’s staffing plan, specifically identifying the individual that will be 
responsible for administering and managing the MBE/WBE utilization and 
program.  

 
19. Equal Employment Opportunity – Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Plan 
The Proposal shall include the Proposer’s equal employment opportunity policy including, 
without limitation, Proposer’s Strategic Diversity and Inclusion Plan for its workforce, and 
information describing any past experience of the Proposer that reflects an ongoing 
commitment to a diverse and inclusive workforce. The Plan must include, goals, 
objectives and progress measurements designed to affirmatively recruit, develop, retain 
and promote a diverse and inclusive workforce and to foster an inclusive workplace. 

 
20. Financial Terms 
The agreement between the Authority and the Manager will be configured as a 
management fee arrangement with an annual incentive payment component for achieving 
certain defined performance criteria. The Proposer will submit for the Authority’s 
consideration a management fee and an incentive fee using Required Form D. Neither 
the management fee nor the incentive fee may be calculated as a percentage of the gross 
receipts. The Authority’s objective is for the management fee and incentive fees to be 
structured in a form that satisfies the private use requirements of Rev. Proc. 2017-13. The 
management fee shall be payable in monthly installments as provided herein for the 
immediately preceding month. The incentive fee will be paid annually following completion 
of the Manager’s financial audit. 

 
Corporate Allocations and Rebates 

 
A. Rebates Proposer should clarify how purchase credits and volume allowances 
factor into their financial Proposals. Clarification should be given on whether 
credits will be shared with the Authority on an ongoing basis or whether the 
Authority’s share has been factored into reducing the management fee proposed.  

 
B. Allocations Proposers should outline any expenses that will be allocated by 
the Manager’s corporate entity to the Authority operation such as employee 
benefits, insurance, technology and more. Please detail allocations in either dollar 
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amounts or percentages as applicable and explain what benefits or services are 
being provided.  

 
21. Investment Proposal 
The Authority looks to Proposers to propose investments that will support the Proposer’s 
concepts, improve service levels and/or increase revenues. Investments might support 
such initiatives as renovation of retail spaces, equipment purchasing, employee training 
and attendance incentives, or more. Any investment proposed shall be owned by the 
Authority.  
 
A variety of investments might be considered for the Authority property including but not 
limited to:  
 

• Addition of more digital signage  
• Addition of kiosks for self-ordering  
• Inclusion of other technology to speed service  
• Investment in additional service ware to reduce transport requirements 

and labor costs  
• Purchase of new catering equipment to revitalize and modernize catering 

operations  
• Renovation or removal of Lakeside Center walk-in coolers  
• Purchase of refrigerated trucks  
• Investment in kitchen upgrades  
• Refresh of outdated server areas  
• Development of new staffing system to reduce need for calling every staff 

member  
• Buy-out of any union staff or investment in incentives to improve service 

 
22. Required Forms 
In addition to the information required above, Proposals must contain the following 
completed forms:   
 

o Required Form A Form of Transmittal Letter 
 

o Required Form B Statement of Business Organization and 
IRS Form W-9 
 

o Required Form C Statement of Qualifications 
 

o Required Form D Proposer Certifications 
 

o Required Form E Disclosure of Lobbyists 
 

o Required Form F 
 

Proposed Fee Structure 

o Required Form G 
 

Notification of Exceptions 

o Required Form H Bond Requirements 



 

Food Service Management #2023-03-M 
The Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority (MPEA) 
Page 44  
 

 
o Required Form I 
 

Insurance Requirements  

o Required Form J  Special Conditions Regarding Minority and 
Women Business Enterprises 
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SECTION V. – RFP EVALUATION  
 
EVALUATION PROCESS 
 
The Authority intends to conduct a comprehensive, fair, and impartial evaluation of 
proposals received in response to this RFP. The Authority will first review the proposals 
to assess Proposer’s responsiveness and compliance with the administrative 
requirements of the RFP, and the information requested in the Submission Requirements.   
 
The Authority will determine whether the Proposer is one with whom the Authority 
can or should do business.  The Successful Proposer must exemplify the values 
of the Authority: prioritize people and community, demonstrate the ability to deliver 
superior service, and be a responsible steward of public funds.    
 
An Evaluation Committee will review and evaluate the Proposals in accordance with the 
criteria set forth herein. Throughout the evaluation process, Proposer may be required to 
furnish additional information, make presentations, and/or attend meetings as requested 
by the Authority.  The Evaluation Committee will make a recommendation to the Board 
for the Proposer that best meets the qualifications and ability to perform the services in 
the best interest of the Authority.   

Superior Food Service Management (30%) 

1) Experience and qualifications  
2) Management and staffing plan 
3) Sales and marketing plan, operations plan, and transition plan 
4) Proposed menus and pricing 

Labor Relations (30%) 

1) Experience working with labor unions in a convention center and arena setting 
2) Strength of reference from organized labor organization representing food service 

workers in a convention or arena setting 

Diversity and Sustainability (20%) 

1) Commitment to DEI and plan for McCormick Place 
2) Past record and ability to meet MBE/WBE goals 
3) Ability to implement environmental sustainability programs.   

Responsible Steward of Public Funds (20%) 

1) Ability to manage and meet budgets, source and manage vendors,  
and protect and improve the facilities 

2) Financial capability to provide the services 
3) Management fees and capital contributions 
 

 
EVALUATION AND AWARD PROCESS 
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The evaluation and award process is as follows: 
1. Review of the proposal submission to assess compliance with mandatory 

administrative requirements. 
2. Detailed evaluation by the Committee of proposals submitted.  
3. Clarifications, discussions, and presentations (if determined necessary by the 

Evaluation Committee) 
4. Evaluation Committee award recommendation to the MPEA’s CEO and Board 
5. Award decision by the Board 
6. Contract negotiations 
7. Final agreement(s) executed 
 

 
  



 

Food Service Management #2023-03-M 
The Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority (MPEA) 
Page 47  
 

SECTION VI. – CONDITIONS, DISCLAIMERS, AND DISCLOSURES 
 

This RFP does not represent a commitment or offer by the Authority to enter into an 
agreement with a Proposer or to pay any costs incurred in the preparation of a response 
to this RFP.  The Authority reserves the right to reasonably request additional information 
or clarification of information provided in the response without changing the terms of the 
RFP, and also reserves the right to seek new submittals when such a request is in the 
best interest of the Authority. The Proposer assumes the responsibility for all costs 
incurred in responding to this RFP. It is understood and agreed that the Authority assumes 
no liability for the Proposer’s costs incurred in responding to this RFP.   
Signing Forms 
Proposal forms must be properly completed, and the FORM OF TRANSMITTAL LETTER 
(See Required Form A) must be in the required form and signed by persons with the 
authority to bind the Proposer(s). Special requirements apply depending on the nature of 
the Proposer's organization.  The Proposal and Form of Transmittal Letter shall be signed 
as follows: 
 

o If the Proposer is a corporation or limited liability company, the Proposal and 
Form of Transmittal Letter shall be signed in the name and under the seal of the 
corporation by a duly authorized officer of the corporation or manager of the 
company, with the designation of his/her official capacity, and attested properly. 
The Response and Form of Transmittal Letter shall show the state in which the 
corporation is chartered. If it is a foreign corporation, the Response shall show 
whether or not the Proposer is licensed to transact business in the State of 
Illinois. 
 

o If the Proposer is a firm or partnership, the Proposal and Form of Transmittal 
Letter shall be signed in the name or style under which the organization is doing 
business and by the partner, proper officer, or officers whose official capacity 
shall be designated.  The name and address of each member of the organization 
shall be shown on the Proposal and Form of Transmittal Letter. 
 

o If the Proposer is an individual, he/she shall sign the Proposal and Form of 
Transmittal Letter in person or by representative, stating the name or style, if any, 
under which he/she is doing business. If the signing is by representative, the 
representative’s Power of Attorney or other authorization shall be stated and 
shall be proven if requested. 
 

o If the Proposer is a joint venture, the Proposal and Form of Transmittal Letter 
shall be signed by each of the persons or firms that are a party to the joint venture 
agreement. A certified copy of the joint venture agreement shall be attached to 
the Proposal and Form of Transmittal Letter. A joint venture will not be accepted 
unless the joint venture agreement or some other signed and legally binding 
instrument is certified and attached to the Proposal Form sheet and Form of 
Transmittal Letter and contains provisions for one of the parties to the joint 
venture to be in full direction of the services and to exercise this direction through 
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a single individual to be appointed manager of operations with the consent of all 
parties to the joint venture agreement. 
 

o Where the Proposal and Form of Transmittal Letter are signed by an agent of 
the Proposer, evidence of the agent’s authority to sign must accompany the 
Proposal.  If the Proposer is a corporation, such evidence shall be a certified 
copy of that section of corporate bylaws or other authorization such as a 
Resolution by the Board of Directors, which permits the person to sign the offer 
on behalf of the corporation.  The name of each person signing the Proposal 
shall be typed or printed below his/her signature. 
 

In every case, the Proposal and Form of Transmittal Letter shall show the present 
business address of the Proposer at which address communications shall be received 
and service of notices accepted. 
 
Ownership of Proposals 
Timely submittals and any information made a part of the Proposals will not be returned 
to the sender. The Authority reserves the right to retain all submittals and to retain any 
ideas in a submittal regardless of whether a Proposer is selected.  Submittal of a response 
to this RFP indicates acceptance by the Proposer of the conditions contained within the 
RFP document.   
 
Improper Practices 
The Proposer shall be in compliance with the Illinois State Officials and Employees Ethics 
Act (5 ILCS 430/) and remain in compliance for the duration of the Agreement. Non-
compliance constitutes grounds for immediate unilateral termination of the Agreement.  
 
The Proposer shall not offer any gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value to any 
official or employee of the Authority, the Authority's appointed evaluation committee, SMG 
(current McCormick Place® Manager), the City of Chicago, Choose Chicago, State of 
Illinois, or any other organization that may have a clear interest in the outcome of the 
selection process, for the purposes of influencing the outcome of the RFP response 
selection process.   
 
The Proposer shall not collude in any manner or engage in any practices with any other 
Proposer(s), which may restrict or eliminate competition or otherwise restrain trade.  
Violation of this instruction will cause the Proposer(s) submittal(s) to be rejected by the 
Authority.  The prohibition is not intended to preclude joint ventures or subcontracts. 
 
Interpretation 
Should any question arise as to the proper interpretation of the terms and conditions 
contained in this RFP, the Authority’s decision shall be final.   
 
Multiple Awards 
It is the intent of the Authority to award to one Proposer as a result of this RFP.  However, 
the Authority reserves the right to award a contract to one or more Proposers as it deems 
to be in its best interest. 
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No Criminal/Civil Liability 
Submission of a proposal shall include a representation that neither the Proposer, nor 
any of its joint venture participants, partners, members, affiliates, subsidiaries, officers, 
directors, managerial employees, or any individual who, directly or indirectly, holds an 
ownership interest in the Proposer’s organization has been convicted of or entered into a 
plea agreement for a criminal offense incident to the application for or performance of a 
contract or subcontract with a governmental or private entity in the State of Illinois, or has 
been convicted of a criminal offense, or held liable in a civil proceeding, that negatively 
reflects on the entity’s or individual’s business integrity, based on a finding of 
embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or destruction of records, receiving 
stolen property, or violation of state or federal antitrust statutes or similar laws.  
 
Vendor Ethics 
The Authority is prohibited by law from contracting with certain persons and entities. 
Accordingly, ownership interests must be disclosed in Required Form B, STATEMENT 
OF BUSINESS ORGANIZATION.  Proposers must also comply with the prohibitions on 
political contributions that are set forth in the MPEA Act, as amended.   
 
Proposers who have done business or are seeking to do business with MPEA should 
review the prohibitions on political contributions to candidates and elected officials, set 
forth in the City of Chicago Municipal Code on Governmental Ethics, Section 2-156-
455.      
 
Insurance Requirements 
At all times during the term of the Agreement and during the time period following final 
completion if the Proposer is required to return and perform any additional work, Proposer 
is required to maintain the minimum insurance coverage and requirements specified in 
this RFP, insuring all operations related to the Agreement.  The Authority reserves the 
right to modify insurance requirements based on the nature of the services rendered or 
the projects required under the Agreement. 
 
Freedom of Information Act 
This RFP and any subsequent agreement are subject to disclosure pursuant to the Illinois 
Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA,” 5 ILCS 140/) and other applicable laws and rules. 
The Proposal may be made available for public inspection and copying and if the 
Proposer believes certain information is exempt from public disclosure under FOIA, the 
Proposer must clearly mark those portions of its Proposal as being “Confidential” and 
request confidential treatment.  The Proposer must identify the specific grounds under 
FOIA or other law or rule that support exempt treatment.  The Authority is not obligated 
to honor requests for confidential treatment, even if the information is exempt from public 
disclosure.   The Proposer will be responsible for any costs or damages associated with 
the Authority’s defending the Proposer’s request for exempt treatment. 
 
Confidentiality 
Except with the Authority's approval, the Proposer shall not directly or indirectly disclose, 
divulge or communicate to any person, firm or corporation, other than the Authority or its 
designated representatives, or as required by law, any non-public information which it 
may have obtained during the RFP process concerning any matter relating to the work or 
regular business of the Authority. 
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Term 
The agreement shall commence on October 1, 2023 and expire at midnight on September 
30, 2028. The MPEA, at its sole discretion, may renew the term of the agreement for one 
or more additional periods not to exceed five (5) additional years in total by giving the 
Successful Proposer notice of at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the then 
current Term.  

 
Taxes 
The Successful Proposer will be responsible for all existing and future applicable federal, 
state, and local taxes, whether direct or indirect, incurred in connection with the 
Agreement.  The Authority, however, is exempt by law from Illinois Retailers Occupation 
Tax, Use Tax, Service Occupation Tax, Service Use Tax, and Municipal and Regional 
Transportation Authority Retailers Occupation Tax on materials or services purchased in 
connection with the Services. 

Rejection of Proposals  
Proposals that do not comply with the submittal requirements of the RFP, or that contain 
omissions, erasures, alterations or additions not called for, or that are irregular in any 
way, may be rejected as informal and insufficient.  The Authority, however, reserves the 
right to waive any or all informalities when it considers a waiver to be in its and the public's 
best interest.  

 
In addition to all other basis for rejection, any Proposer found to have falsified any 
information to the Authority in relation to this or any other procurement, or which has been 
barred from doing business with the Authority, the City of Chicago or State of Illinois, or 
which has been convicted of a felony or entered into a plea agreement related to 
procurement contracting with any unit of government, may be rejected. 
 

Protests 
Any and all protests or challenges with respect to the selection of the Successful Proposer 
and this RFP, any of the procedures or requirements stated herein, or any other terms 
and conditions related to the transactions stated or contemplated herein must be asserted 
in writing to: 
Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority 
Attn:  Director of Procurement 
301 E. Cermak Rd., Chicago, IL  60616 
mpeaprocurement@mpea.com 
 
All protests or challenges concerning the process, ambiguities, or defects of the RFP must 
be submitted within seven (7) calendar days after publication of the RFP.  All protests or 
challenges concerning the selection of the Successful Proposer must be asserted within 
seven (7) calendar days after the notification of award of the Successful Proposer.  
Protests shall contain a statement of reason(s) for the protest identifying any alleged 
violation and any specific relief sought.  Failure to file any action, protest or challenges 
within the time frames set forth above shall constitute a full and absolute waiver to take 
action against, protest or challenge the RFP process or selection of the Successful 
Proposer. 
  

mailto:mpeaprocurement@mpea.com
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SECTION VII. – REQUIRED FORMS  
 
 
Proposals must contain the completed items listed below that are provided in the following pages 
of this Section VII: 
 
 

A. FORM OF TRANSMITTAL LETTER 
 

B. STATEMENT OF BUSINESS ORGANIZATION and IRS FORM W-9 
 

C. STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 
 

D. PROPOSER CERTIFICATIONS  
 

E. DISCLOSURE OF LOBBYISTS 
 

F. PROPOSED FEE STRUCTURE 
  

G. NOTIFICATION OF EXCEPTIONS 
 

H. BOND REQUIREMENTS 
 

I. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

J. SPECIAL CONDITIONS REGARDING MINORITY AND WOMEN BUSINESS 
ENTERPRISES 



 

 

REQUIRED FORM A – FORM OF TRANSMITTAL LETTER  
 

To be duplicated and completed on Proposer's firm letterhead 
(Date) 
 
Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority  
301 East Cermak Road 
Chicago, Illinois 60616 
Attention:  Director of Procurement 
 
Re:    FOOD SERVICE MANAGEMENT  
          RFP #2023-03-M 
 
On behalf of (Full legal name of Proposer), I submit with this letter its response to the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition 
Authority's Request for Proposals (“RFP") for FOOD SERVICE MANAGEMENT.  In this connection, I state the following: 
 
1. I have full authority to bind Proposer with respect to this response to the Request for Proposals and any oral or 

written presentations and representations made to the Authority. 
 
2. (Full legal name of Proposer) has read and understands the Request for Proposals and is fully capable and qualified 

to provide the goods and or services as described within this Request for Proposals. 
 
3. I have read and understand the Request for Proposals, including addenda numbers   .  (If none were 

issued, indicate “NONE”.) 
 
4. (Full legal name of Proposer) understands that the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority will rely on Proposer's 

response to the Request for Proposals and Proposer agrees to be bound by its representations and statements made 
in its response and in any oral or written presentation(s) made during the evaluation and selection process. 

 
5. If requested by the Authority, Proposer agrees to furnish additional information or documentation or to make one 

or more oral presentations or demonstrations to assist the Authority in evaluating its Proposal. 
 

6. If selected by the Authority, Proposer agrees to negotiate and enter into an Agreement for FOOD SERVICE 
MANAGEMENT with the Authority to perform all the services required for operations of a world class convention 
center.   

 
7. Neither I nor Proposer has any beneficial interest in or relationship with any other party working or performing 

services for or otherwise affiliated with the Authority and no conflict of interest which could interfere with the 
provision of services to the Authority. 

 
8. Proposer understands that the Authority will rely upon the material representations set forth in the Request for 

Proposals and that Proposer has a continued obligation to update any information which changes or which Proposer 
learns to be incorrect. 

 
I declare that all Required Forms A - E as issued by the MPEA have not been altered other than to provide information 
requested, and that completed Forms A-E have been examined by me and to the best of my knowledge and belief are true, 
correct and complete. 
 
   Signed:          
 
              
                Typed/lettered name of signatory 
 
            As:                                                 
                (Relationship to Proposer/Title/etc.)  



 

 
 

 

REQUIRED FORM B – STATEMENT OF BUSINESS ORGANIZATION 
 
NAME OF PROJECT:   MCCORMICK PLACE MANAGEMENT  
PROJECT NUMBER:   2023-03-M 

PROPOSER:           

Note:  Each Proposer is obligated to notify the Authority of any changes in its ownership or in its officers and directors at the 
time such changes occur if the change occurs during the evaluation phase or during the Agreement term. 
 
1. If the Proposal is submitted by an individual, answer questions listed below: 
 
 (a) Name         
 
 (b) Official Address        

 
 (c) Telephone_________________________ Email address    
 
 (d) Fax Number        
 
 (e) FEIN or SSN        
 
 (f)  Is the individual authorized to do business in Illinois?    □YES  □NO    
 
2. If the Proposal is submitted by a partnership, answer questions listed below: 
 
 (a) Firm Name           

 (b) Official Address           

 (c) Fax Number          

 (d) Telephone Number    

 (e) FEIN          

(f) List each individual or business entity having a beneficial interest directly or indirectly, of more than seven 
and one-half percent (7 ½%) in the business organization.  If no individual does, indicate “NONE”. 

i. Holding firms: Where owners are themselves a corporation, LLC, partnership or other business 
entity, list the business entity’s name and each individual or business entity having a beneficial 
interest directly or indirectly, of more than seven and one-half percent (7 ½%) in such “holding 
firm”.  (Use a separate page if necessary). 

ii. Affiliated entities: List each individual or business entity having a beneficial interest directly or 
indirectly, of more than seven and one-half percent (7 ½%) in any affiliated entities. (Use a 
separate page if necessary). 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Name Percentage Ownership 
  
  
  
  



 

 
 

 

REQUIRED FORM B – STATEMENT OF BUSINESS ORGANIZATION 
 
PROPOSER:           

 
 (g) List the names of all managing partners: 
           
   
           
 
           
     
 (h)  Is partnership authorized to do business in Illinois?  □ YES  □ NO    
 
3. If the Proposal is submitted by a corporation or limited liability company (LLC), answer questions listed 

below: 
 
 (a) Corporate or Company Name       
 
 (b) Date of Incorporation         
 
 (c) State of incorporation        
 

(d) If incorporated in another State, are you authorized to do business in the State of Illinois?  
 

  □ YES  □ NO    
 

   (e) Name and address of registered agent       
   
           
 
           
 
 (f) Fax Number        
 
 (g) Telephone_________________________ Email address    
 
 (h) FEIN    
 

(i) List the names of all officers and directors: 
 

           
   
           
   

         
 

           
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

REQUIRED FORM B – STATEMENT OF BUSINESS ORGANIZATION 
 
PROPOSER:           

 

(j) List each individual having a beneficial interest directly or indirectly, of more than seven and one-half percent  
(7 ½%) in the business organization.   If no individual does, indicate “NONE”. 

Holding firms: Where owners are themselves a corporation, LLC, partnership or other business entity, list 
the business entity’s name and each individual or business entity having a beneficial interest directly or 
indirectly, of more than seven and one-half percent (7 ½%) in such “holding firm”.  (Use a separate page 
if necessary). 

 
Affiliated entities: List each individual or business entity having a beneficial interest directly or indirectly, 
of more than seven and one-half percent (7 ½%) in any affiliated entities. (Use a separate page if 
necessary) 

 
Name Percentage Ownership 

  
  
  
  
  

 
4. Identify below the person with authorized signature to bind Proposer’s agreement, if selected:  
 
 Signatory’s Name      _________  _  
 
 Title      ________    
 
 Address         ___ 
 
 Email Address: __________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 Phone Number: _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The person identified here will be sent the contract for electronic signature/execution via Adobe Sign or similar system.   
 
 



 

  

REQUIRED FORM C – STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 
 
NAME OF PROJECT:   MCCORMICK PLACE MANAGEMENT  
  
PROJECT NUMBER:   2023-03-M 

PROPOSER:           

 

Proposer must furnish all of the following information relative to its ability, experience, and financial resources available 
for the fulfillment of the Agreement. 

 
1. The number of consecutive years that Proposer has been engaged in the business under the present firm name.   
 
        Number of consecutive years at this location: ___________        
 
 Date when business was organized ___________________ 
 
2. List all pertinent organizations and associations of which Proposer is currently a member: 
 
             
 
            
 
             
 
3.    Provide the overall ratio of managers to personnel.         
 
4.    List below one (1) bank reference: 
 
  Company Name          
 
  Contact          
 
  Title          
 
  Address          
 
  Telephone          Email address       
  
  Length of Relationship        
 
(Questions 5 through 7 relate only to Proposer’s contracts for the type of services requested in this RFP) 
  
5. Has Proposer ever refused to sign a contract?  Y         N          At the original price?  Y___  N _____  
 
 If yes to either question, provide details.        
 
            
 
            
 
 
 



 

  

REQUIRED FORM C – STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 
 
PROPOSER:           

 
6. Has Proposer ever been terminated for cause?                If yes, provide details.     
 
            
 
            
 
            
 
7. Has Proposer ever defaulted on a contract?              If yes, provide details.       
 
            
 
             
 
            
 
8. Has Proposer or any related or affiliated entity ever been adjudged bankrupt, been subject to a receivership or an order 

of reorganization, or other similar action involving the rights of creditors against vendors? If yes, provide details. 
 
            
 
             
 
9.        Is Proposer or any related or affiliated entity at this time subject to any court order relating to bankruptcy, receivership, 

liquidation, reorganization, or similar relief?  If yes, provide details. 
 
            
 
             
 
10. Proposer has attached a completed IRS W-9   □ Yes  □ No  
 
11. Identify how Proposer was made aware of this RFP:    Newspaper Ad            Website ____ Email Notification            

Other ________________________________________     ______     
 
12. Identify below the Proposer’s designated point of contact for purposes of responding to any questions the Authority may 

have:  
 
 Contact Name      _________  _  
 
 Title      ________    
 
 Address           
 
 Telephone          Email address       
 



 

  
 

 

REQUIRED FORM D – PROPOSER CERTIFICATIONS 
 
NAME OF PROJECT:   MCCORMICK PLACE MANAGEMENT  
  
PROJECT NUMBER:   2023-03-M 

PROPOSER:           

 
CHECK BOX(ES) TO CERTIFY: 
 
[ ]    Proposer certifies that it is fully authorized to enter into an Agreement with the Authority, has no 
known conflicts of interest as described in the MPEA Act (70 ILCS 210/25.3), or otherwise, and further 
specifically certifies that: 
 
 
[ ] Neither Proposer nor its agents, officers or employees, has entered into any agreement or arrangement with any 

individual or entity to refrain from bidding, or to do any act or omit to do any act, the result of which would restrain 
free competition among Proposers. 

 
[ ] Pursuant to 70 ILCS 210/25.3, neither Proposer nor its agents, officers or employees, has made any offer to, nor 

been solicited by, any member of the Board, officer or employee of the Authority, either directly or indirectly, regarding 
any money or other thing of value as a gift or bribe or means of influencing his or her vote or action in his or her 
official character. 

 
[ ] Proposer, its affiliated entities and affiliated persons of Proposer's organization have not made any contributions to 

any political committees established to promote the candidacy of any declared candidate for the office of Mayor of 
Chicago or Governor of Illinois in violation of the restrictions in 70 ILCS 210/25.5(a).   

 
[ ] Neither Proposer, nor its agents, officers or employees, is barred from contracting with any unit of state or local 

government as a result of being convicted of bid-rigging as defined in Section 33E-3 of the Illinois Criminal Code of 
1961 (720 ILCS 5/33E-3), or of bid-rotating as defined in Section 33E-4 (720 ILCS 5/33E-4), or of any similar offenses 
of any state or the United States that contain the same elements as the offenses of bid-rigging or bid-rotating. 

 
[ ] Proposer will, pursuant to 720 ILCS 5/33E-6, report to the Illinois Attorney General and Cook County State’s Attorney 

any prohibited communication that would constitute interference with contract submission and award by a public 
official. 

 
[ ] Pursuant to 775 ILCS 5/2 105, Proposer complies with the Illinois Department of Human Rights Act and rules 

applicable to public contracts, including equal employment opportunity, refraining from unlawful discrimination, and 
having written sexual harassment policies. 

 
[ ]     Proposer will, pursuant to the Drug Free Workplace Act (30 ILCS 580), provide a drug free workplace.  Proposer 

certifies that it will not engage in the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession or use of a 
controlled substance in the performance of the contract. This requirement applies to contracts of $5,000 or more 
with individuals, and to entities with twenty-five (25) or more employees.  

 
[ ] Proposer and its employees and subcontractors shall comply with applicable provisions of the U.S. Civil Rights Act, 

Section 504 of the Federal Rehabilitation Act, and the rules applicable to each as well as the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.) and the regulations thereunder (28 CFR 35.130).  

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  
 

 

[ ] Neither Proposer, nor any of its affiliates, subsidiaries, officers, directors, managerial employees, or any individual 
who, directly or indirectly, holds a pecuniary interest in the Proposer’s organization has been convicted of a criminal 
offense incident to the application for or performance of a contract or subcontract with a governmental entity in 
the State of Illinois, or has been convicted of a criminal offense, or held liable in a civil proceeding, that negatively 
reflects on the entity’s or individual’s business integrity, based on a finding of embezzlement, theft, forgery, 
bribery, falsification, or destruction of records, receiving stolen property, or violation of state or federal antitrust 
statutes or similar laws.   

 
[ ] Proposer is not in arrears to the State of Illinois for any debts whatsoever (including but not limited to back taxes).  

Further, the undersigned certifies that the Proposer has not defaulted on any other project with the State of 
Illinois, US Federal Government, or any governmental entity of Cook County or the City of Chicago.  

 
 
[ ] Proposer is in compliance with the Illinois Lobbyist Registration Act (25 ILCS 170/8) and acknowledges specifically, 

that contingent fees are prohibited. No person shall retain or employ another to lobby with respect to any 
legislative, executive, or administrative action for compensation contingent in whole or in part upon the outcome 
of the action and no person shall accept any such employment or render any such service for compensation 
contingent upon the outcome of the legislative, executive, or administrative action.  
 



 

 
 

 

REQUIRED FORM E – DISCLOSURE OF LOBBYISTS 
 
NAME OF PROJECT:   MCCORMICK PLACE MANAGEMENT  
PROJECT NUMBER:   2023-03-M 

PROPOSER:           

 
The Board of the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority (“MPEA”) has determined that all bids, proposals and contracts 
requiring Board approval must be accompanied by a statement disclosing information about Lobbyists, as that term is 
defined in Section A below. Lobbyists retained in connection with the award of the contract are agents of the Proposer 
and are therefore subject to the same rules as the Proposer, including but not limited to the prohibition of conflicts of 
interest and the prohibition of direct contact with any official, employee or agent of the MPEA regarding outstanding 
procurement projects, except as provided herein. During an active procurement no MPEA employees, officials, MPEA Board 
members, or MPEA Agents may be contacted regarding the procurement. Questions for clarification regarding an 
outstanding procurement may be submitted in writing to the Director of Procurement.  Questions regarding the Proposer’s 
Minority and Women’s Business Enterprise participation may be submitted in writing to the MPEA’s Business and Workforce 
Diversity Department.   
 

A. DEFINITIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 
1. "Lobbyist" means any person (i) who, for compensation or on behalf of any person other than himself, 

undertakes to influence any legislative or administrative action, or (ii) of whose duty, or any part of whose 
duty, as an employee of another includes undertaking to influence any legislative or administrative action.  
Subconsultants or sub-contractors hired by the Proposer who do not fit this definition are not considered 
Lobbyists. 

2. In particular, the Proposer must disclose the name of each such person, his/her business address, the 
nature of the relationship, and the amount of the fees paid or estimated to be paid.  

3. If the Proposer is uncertain whether a disclosure is required, the Proposer must either ask the MPEA 
whether disclosure is required or make the disclosure. The Proposer is not required to disclose employees 
who are paid solely through the Proposer's regular payroll or sub-contractors that will be assisting in 
performance of the work without providing services related to this RFP.   

4. MPEA prohibits the participation of Lobbyists when the payment to the Lobbyist is contingent on the award 
to the party of a contract, namely through contingency fee agreements. 

 
B. CERTIFICATION   

Each and every Lobbyist or other person retained or anticipated to be retained directly by the Proposer is listed below 
(begin list here, add sheets as necessary).  Indicate by check below if any such person is retained for or in connection 
with Auditing for the award of the contract that is the subject of this RFP. 
 
Name Business Address Fees 

(indicated whether           
paid or estimated) 

Check if retained 
directly for award 
of this contract 

   [ ] 

   [ ] 

   [ ] 

   [ ] 
 
 
[ ]  Check here if no such person has been retained directly by the Proposer or is anticipated to be 

retained directly by the Proposer. 
  



 

 
 

 

REQUIRED FORM F – PROPOSED FEE 
 
NAME OF PROJECT:   FOOD SERVICE MANAGEMENT        

PROJECT NUMBER:   2023-03-M       

PROPOSER:          

 
Proposer must submit its fee proposal (in compliance with Financial Terms) by completing this REQUIRED 
FORM F and submitting it in a separate, sealed envelope within the Proposal container.  
 
The fee proposal should include (i) the annual base management fee required to operate the along with (ii) a 
proposed incentive fee component. Together, these two fees shall constitute Proposer's total compensation for 
performance under the contract. The MPC's construction and numerous expansions were financed with tax-
exempt bonds. Consequently, the compensation arrangements and terms that the Authority may agree upon 
with the Selected Proposer are governed by federal tax laws that restrict the private business use of facilities 
financed with tax-exempt bonds. Proposers are required to ensure that their proposals are in full compliance 
with IRS procedures and guidelines and federal tax laws governing private business use of facilities financed 
with tax-exempt bonds. Proposers are required to submit fee proposals on the basis of a five (5) year 
management contract. 
 
 
Proposed Annual Base Management Fee:  $___________________________ 
 
 
Proposed Annual Incentive Fee:    $___________________________ 
 
 
The incentive fee will be allocated as follows in accordance with Section 7.1 and 7.2 of the relevant sections 
of Draft contract language.   

• Sustainability – up to 15% of the annual Incentive Fee 
• Customer Satisfaction – up to 30% of the annual Incentive Fee 
• Health and Sanitation – up to 15% of the annual Incentive Fee 

The minimum incentive thresholds for the prior 3 benchmarks must be met in order to qualify for the 
Financial Performance Incentive Goal.   
 
Both elements of the Financial Performance Incentive Goal must be met to receive that portion of the 
Incentive Fee. 

 
• Financial Performance Incentive Goal --up to 40% of the annual Incentive Fee  

o Required Reserve Contribution 
o Revenue Target Benchmarks 

 
Proposed Capital Contribution:    $___________________________ 
 
 
The Successful proposer shall recommend investments for application of the Capital Contribution.  Any 
investments shall be approved by Manager and the Authority.   
 
Any assets purchased with the Capital Contribution from Successful Proposer shall be capitalized on the 
Authority’s books and records, with title passing to the Authority upon placement into service.   
 
 



 

 
 

 

REQUIRED FORM G – NOTIFICATION OF EXCEPTIONS 
 
NAME OF PROJECT:   FOOD SERVICE MANAGEMENT        

PROJECT NUMBER:   2023-03-M       

PROPOSER:          

 

Proposer must complete this REQUIRED FORM G and submit it with attachments specifically outlining and 
identifying any exceptions.  
 
 
Proposer acknowledges that there are exceptions to the proposed contract language, scope, compensation 
structure and/or any other requirements stated in this RFP #2023-03-M -M and has attached a comprehensive list 
to this Required Form G – Notification of Exceptions.  



 

  

REQUIRED FORM H – BOND REQUIREMENTS 
 
NAME OF PROJECT:   FOOD SERVICE MANAGEMENT        

PROJECT NUMBER:   2023-03-M       

PROPOSER:          
 

Proposer must complete this REQUIRED FORM H and submit it with attachments, as outlined herein.  
 
[  ] PROPOSER ALSO ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS PROVIDED WITH THIS REQUIRED FORM C EVIDENCE OF 
THE ABILITY TO PROCURE A PERFORMANCE AND FIDELITY BOND, AS SPECIFIED BELOW: 

 
1. Prior to the commencement of the Term and throughout the Term hereof, Manager shall provide 

to the Authority a performance bond in the amount of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) to 
protect the Authority against loss due to the inability or refusal of Manager to perform under this 
Agreement. The cost of the performance bond shall not be a Direct Operating Cost. The bond 
should be issued by a corporate surety or sureties acceptable to the Authority, and licensed and 
authorized to do business in the State of Illinois. The Surety Company for the performance bond 
must be listed as a certified Surety in the most recently published “Listing of Approved Sureties” 
in the U.S. Dept of Treasury Circular 570. [www.fms.treas.gov/c570]. 

 
2. The performance bond effective on the date of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect 

until this Agreement is completed in its entirety. Said bond shall provide that it will not be 
canceled or materially altered or changed without first giving 30 days’ notice to the Authority, 
sent by certified mail, return receipt requested. 

 
3. If the bond is canceled during the Term of this Agreement, Manager must provide a new 

performance bond prior to the existing bond cancellation date. If Manager is unable to provide a 
replacement bond, Manager must provide an alternate source of financial assurance satisfactory 
to the Authority. Alternate financial assistance could be in the form of a certified check or letter 
of credit. 

 
  

http://www.fms.treas.gov/c570


 

  

 
REQUIRED FORM I – INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
NAME OF PROJECT:   FOOD SERVICE MANAGEMENT        

PROJECT NUMBER:   2023-03-M       

PROPOSER:          

 
[ ]    PROPOSER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS PROVIDED EVIDENCE OF THE ABILITY TO PROVIDE 

INSURANCE COVERAGE (i.e., CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE), AS SPECIFIED BELOW.  PROPOSER 
FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE SPECIFICATIONS SET FORTH BELOW SHALL BE 
INCORPORATED INTO THE AGREEMENT FOR THE SERVICES.  THE SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER WILL BE 
THE “MANAGER” IN THE EXECUTED AGREEMENT.  NOTE THAT THE INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
MAY BE SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION.   

 
 

1. The Selected Contractor must procure and maintain, at its own expense, until final completion of the 
Services covered by this Contract and during the time period following final completion if required to 
return and perform additional Services, for any reason whatsoever, the types of insurance specified 
below,  

 in amounts specified by the Authority's Risk Manager. The Selected Contractor must provide the 
Authority with certificates evidencing such coverage prior to receiving the contract: 

 
 a.      Commercial General Liability 
 
 Coverage Limit     
 
 General Aggregate (per location) $2,000,000.00 
 Products Liability/Completed 
 Oper. Aggregate $2,000,000.00 
 Each Occurrence $2,000,000.00 
 Personal & Advertising Injury $2,000,000.00 
 Liquor Legal Liability                                                                            $2,000,000.00 
 Dram Shop Statutory                                                                                  Statutory 
 
  
 If Commercial General Liability or other form with a general aggregate limit is used, the general 

aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit.  
 
 
 b. Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability 
 
 Coverage Limit     
 
 Workers' Compensation Statutory   
 Employer's Liability  
 Each Accident  $  1,000,000.00 
 Per Employee - Disease $  1,000,000.00 
 Annual Aggregate - Disease $  1,000,000.00 
 
 Workers’ Compensation/ Employer’s Liability policies shall be endorsed to waive  
 the insurer’s right of subrogation against the Authority.    
 



 

  

 c. Automobile Liability 
 
 Coverage Limit     
 
 Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
    Combined - Occurrence $1,000,000.00 
 Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist - 
    Occurrence $1,000,000.00 
 
 This Policy must provide coverage for all owned, non-owned, and hired autos. 
 
 
 d. Umbrella Coverage               
 
 Coverage                   Limit  
 
 Occurrence/ Aggregate                              $25,000,000.00 
 

Coverage must be in excess of Commercial General Liability, Auto Liability Liquor   
Liability and Employer’s Liability. It must be no more restrictive than the primary 
coverage listed, with its limits not less than twenty-five million dollars   
 

 e. Professional Liability 
  
 Coverage           Limit 
 
 Errors and Omissions  
 Per Occurrence         $2,000,000.00 
 General Aggregate         $2,000,000.00  

 
 Contractor must request architects and designers to name the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority as 

an additional insured to their policy.  
 

f. Crime  
          

 Coverage           Limit 
 
 Employee Theft / Dishonesty        $1,000,000.00 
 On Premise Coverage for Theft, Disappearance,  
 Destruction of money and securities           $1,000,000.00 
 Off Premise Coverage for Theft, Disappearance,  
 Destruction of money and securities           $1,000,000.00 
 Forgery & Alterations Coverage                                                             $1,000,000.00 
 Money Orders/Counterfeit Fraud Coverage                                              $1,000,000.00 
          Funds Transfer Fraud Coverage                                                             $1,000,000.00 
 Credit Card Fraud                                                                                $1,000,000.00 
 Computer Fraud with Funds  
 Transfer including wire funds transfer                                  $1,000,000.00 
  
 This coverage must be evidenced on a Discovery Form 
 
 g.  All Risk Blanket Builders’ Risk  
 



 

  

In the event that Contractor undertakes any construction for the performances of the services, Contractor 
shall provide All Risk Blanket Builders’ Risk insurance to cover all materials, supplies, equipment, machinery 
and fixtures that are or will be part of the permanent facility.  
 
Coverage Extensions 
 
Business Interruption  
Loss of Revenue  
Loss of rents  
Loss of use of Property   
 

 h. Contractor’s (Site Specific) Pollution Liability Insurance.  
 To be carried for all construction projects managed by the Contractor  
  
 Coverage 
 

A broad form Contractor’s (Site Specific) Pollution Liability Insurance Policy which covers losses 
caused by pollution conditions (including sudden and non-sudden pollution conditions) arising from 
the services and operations of the Contractor and all subcontractors pursuant to the Agreement.  
Such policy: 
 
Shall apply, without limitation, to bodily injury, property damage (including loss of use of damaged 
property or of property which has not been physically injured or destroyed) and clean-up costs. 
 
Shall provide coverage for pollution conditions which arise from encountering pre-existing 
environmental conditions at the project site.  
 
Shall provide coverage for liability resulting from the transportation of hazardous wastes. 
 
Shall be written with a per occurrence limit of liability of $5,000,000 for each occurrence and a policy 
aggregate of liability of $5,000,000.  
 
Shall contain a deductible no greater than $100,000. 
 

 
 i. Cyber Liability – Aggregate Limit of $1,000,000 

 
2. All insurance companies must be rated A-VIII or better by the A. M. Best Company.  
 
3. Contractor’s assumption of liability is independent from, and not limited in any manner by, the 

Contractor's insurance coverage obtained pursuant to this Contract, or otherwise.  All amounts owed 
by Contractor to the Authority as a result of the liability provisions of the Contract shall be paid on 
demand. 

 
4. Contractor expressly understands and agrees that any insurance or self-insurance programs 

maintained by the Authority shall apply in excess of and  
 not contribute with insurance provided by them under the Agreement.  
 
5.  Policies should be written on an occurrence basis with the exception of professional liability coverage.   
 
6. All coverages must contain a Waiver of Subrogation in favor of the MPEA  
 
7. All policies must amend the other insurance clause to be Primary and Non-Contributory for any liability 

arising directly or indirectly from the Services.    



 

  

  
8. The Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority, its trustee, facilities, agents, officers, board members 

and employees are named as an additional insured.  
 
9. Subcontractors performing services for the selected contractor shall maintain coverage and limits 

equal to or greater than the proposer.   
 
10. If policies are canceled for any reason, immediate notice is required to be given to the Risk Management 

Department via certified mail and at least 30 days’ notice if canceled for non-payment of premium.   
 
11.  The Authority maintains the right to modify, delete, alter, or change the requirements. 
 



 

  

REQUIRED FORM J – SPECIAL CONDITIONS REGARDING MINORITY AND WOMEN BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 
 
 
 
  



REQUIRED FORM I  -  SPECIAL CONDITIONS REGARDING MINORITY AND 
WOMEN OWNED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

NAME OF PROJECT: _________________________________________________________  
PROJECT NUMBER:   ______________________________  
PROPOSER:                     
  

SECTION I.  POLICY STATEMENT AND TERMS  
 

  
In accordance with the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority Act, 70 ILCS 210/1 et. seq., 
Section 23.1(b) (hereinafter referred to as “Act”); the Authority has adopted and maintains a 
Business Diversity Program.  Goals established pursuant to the adoption of such a program include 
the award of not less than 25% of the annual dollar value of all contracts, purchase orders, or 
other agreements (collectively referred to as “contracts”) to minority owned businesses (MBE) 
and 5% of the annual dollar value of all contracts to women owned business enterprises (WBE).  
  
It is the policy of the Authority that a Contractor take affirmative steps to ensure that minority 
and women owned businesses have the maximum opportunity to compete for and perform 
subcontracts for the supply of goods and services.  Further, no contractor shall discriminate 
against any person or business on the basis of race, color, religion, ancestry, age, marital status, 
physical or mental disability, military discharge status, parental status, sexual orientation, national 
origin, sex or any other protected status in connection with the purchase of goods and services 
or the subcontracting of work required by an agreement awarded by the Authority.   
  

SECTION II. DEFINITIONS  
 

  
For purposes of this Bid or Proposal, the following terms shall have the definitions set forth in this 
Section II.  If there is any discrepancy between the definitions set forth in these Special Conditions 
and the Act, the provisions of the Act control.  
  
  

a. “Area of Specialty” means the description of a MBE or WBE firm’s business which has 
been determined by the Director of Procurement to be most reflective of the MBE or WBE 
firm’s claimed specialty or expertise. Each MBE and WBE letter of certification must 
contain a description of the firm’s Area of Specialty. This information is also contained in 
each directory published by the Certifying Entities identified in Section III. Credit towards 
MBE and WBE participation goals on a contract shall be limited to the participation of 
firms performing within their Area of Specialty.  

  
b. “Bid” or “Proposal” means a bid, proposal, or submittal detailing a description of the 

services or work to be provided by the Contractor in response to a bid solicitation, request 
for proposal, request for qualification or task order request issued by the Authority.  

  
c. “Bidder” or “Proposer” means any person or business entity that submits a bid, proposal, 

qualification or submittal that seeks to enter into a contract with the Authority, and 
includes all partners, affiliates and joint ventures of such person or entity.  

  



d. “Broker” means any person or entity that fills orders by purchasing or receiving supplies 
rather than out of its own existing inventory and provides no substantial service other 
than acting as a conduit between his or her supplier and his or her customer.    

  
e. “Commercially Useful Function” means responsibility for the execution of a distinct 

element of the work of the contract, which is carried out by actually performing, 
managing, and supervising the work involved, evidencing the responsibilities and risks of 
a business owner.  

  
f. “Compliance Monitoring System” means the computer-based system established by the 

Authority to monitor Contractor compliance in meeting MBE/WBE goals for a contract.   
     

g. “Consultant” means an expert who is called on for professional or technical advice or 
opinions.  

  
h. “Contract Specific Goals” means the subcontracting goals for MBE and WBE participation 

established for a particular contract.  
  

i. “Contractor” means any person or business entity that has entered into a contract with 
the Authority as described herein, and includes all partners, affiliates, and joint ventures 
of such person or entity.  

  
j. “Coordinator” means the Authority’s Business Diversity Program Coordinator.   

  
k. “Direct Participation” means the total value of payments made to MBE or WBE firms for 

work that is completed in their Area of Specialty directly related to the performance of 
the subject matter of the contract.  

  
l. “Directory” means a directory of certified minority business enterprises and women 

business enterprises maintained and published by a Certifying Entity.  The Directory 
identifies firms that have been certified as MBEs and WBEs, and includes both the date 
of the firm’s last certification and the Area of Specialty in which the firm is certified. 
Contractors are responsible for verifying the current certification status of all proposed 
MBE and WBE firms.  

  
m. “Good Faith Efforts” means actions undertaken by a bidder or contractor to achieve a 

Contract Specific Goal in accordance with Section VIII(b).  
  

n. “Joint Venture” means an association of at least one MBE or WBE firm and one or more 
other firms to carry out a single, for-profit business enterprise, for which each Joint 
Venture partner contributes property, capital, efforts, skills and knowledge, and in which 
the MBE or WBE is responsible for a distinct, clearly defined portion of the work of the 
contract and whose share in the capital contribution, control, management, risks, and 
profits of the Joint Venture are commensurate with its ownership interest.  

  
o. “Minority Business Enterprise” or “MBE” shall be defined in accordance with the Business 

Enterprise for Minorities, Females, and Persons with Disabilities Act, 30 ILCS 575/2.01, 
et. seq., and means a business concern which is at least 51% owned by one or more 
minority persons, or in the case of a corporation, at least 51% of the stock in which is 
owned by one or more minority persons; and the management and daily business 
operations of which are controlled by one or more of the minority individuals who own 
it.    

  



p. “Special Conditions” means the terms and conditions of the Authority’s Business Diversity 
Program as set forth in this document.  

  
q. “Supplier” means a firm who manufactures or fabricates from raw materials or 

substantially alters the materials / supplies; or a firm that is the wholesale/retail 
distributor of materials or supplies.  

r. “Women Business Enterprise” or “WBE” shall be defined in accordance with the   
Business Enterprise for Minorities, Females, and Persons with Disabilities Act, 30 ILCS 
575/2.01, et. seq., and means a business concern which is at least 51% owned by one 
or more females, or, in the case of a corporation, at least 51% of the stock in which is 
owned by one or more females; and the management and daily business operations of 
which are controlled by one or more of the females who own it.  

  
SECTION III. CERTIFICATION  

 
  

The Authority neither certifies nor decertifies a firm’s MBE or WBE status.  Rather, it accepts the 
current certifications of other agencies whose policies and procedures are consistent with the 
requirements of Section 23.1(b) of the Act.  The Authority presently accepts certifications from 
the City of Chicago, Chicago Minority Business Development Council, County of Cook, Women’s 
Business Development Center through a partnership with the Women’s Business Enterprise 
National Council, and the State of Illinois through its Central Management Services Division.  Other 
certifications will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.  To be eligible for credit towards meeting 
the MBE and WBE goals, a firm must be certified by the time of contract award.    
  
The Authority does not make any representation concerning the ability of any MBE or WBE to 
perform work within the firm’s Area of Specialty. It is the responsibility of all Contractors to 
determine the capability and capacity of MBEs and WBEs to satisfactorily perform the work 
proposed.  
  
Bidder or Proposer must confirm that neither it nor any of its proposed subcontractors have been 
decertified by any of the certifying agencies listed above.  If an MBE or WBE firm loses its 
certification from any of the certifying agencies above during the contract term, the Contractor 
and the MBE or WBE must immediately notify the Authority.  The Authority has the right to 
demand the substitution by a certified MBE or WBE or take other appropriate action.  
    
SECTION IV. CONTRACT GOALS  

 
  
The Authority has established the following Contract Specific Goals for this contract:  
  

MBE PERCENTAGE  WBE PERCENTAGE  
25%  5%  

  
These goals shall apply to the contract, unless Bidder or Proposer requests an appropriate waiver 
at the time of the submission of the Bid or Proposal and such request is granted in writing by the 
Authority.    
  
  



 

SECTION V. OBLIGATIONS OF BIDDERS AND PROPOSERS  
 

  
a. Each Bidder or Proposer must commit to utilize MBE and WBE firms to meet the goals 

stated above relative to the total contract price (inclusive of any and all modifications and 
amendments).  Evidence of such commitment shall be the responsibility of the Bidder or 
Proposer.  MBE and WBE commitments may be met by one or a combination of the 
following:  

  
1. Bidder or Proposer status as a certified MBE or WBE firm;  

  
2. Subcontracting part of the work to one (1) or more certified MBE or WBE firms; or   
  
3. A joint venture as prime contractor with one (1) or more certified MBE or WBE firms 

to the extent of the MBE and WBE participation in such joint venture; or  
  

4. Purchasing materials or supplies used in performing the contract from one (1) or more 
certified MBE or WBE firms.  

  
b. Bidders or Proposers that are unable to meet the goals set forth in Section IV above must 

request a waiver or reduction at the time of Bid or Proposal submission and demonstrate 
Good Faith Efforts pursuant to Section VIII(b) herein;  

   
c. Bids or Proposals may be rejected as non-responsive if:  

  
1. Bids or Proposals do not include a detailed MBE or WBE commitment or a request for 

a waiver accompanied by evidence of Good Faith Efforts;  
  

2. Bidder or Proposer fails to cooperate with Authority requests regarding MBE or WBE 
participation efforts; or  
  

3. False or misleading statements are made regarding MBE or WBE participation.   
  

d. Bidders or Proposers are encouraged to contact the Coordinator early in the process of 
preparing their Bids or Proposals to obtain assistance identifying qualified and certified 
MBE and WBE firms.  Direct requests to:  
  

Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority  
301 East Cermak Road, Chicago, Illinois 60616  

Telephone:  (312) 791-6333 ~ Facsimile:  (312) 791-7125  
Email: twright@mpea.com 

Attention:  Tiffany M. Wright  
Business Diversity Program Manager  

  
SECTION VI. SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS  

 
  

a. Required Documents.  The following documents must be submitted to the Authority 
with the Bid or Proposal:  

  



1. Schedule A:  Affidavit of Bidders or Proposers Commitments.  The Bidder or 
Proposer must complete this form to warrant to the Authority the Bidder’s or Proposer’s 
commitment to use specific MBE/WBE firms in performing the contract.  Bidder or 
Proposer must detail a specific MBE/WBE plan on Schedule A and submit it along with 
the appropriate certification letters for all MBE and WBE firms in accordance with 
Section III. All Bidders and Proposers are required to submit a completed Schedule A.  
Any Bid or Proposal submitted without Schedule A and the relevant supporting 
documents will be rejected unless the Authority deems it appropriate to grant a waiver 
in accordance with Section VIII.  
  

2. Schedule B:  Letter of Intent.  All MBE/WBE firms that will perform services under 
the contract must complete Schedule B to show the commitment between the Bidders 
or Proposers and each MBE/WBE participant.  MBE and WBE firms that are party to a 
Joint Venture must also complete Schedule B.    

  
3. Schedule C:  Joint Venture Affidavit and Agreement.  All Joint Ventures must 

complete Schedule C.  Where all of the Joint Venture parties are MBE and WBE firms, 
a copy of the Joint Venture agreement and Schedule B are required, but Schedule C 
is not required.  

  
4. Schedule D-1 and D-2:  Waiver Request and Unavailability Certification.  In 

the event that the Bidder or Proposer has been unable to identify any MBE/WBE firms 
to participate in the contract, Bidder or Proposer must complete these forms to 
demonstrate its Good-Faith Efforts to obtain MBE/WBE participation.  

  
b. Changes.  Once approved by the Authority, changes to Bidder or Proposer commitments 

certified in Schedules A- C are prohibited without prior written consent of the Authority.  
Bidder or Proposer may request, in writing, to substitute or add a new MBE or WBE or 
change the percentages among the MBE/WBE firms identified in Schedule A due to 
unforeseen circumstances in order to fulfill the requirements of the contract.  All such 
requests are subject to the Authority’s written approval, subject to the terms of the 
contract.  
  

SECTION VII. COUNTING MBE/WBE PARTICIPATION TOWARD CONTRACT 
GOALS  

 
  

a. Limitations.  MBE and WBE participation generally counts toward MBE and WBE goals 
according to the total dollar value of the goods and services supplied by the certified 
MBE or WBE firm.  Some restrictions to this general rule apply, as follows:  

  
1. Credit toward MBE/WBE commitments is only given for work by firms performing 

within their Area(s) of Specialty as stated in the current letter of certification. Firms 
acting as brokers are not eligible to be counted for credit.  
  

2. If a firm (including wholly-owned MBE/WBE Joint Ventures) is certified as both an MBE 
and a WBE, the Authority will determine whether to count the total dollar value of the 
contract toward the MBE or WBE goal, but not both at once.  
  

3. Only payments to firms performing Commercially Useful Functions under the contract 
with the Authority are counted towards MBE/WBE goals.  Commercially Useful 
Functions include actually performing, managing, and supervising a clear element of 



the contract.  The amount of work subcontracted, industry practices, and other 
relevant factors are considered.  

  
4. A MBE/WBE subcontractor is presumed not to perform a Commercially Useful Function 

when it subcontracts a significantly greater part of the contract than customary 
industry practice permits.  MBE and WBE firms may present evidence to rebut this 
presumption.  

  
b. Direct Participation.    

  
1. Full credit towards the MBE or WBE commitment may be received for the purchase 

price of materials and supplies if the materials and supplies are wholly consumed in 
the performance of a contract and:  
  
A. The MBE or WBE firm manufactures (i.e., fabricates from raw materials or 

substantially alters) the materials or supplies; or  
  

B. The contract or subcontract with the MBE or WBE firm calls for the firm to furnish 
and install the supplies or materials; or  

  
C. The MBE or WBE firm providing the materials or supplies performs some other 

Commercially Useful Function in the supply process (e.g., the MBE or WBE firm’s 
Area of Specialty, as stated on the letter of certification, is a wholesale/retail 
distributor of the materials or supplies in question).  The Authority, in its sole 
discretion, shall determine whether the MBE or WBE firm performs a Commercially 
Useful Function.  
  

2. If the MBE or WBE subcontracts out any of its work:  
  
A. The full value of the portion of the work subcontracted to other MBEs or WBEs 

performing work in its Area of Specialty may be counted toward the Contract 
Specific Goals.  
  

B. None of the value of the work that an MBE or WBE subcontracts to a noncertified 
firm counts toward the Contract Specific Goals.  
  

C. The fees or commissions charged for providing a bona fide service, such as 
professional, technical, consulting or managerial services or for providing bonds or 
insurance and assistance in the procurement of essential personnel, facilities, 
equipment, materials or supplies required for performance of the Contract, may 
be counted toward the Contract Specific Goals, provided that the fee or 
commission is determined by the Authority to be reasonable and not excessive as 
compared with fees customarily allowed for similar services.  

  
c. Purchase of Materials.  If the MBE or WBE firm has the actual and contractual 

responsibility for providing materials and supplies, then the contract price of those 
items may be counted towards Bidder or Proposer’s MBE/WBE goals.  

  
d. Joint Ventures  

  
1. A Joint Venture that includes MBE/WBE partners may count towards a Bidder or 

Proposer’s Contract Specific Goals, provided, however, that the MBE or WBE partner(s) 
must:    



  
A. Be responsible for a clearly defined portion of the contract to be performed;  

  
B. Perform a Commercially Useful Function;   
  
C. Share in the capital contribution, control, management responsibilities, risks and 

profits of the Joint Venture are equal to its ownership interest;   
  

D. Execute the Bid or Proposal along with the other Joint Venture partners;   
  

E. Enter into a written Joint Venture agreement with the other Joint Venture partners 
that specifies the terms and conditions of the relationship between the partners 
and their relationship and responsibilities to the contract, and certifies that all such 
terms and conditions of the Joint Venture agreement are in accordance with 
Section VII(a)(1)-(3) above.  Roles assigned between the Joint Venture partners 
should require activities that are performed on a regular, recurring basis rather 
than as needed. The roles must also be pertinent to the nature of the business for 
which credit is being sought.  

  
2. If the conditions set forth in Section VII(d)(1) are met, credit for the Joint Venture will 

be applied in one (1) of the three (3) following manners:   
  
A. If 51% or more of the ownership of the Joint Venture is held solely by MBE firms, 

or is held solely by WBE firms, then the Bidder or Proposer will receive credit for 
the full amount of the contract price towards the MBE or WBE commitment, 
respectively; or  

  
B. If the Joint Venture includes both MBE and WBE firms, then the commitment to 

the MBE firm(s) will be counted towards the MBE goal, and the commitment to the 
WBE firm(s) will be counted towards the WBE goal; or   
  

C. If the Joint Venture includes only MBE firm(s), or only WBE firm(s), and the MBE 
or WBE firm(s) own less than 51% of the Joint Venture, then the joint venture will 
be credited with the percentage of the contract price committed to the MBE or 
WBE firm(s).  

  
3. A subcontract agreement between the Joint Venture and the MBE or WBE partner(s) 

to the Joint Venture clearly delineating the role of each firm in the performance of the 
contract must be included with the submission of the Bid or Proposal along with a 
Schedule A that has been completed by the Joint Venture and Schedule B that has 
been completed by all MBE/WBE firms.  

  

SECTION VIII.  GRANT OF RELIEF / REDUCTION OF MBE/WBE GOALS 
AND WAIVER PROVISIONS  

 
  
The Coordinator shall determine whether the request for a reduction of MBE/WBE goals or waiver 
shall be granted.  Bidder or proposer may be considered responsive to the terms and conditions 
of these schedules only if a reduction or waiver request is submitted at the time of the Bid or 
Proposal opening.  
  



Failure to submit the request for reduction from the stated goals or waiver, sufficient to support 
the request for a reduction or to support the waiver request with the Bid or Proposal, will cause 
the Bid or Proposal to be found non-responsive by the Coordinator, and the Bid or Proposal will 
be rejected by the Director of Procurement.  
  

a. Required Documents.  To obtain relief/reduction of MBE/WBE goals, a Bidder or 
Proposer must submit the following:  
  

1. A written request for reduction or waiver from the goals in the form of a signed petition 
submitted on the Bidder’s or Proposer’s letterhead;  
  

2. Copies of the letters on the Bidder’s or Proposer’s company letterhead sent to at least 
two (2)  assistance agencies requesting assistance in locating MBE/WBE firms (include 
also a notarized statement certifying that the original of each letter to an assist agency 
was mailed on the date stated in each letter);  
  

3. Completed Schedules D-1 and  D-2:  Unavailability Certification for each MBE or WBE  
firm contacted for participation in the performance of the Bid or Proposal; and  

  
4. Evidence of Good-Faith Efforts as set forth in Section VIII(b) demonstrating that all 

required efforts were taken to secure certified MBE/WBE firms to meet the goals.  
   

b. Good-Faith Efforts. The following are examples of good-faith efforts.  The list is not 
intended to be exhaustive, and a Bidder or Proposer may present additional information 
or documentation as evidence of its Good Faith Efforts.  The Authority will review all such 
documentation on a case by case basis, but does not guarantee that documentation of 
the following factors will automatically qualify as Good Faith Efforts.   
  

1. Having written affirmative action policies and demonstrating general success in 
implementing those policies.  
  

2. Notifying assistance agencies in writing before Bids or Proposals are due to seek their 
assistance in identifying viable MBE and/or WBEs for specific work on a contract.  (See 
Section XIV for a list of such agencies.).  
  

3. The method, means, and date(s) by which the Contractor timely notified the 
MBE/WBEs of the potential for bidding or participation in the subject contract.  

  
4. Documentation that the information Contractor provided to the MBE/WBEs about 

plans, specifications,  requirements of the contract and scope of services was adequate 
to facilitate the MBE/WBE’s ability to provide a substantive bid response to the 
Contractor.  

  
5. Evidence that the Contractor selected portions of the work to be performed by an 

MBE/WBE in order to increase the likelihood of participation, including, where 
appropriate, breaking down contracts into smaller, economically feasible units.  

  
6. If the Bidder or Proposer has directly negotiated with MBE and/or WBEs for 

subcontracts, the following items must be reported.  A detailed statement of the efforts 
made to negotiate in good faith with MBE/WBEs showing:  

  
A. The names, addresses and telephone numbers of the MBE/WBEs contacted;  

  



B. A description of the plans and specifications provided to MBE/WBEs; and  
  

C. A detailed statement of the reason(s) agreements with the MBE/WBEs were not 
possible;  

  
D. A detailed statement of efforts made to select work for an MBE/WBE.  

  
7. Whether the contractor deemed the MBE/WBE as unqualified on a bona fide basis 

consistent with legitimate industry standards.  
  

8. The Bidder and/or Proposer must research MBE and/or WBE involvement beyond 
customary roles.  (Affidavits must be submitted stating why MBE/WBE participation 
was not possible).  
  

9. Assisting MBE and/or WBEs in overcoming participation barriers, for example, by 
helping firms obtain bonding or insurance coverage.  
  

c. Price.  Price alone is not an acceptable reason for rejecting an MBE/WBE subcontractor.  
The bidder or proposer must demonstrate that no MBE and/or WBE offered a reasonable 
price based on objective factors establishing that the quote is excessively costly.  In order 
to establish that a subcontractor’s quote is excessively costly, the Bidder or Proposer 
must provide the following information:  
  

1. A detailed statement of the work identified for MBE/WBE participation for which Bidder 
or Proposer asserts the MBE/WBE quotes(s) was excessively costly (in excess of 10%).  
  

2. A list of all potential subcontractors contacted for a quote on the relevant work or 
service to be performed by the subcontractors and the prices quoted for the 
subcontract in question.  
  

3. Other documentation that demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Coordinator that the 
MBE/WBE proposals are excessively costly, even though not in excess of 10% than 
the average price quoted.  This determination will be based on factors that include, 
but are not limited to the following:  

  
A. The Authority’s estimate for the work under a specific subcontract;  

  
B. The Bidder’s or Proposer’s own estimate for the work under the subcontract;  

  
C. An average of the bona fide prices quoted for the subcontract;  

  
D. Demonstrated increase in other contract costs as a result of subcontracting to the 

MBE/WBE or other firm.  
  

SECTION IX. IMPRACTICABILITY  
 

  
If the Authority, determines that a lesser MBE/WBE percentage goal is appropriate with respect 
to a particular contract subject to competitive bidding or issuance of request for proposals prior 
to the Bid or Proposal solicitations for such contract, Bid or Proposal specifications shall include a 
statement of such revised standard.  This determination may be made in connection with a 
particular contract, whether before the contract is let for Bid or Proposal, during the Bid or 



Proposal or award process, before or during award of the contract, or during the performance of 
the contract.  
   
SECTION X. RECORD KEEPING  

 
  
Records of all relevant data must be maintained for at least five (5) years after the work is 
accepted or the contract with the Authority ends whichever is later.  The Authority shall have 
access to Contractor's books and records, including without limitation payroll records, tax returns 
and records and books of account, to determine the Contractor's compliance with its commitment 
to MBE/WBE participation and the status of any MBE/WBE performing any portion of the contract. 
This provision shall be in addition to, and not a substitute for, any other provision allowing 
inspection of the Contractor's records by any officer or official of the Authority for any purpose.   
  

SECTION XI. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS DURING THE TERM OF THE 
CONTRACT   

 
  
The Compliance Monitoring System is available at: https://mpea.diversitycompliance.com.   The 
Coordinator will set up account access for the Contactor and all subcontractors following execution 
of the contract.  
  
During the term of the contract, Contractor and all subcontractors will be responsible for 
submitting monthly reports to the Authority via the Compliance Monitoring System according to 
the following schedule:  
  

CONTRACTOR 
(PRIME)  

Report all payment activity, including 
non-payments, to subcontractors for the 
prior month  

15th day of each month  

SUBCONTRACTOR  Confirmation of all payments received 
from prime Contractor  20th of each month  

  
All subcontract agreements between the Contractor and MBE/WBE firms must contain language 
requiring the MBE/WBE to respond to notifications from the Authority requiring the MBE/WBE 
firms to report payments received from a prime or a non-certified firm.  
  

SECTION XII. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY  
 

  
Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local Equal Employment Opportunity 
or Civil Rights laws, codes or ordinances, and regulations, and shall require compliance from all 
subcontractors.  
   
SECTION XIII. AUTHORITY’S REMEDIES FOR NON-COMPLIANCE  

 
  
Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the terms and conditions of these Special Conditions 
are material terms of the Bid or Proposal and that these Special Conditions including Affidavits A 
– D shall be incorporated by reference into Contractor’s contract.    
  



a. Material Breach.  A material breach of the Special Conditions includes, but is not limited 
to, the following:  

  
1. Contractor’s failure to satisfy the MBE/WBE percentage goals required by the contract.  

  
2. Contractor or subcontractor disqualification as an MBE or WBE when such status was 

a factor in contract award and was misrepresented by the Contractor.  In the event 
that the Contractor is determined not to have been involved in any misrepresentation 
of the status of the disqualified subcontractor or supplier, the Contractor shall seek to 
discharge the disqualified subcontractor or supplier, report such disqualification to the 
Coordinator, and make every effort to identify and engage a qualified MBE/WBE as its 
replacement.   
  

3. Contractor or subcontractor failure to maintain MBE/WBE certification in good standing 
with the certifying agency.   

  
b. Remedies.  In the event of a material breach by Contractor, the Authority may invoke 

any or all of the following remedies.  These remedies are not intended to be exclusive of 
any other remedies available, and every remedy is cumulative and in addition to any 
other remedy existing now or later at law, in equity or under the contract.     
  

1. Rejection of the Bid or Proposal.  
  

2. Termination of the contract.   
  

3. Deem Contractor non-responsive for future contracts with the Authority.   
   

4. Debarment of Contractor doing business with the Authority.  
  

5. Referral of Contractor to the appropriate certifying and/or law enforcement 
agency(ies).  

  
6. Withhold payments due to the Contractor until corrective action is taken.  

  
7. Contractor acknowledges that its failure to engage in Good Faith Efforts, will harm the 

operations and reputation of the Authority, which is difficult to determine and 
accurately specify.  Accordingly, Contractor agrees that if the Authority issues a notice 
to cure to Contractor with respect to Contractor’s failure to exercise Good Faith Efforts, 
Contractor shall pay to the Authority Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) as liquidated 
damages, not as a penalty, for each instance of such failure to cure, and each thirty-
day period thereafter that Contractor fails to establish Good Faith Efforts consistent 
with the requirements of these Special Conditions.  The liquidated damages provided 
herein shall be in lieu of all liability for any and all extra costs, losses, expenses, claims 
penalties and all other damages of whatsoever nature incurred by the Authority which 
are occasioned by any failure of Contractor to establish Good Faith Efforts consistent 
with these Special Conditions.  Any payment due to the Authority shall be deducted 
from the next payment due to Contractor under the contract and deposited in the 
Authority’s Affirmative Action Commitment Outreach Fund.  
 

  



Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority                                                                           
Special Conditions Regarding Minority and Women Owned Business 
Schedule A: Affidavit of Bidder/Proposer Regarding  
MBE/WBE Commitments                                                                                    

A.  Project InformationB0   

RFP Number:  RFP Title:  
  

B.  Bidder/Proposer InformatiB1on  

Name of Bidder/Proposer:  
  
I HEREBY DECLARE AND AFFIRM, under penalty of perjury, that   
  
1. I am a duly authorized representative of:                                        (“Prime Contractor”);  
  
2. I have personally reviewed information set forth in this Schedule A describing our proposed plan to achieve 

the MBE/WBE requirements of this contract (“Compliance Plan”) and any relevant supporting information; 
  
3. I have conducted reasonable due diligence about the accuracy of the information set forth in the Compliance 

Plan;  
  
4. I understand that the Compliance Plan contains material statements upon which the Metropolitan Pier and 

Exposition Authority (the “Authority’) will rely as part of its decision making regarding bid or proposal 
selection;  

  
5. All MBE/WBE firms included in this Compliance Plan are certified, and that I have attached all letters of 

certification for all MBE/WBE firms including Prime Contractor if applicable;  
  
6. Based on my knowledge and due diligence, this Compliance Plan does not contain any untrue information

or omit any material fact necessary to make the information contained therein true and complete; and  
  
7. I further declare and affirm that I have read and understand the Authority’s Special Conditions Regarding 

Minority and Women Owned Business Enterprises (the “Special Conditions”) and that the organization that 
I represent is in compliance with the Special Conditions.  I further understand that if the Authority 
determines that any information provided in the Compliance Plan or any other document submitted to the 
Authority is intentionally false or misleading, the Authority may pursue any and all remedies at law or equity, 
including without limitation, termination of any and all contracts with my firm, designating my firm as non-
responsible on future bid opportunities, debarment of my firm from doing business with the Authority, as 
well as referral of my firm to the appropriate certifying and/or law enforcement agency(ies), and liquidated 
damages.  

  

     
 



Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority 
Special Conditions Regarding Minority and Women Owned Businesses  
Schedule A:  Affidavit of Bidder/Proposer Regarding   
MBE/WBE Commitments   

  

 C.  Direct Participation of MBE/WBE FirmsB2  

  
The Prime Contractor shall, in determining the manner of MBE/WBE participation, first consider involvement 
with MBE/WBE firms as joint venture partners, subcontractors and suppliers of goods and services directly 
related to the performance of this contract.  
  
If Bidder/Proposer is a joint venture and one or more joint venture partners are certified MBE and/or WBE, 
attach copies of certification letters, a copy of Joint Venture Agreement clearly describing the role of the 
MBE/WBE firm(s) and its ownership interest in the joint venture and list all MBE/WBE firms below.  
  
List all MBE/WBE firms directly involved in the performance of this contract, including the Bidder/Proposer if 
MBE/WBE.  
  
Attach certification letters and completed Schedule B for all MBE/WBE firms.  
  
If awarded a contract by the Authority, the Prime Contractor shall enter into formal written agreements with 
all MBE/WBE firms listed in this Section C, within a reasonable amount of time upon Prime Contractor’s 
execution of the contract with the Authority.    
  
Attach additional sheets if necessary.  
  
Name of Firm:  
  
B3Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

Dollar Amount of Participation:  Percentage of Participation:  

B4Description of Service or Work:  

  
Name of Firm:  
  
B5Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

Dollar Amount of Participation:  Percentage of Participation:  

B6Description of Service or Work:  



 
Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority 
Special Conditions Regarding Minority and Women Owned Businesses  
Schedule A:  Affidavit of Bidder/Proposer Regarding   
MBE/WBE Commitments  

  

Name of Firm:  
  
B7Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

Dollar Amount of Participation:  Percentage of Participation:  

B8Description of Service or Work:  

  

D.  Direct Participation of Non MBE/WBE Firm B9 s  

  
List all Non-MBE/WBE firms directly involved in the performance of this contract.  Attach additional sheets as 
necessary.  
  
Name of Firm:  
  
B10Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

Dollar Amount of Participation:  Percentage of Participation:  

BDescription of Service or Work:  

  

Name of Firm:  
  
B12Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

Dollar Amount of Participation:  Percentage of Participation:  



Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority 
Special Conditions Regarding Minority and Women Owned Businesses  
Schedule A:  Affidavit of Bidder/Proposer Regarding   
MBE/WBE Commitments   

 

Name of Firm:  
  
B13Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

Dollar Amount of Participation:  Percentage of Participation:  

Description of Service B14 or Work:  

  

E.  Declaration and AffiB15 rmation  

I do solemnly declare and affirm under the penalties of perjury that the statements made in this Schedule A, 
including the contents of all attachments, are true and correct, and that I am authorized on behalf of the 
Bidder/Proposer to make this Affidavit.  

B16Signature of Affiant:  

Print Name:   Date:  
IF PROPOSING AS A JOINT VENTURE  

B17Name of Joint Venture Participant:  

Signature of Affiant:  Date:  

Print Name:  Date:  

  

State of:           County of        

  

Subscribed and sworn to before me this     day of     , 20    

  

              
NOTARY PUBLIC                                             (SEAL)  

  

  
For MPEA Use:  Reviewed by: 

Date: 



 Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority 
Special Conditions Regarding Minority and Women Owned Businesses  
Schedule B:  MBE/WBE Statement of Intent to Perform as a   
Subcontractor, Supplier or Consultant   
  
A.  Project InformationB0   

RFP Number:  RFP Title:  
  

B.  Statement of IntentB1   

From (MBE/WBE Firm):  
  
Type of Certification: □ MBE           □ WBE  Certifying Entity:  

  
To (Prime Contractor):  
  
and the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority  
The undersigned MBE/WBE firm agrees that it intends to perform work in connection with the above referenced 
project, and that:  
  
1. The firm has attached to this Schedule B, a valid certification letter from one the Certifying Entities set forth 

in Section III of the Special Conditions, and if applicable, Schedule C:  Joint Venture Affidavit.  

2. The firm is prepared to provide the following services or supply the following goods in connection with the 
above referenced project. Attach additional sheets as necessary.  

B2Description of Services/Goods to be provided:  B3Fee/Cost  B4Percentage  

      

      

      

      

3. The firm will be subcontracting a portion of the work described in this Schedule B as set forth below. If the 
MBE/WBE firm will not be subcontracting a portion of the work, 0% must be shown in the table.  If 
more than 10% of the value of the MBE or WBE’s scope of work will be sub-contracted, attach a letter 
from the subcontractor (on subcontractor letterhead) indicating the dollar amount of participation and 
a brief description of the work to be subcontracted.   

  
Type of Firm  Percentage  

  
MBE    

  
WBE    

  
Non MBE/WBE Firm    

  



  

C.  Declaration and AffirmationB5   

The B6 undersigned MBE/WBE firm and the Bidder/Proposer agree that they will enter into a binding agreement 
to perform the work set forth in this Schedule B for the prices/percentages indicated.  The undersigned firms 
also certify that before making any changes to the work to be provided under this Schedule B, they will notify 
the Authority.  Any material misrepresentation will be grounds for terminating any contract that may be 
awarded and for initiating action under federal or state laws concerning false statements.  

I do solemnly declare and affirm under the penalties of perjury that the stB7atements made in this 
Schedule B, including the contents of all attachments, are true and correct, and that I am 
authorized on behalf of the undersigned to make this Affidavit.  

B8MBE/WBE Firm:  

Signature of Affiant:  Date:  

Print Name:  Title:  

IF PROPOSING AS A JOINT VENTURE (Attach Schedule C: Joint Venture Agreement) Non-
MBE/WBE Firm:    

B9Signature of Joint Venture Partner:  

Signature of Affiant:  Date:  

Print Name:  Title:  

  

State of:           County of  
       

  

Subscribed and sworn to before me this     day of    , 20    

  

              
NOTARY PUBLIC                                             (SEAL)  

  

  
For MPEA Use  Reviewed By: 

Date: 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 



Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority  
Special Conditions Regarding Minority and Women Owned Businesses 
Schedule C:  Joint Venture Affidavit  

   

 A.  Project InformationB0   

RFP Number:  RFP Title:  
  

  
A Joint Venture is an association of two (2) or more business enterprises to constitute a single business 
enterprise to perform the services required pursuant to the above referenced RFP.  A Joint Venture that 
includes MBE/WBE partners may count towards a Bidder or Proposer’s Contract Specific Goals, provided, 
however, that the MBE or WBE partner(s) must:  (a) be responsible for a clearly defined portion of the contract 
to be performed; (b) perform a Commercially Useful Function; (c) share in the ownership, control, 
management, risks and profits of the Joint Venture; (d) execute the Bid or Proposal along with the other Joint 
Venture partners; and (e) enter into a written Joint Venture agreement with the other Joint Venture partners 
that specifies the terms and conditions of the relationship between the partners and their relationship and 
responsibilities to the contract.   
  
DO NOT complete this form if all joint venture participants are MBE/WBE firms.  Instead, submit a copy of 
the Joint Venture agreement clearly delineating the roles of all participants, Schedule A, Schedule B and copies 
of all valid certification letters.  
  
Joint Ventures must provide requested answers in the spaces provided.  Do not refer to your Joint Venture 
agreement except to expand on answers provided on this form.  If additional space is required, additional 
sheets may be attached.  
  
 B.  Joint Venture InformationB1   

Name of Joint Venture:  
  
Address:  
  
Phone:  Fax:  

  
B2Contact Person:  

Attach a copy of the Joint Venture agreemenB3 t, promissory note or loan agreement (if applicable), and any and 
all written agreements between the Joint Venture participants.  The Joint Venture Agreement must include 
specific details related to: (a) the contributions of capital and equipment; (b) work items to be performed by 
the MBE/WBE’s own forces; (c) work items to be performed under the supervision of the MBE/WBE participant; 
and (d) the commitment of management, supervisory and operative personnel employed by the MBE/WBE to 
be dedicated to the performance of the project.  

List all other business relationships between the Joint Venture participants, including other joint venture 
agreements in which the parties are jointly involved:  
  
  

  



 
C.  Non MBE/WBE Joint Venture Participant(s)B4   
Name of Firm:  % Ownership:  

  
Address:  
  
Phone:  Fax:  

  
Contact Person:  Email:  

  
D.  MBE/WBE Joint Venture Participant(s)B5   

Name of Firm: % Ownership:  
  

B6Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

Type of Certification:  
□ MBE           □ WBE  

Certifying Entity:  Date:  
  

B7Area of Specialty:  

  

B8MBE/WBE initial capital contributions:  $                                    % 

B9Future capital contributions (explain requirements):  

  

  

Source of fB10 unds for the MBE/WBE capital contributions:  

  

BSpecify the MBE/WBE’s share in the profits of the Joint Venture:  

  

B12Specify the MBE/WBE’s share in the risks of the Joint Venture:  

  

     
 
 

  



 
Specify other applicable ownership B13 interests or other agreements, which restrict or limit ownership and/or 
control:  

  

 E.  Control of and Participation in the Joint VentureB14   

B15Identify by name and firm those individuals who are, or will be responsible for, and have the authority to 
engage in the following management functions and policy decisions.  Indicate any limitations to their authority 
such as dollar limits and co-signatory requirements.  

B16Joint Venture check signing:  

  

B17Authority to enter into contracts on behalf of the Joint Venture:  

  

B18Signing, co-signing and/or collateralizing loans:  

  

B19Acquisition of lines of credit:  

  

B20Acquisition and indemnification of payment and performance bonds:  

  

B21Negotiating and signing labor agreements:  

  

 Management of contract performance (identify by name and firm):B   

Task  Name  Firm  
Purchase of major items or supplies     

Estimating      
Supervision of field operations      
Marketing and sales      
Other (please describe):  
  

    

 F.  Financial ControlB23  of Joint Venture  

 Which firm or individuaB24 l will be responsible for accounting functions relative to the Joint Venture’s business?  

  

 
 



B25Identify the managing partner, if any, and describe the means and measure of the individual’s compensation. 

What authority does each party have to commit or obligate the other to insurance and bonding companies, B26 

financing institutions, suppliers, subcontractors and/or other parties participating in the performance of this 
contract or the work of this project?  

  

  

 G.  Personnel of Joint Venture B27   

Please provide information relating to the approximate B28 number of management, administrative, support 
and non-management employees that will be required to operate the business and indicate whether they will 
be employees of the MBE/WBE, non MBE/WBE or Joint Venture:   

  Non MBE/WBE  MBE/WBE  Joint Venture  

Management        

Administrative        

Support        

Hourly Employees        

Identify by name and firm the person responsible for hiring employees for the Joint Venture:  

Are any of the proposed Joint Venture employees currently employees of any of the Joint Venture participants? 
□ Yes           □ No  

If yes, please list the number and positions and indicate which firm currently employees the individual(s):  

Number of employees   Position  Employed by  
    
    

    
    

    
    
    
    

    
    
    
    

 H.  Additional Information  B29 

Please state any material facts or additional information pertinent to the control and structure of this Joint B30 

Venture.  

  

  

  



 

I.  Declaration and AffirmationB31   

I do B32 solemnly declare and affirm under the penalties of perjury that the statements made in this 
Schedule C, including the contents of all attachments, are true and correct, and that I am 
authorized on behalf of the undersigned to make this Affidavit.  

BMBE/WBE Firm:  

B34Signature of Affiant:  

Print Name:  Date:  

Non - MBE/WBE Firm:  

B35Signature of Affiant:  

Print Name:  Date:  

  

State of:           County of  
       

  

Subscribed and sworn to before me this     day of    , 20    

  

              
NOTARY PUBLIC                                             (SEAL)  

  

  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority 
Special Conditions Regarding Minority and Women Owned Businesses  
Schedule D-1:  Certification of Bidder/Proposer Regarding Unavailability  
of MBE/WBE Firms   
  
A.  Project InformationB0   

RFP Number:  RFP Title:  
  

B.  Bidder/Proposer InformationB1   

Name of Bidder/Proposer:  
  
Each time Bidder/Proposer contacts an MBE/WBE that is not ready willing or able to perform the work you 
requested of the firm, for any reason, you must complete this form.  Please have the MBE/WBE complete 
Schedule D-2 Statement of MBE/WBE on the following page.  
  
The undersigned certifies that he/she contacted the following MBE/WBE firms to obtain bids for goods or 
services to be performed for the above referenced project (attach additional sheets if necessary).  
  
Name of Firm:  
  
B2Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

Reason MBE/WBE was unavailable to work on this project or prepare a bid:  
  
  
  
  
  
Name of Firm:  
  
B3Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  
  

Contact Person:  Email:  
  

  

 

 

 

 

  
  



C.  Declaration and AffirmationB4   

I do solemnly declare and affirm under the penalties of perjury that the stB5atements made in this 
Schedule D-1, including the contents of all attachments, are true and correct, and that I am 
authorized on behalf of the undersigned to make this Affidavit.  

Signature of Affiant:  Date:  

Print Name:  Title:  

  

State of:           County of  
       

  

Subscribed and sworn to before me this     day of    , 20    

  

              
NOTARY PUBLIC                                             (SEAL)  

  

  
For MPEA Use  Reviewed By: 

Date: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  



 
Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority  
Special Conditions Regarding Minority and Women Owned 
Businesses  
Schedule D-2:  Statement of MBE/WBE Regarding Unavailability to  
Perform or Prepare a Bid   
  
A.  Project InformationB6   

RFP Number:  RFP Title:  
  

B.  MBE/WBE StatementB7   

B8Name of MBE/WBE Firm:  

B9Bidder/Proposer Name:  

B10The undersigned certifies that:   

1.  The above named MBE/WBE firm was B offered an opportunity to bid on the above – referenced 
project by the above named Bidder/Proposer.  

2.  The MBE/WBE firm is unavailable to perform the services or prepare a bid B12 for the following reason:  

  

D.  Declaration and AffirmationB13   

I do solemnly declare B14 and affirm under the penalties of perjury that the statements made in this 
Schedule D-1, including the contents of all attachments, are true and correct, and that I am 
authorized on behalf of the undersigned to make this Affidavit.  

Signature of Affiant:  Date:  

Print Name:  Title:  

  

State of:           County of  
       

  

Subscribed and sworn to before me this     day of    , 20    

  

              
NOTARY PUBLIC                                             (SEAL)   

For MPEA Use  Reviewed By: 

Date: 

  



 

  

EXHIBIT 1 – DRAFT FORM OF AGREEMENT 
 
 
Exhibit 1 included as a separate Word document.  

 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  

EXHIBIT 2 – SAMPLE EXHIBITS FROM CURRENT CONTRACT 
 
 

Remainder of page is intentionally blank. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A 

FOOD SERVICE AREAS 

 

 

1.1 THE SOUTH BUILDING  - SCHEDULE I TO EXHIBIT A 

 

1.1.1 Ballrooms:  The South Building contains two (2) ballrooms 

A. Grand Ballroom (S100) - 33,740 square feet and seats 2,249 people for banquets  

B. Vista Ballroom (S406)  - 21,365 square feet and seats 1,424 people for banquets 

 

1.1.2 Meeting Rooms:  The South Building contains thirty-nine (39) meeting rooms on three  

(3) different levels of the building. 

 

1.1.3 Show Floor:  The South Building show floor features 840,000 square feet of exhibit 

space. 

 

1.1.4 Permanent and Portable Concessions on the Show Floor: Concession Operations are 

required on the show floor during show activity and may be provided at Café A1 and A2 

located on raised platforms within the South Building and from three (3) concession 

stands located on the north and south ends of the show floor. The halls must also be 

served by portable Concession Operations upon request by the Authority or a Client. 

A. A permanent coffee stand located on Level 2.5 of the Grand Concourse 

B. The Plate Room Food Court – multi-cuisine food court  

C. The Fine Print Restaurant – Employee Cafeteria 

D. Bar South and Café South –  Located in the S-100 Level, currently used for Catering 

Staging and Building storage 

 

1.1.5 Kitchens and Loading Docks: 

A. One (1) Main Kitchen 

B. One (1) Banquet Kitchen 

C. One (1) Loading Dock 

 

1.1.6 Offices: 

A. Two (2) Chefs’ Offices 

B. One (1) Receiving Office 

C. One (1) Restaurant Manager Office 

D. One (1) Stewarding Office 

E. Two (2) Banquet Offices 

F. One (1) Food Court Office 

 

 

1.2 THE NORTH BUILDING – SCHEDULE II TO EXHIBIT A 

  

1.2.1 Ballrooms: None. 

 

1.2.2 Meeting Rooms:  The North Building contains twenty-nine (29) meeting rooms on three 

(3) different levels of the building. 

 

1.2.3 Show Floor: The North Building features over 700,000 square feet of exhibition space 

with show floors on two (2) levels. 

 



1.2.4 Permanent and Portable Concessions on the Show Floor: Concession Operations are 

required in the Grand Concourse Lobby, on the show floor and in permanent locations in 

Halls B1, B2, C1 and C2 during show activity. The halls must also be served by portable 

Concession Operations upon request by the Authority or a Client. 

A. Starbucks (Franchisee) 

B. McDonald’s (Retail Food Licensee) 

C. Café North – “grab and go” dining- Concession Stand at the back of B Hall, currently 

used only for Catering and Portable Concession staging. 

D. 23rd Street Café 

E. Jamba Juice 

F. A Semi-permanent grab and go location on level 2. Used as a Portable Cart Staging 

area on and as needed basis. 

 

1.2.5 Loading Docks:  One (1) McDonald’s and Connie’s shared loading dock 

 

1.2.6 Retail Food Licensees – The manager will represent the interests of the Authority for the 

following permanent locations; however, the spaces will be licensed to the named Retail 

Food Licensee: 

A. McDonald’s – Retail Food Licensee 

B. Connie’s Pizza – Retail Food Licensee 

C. Ryba’s – a confectionary – Retail Food Licensee- on Level 2.5  

 

1.3 THE LAKESIDE CENTER – SCHEDULE III TO EXHIBIT A 

 

1.3.1 Ballrooms: The Lakeside Ballroom (E364) is 44,715 square feet and seats 2,981people 

for banquets. 

 

1.3.2 Meeting Rooms: The Lakeside Center contains 40 meeting rooms on three (3) different 

levels of the building. 

 

1.3.3 Show Floor: The Lakeside Center features over 583,000 square feet of exhibition space 

with show floors on two (2) levels. 

 

1.3.4 Permanent and Portable Concessions on the Show Floor: There are no permanent 

concession locations on the show floor in Halls D1, D2 and E of Lakeside Center, and 

they are serviced entirely by portable Concession Operations. Concession Operations are 

also required on the Level 2 Lobby in front of the Arie Crown Theatre to service patrons 

of the theatre before shows and during intermission. Concession Operations must also be 

offered on Level 3 East Outdoor Terrace during certain summer Events when weather 

permits and upon request of the Authority or a Client. 

A. Bistro 23 – panini and other sandwiches 

B. Lake Side Café – pizza, sandwiches and salads 

 

1.3.5 Kitchen:  One (1) Main Kitchen 

 

1.3.6 Offices: 

A. Two (2) Offices in Main Kitchen 

B. One (1) Chef’s Office 

C.  Seven (7) Offices for Sales, Catering, General Manager and Director of 

D. Operations 

E. One (1) Finance Office 



F. One (1) Cash Room 

 

1.3.7 Outdoor Space: The Lakeside Center Outdoor Terrace is used for receptions and 

outdoor concessions on the Level 3 terrace facing Lake Michigan. 

 

 

1.4 THE WEST BUILDING – SCHEDULE IV TO EXHIBIT A 

 

1.4.1 Ballrooms: The West Building Ballroom (E364) is 103,760 square feet and can be 

divided into 5 separate sections varying in size from 16,859 to 29,387 square feet. 

 

1.4.2 Meeting Rooms: The West Building contains 61 meeting rooms on 2 different levels of 

the building. 

 

1.4.3 Show Floor: The West Building features 470,000 square feet of exhibition space with the 

show floor on one (1) level. 

  

1.4.4 Permanent and Portable Concessions:  Concession Operations are required within Hall 

F, which may be served by portable Concession Operations, and from the Overlook Cafe 

located on raised platforms and from other permanent concession stands located at each 

end of the show floor. Hall F must also be served by portable Concession Operations 

upon request by the Authority or a Client. Concessions may also be offered at the West 

Building Rooftop Garden during certain summer Events when weather permits and upon 

request of the Authority or a Client. 

A. La Brea Sandwiches and Soup 

B. Starbucks Coffee House 

C. West Building Food Court – multi-cuisine food court 

D. Coffee café station (Level One) 

E. 270 degrees –space is used for VIP functions and Event Client catering and meetings.  

 

1.4.5 Kitchens and Loading Docks: 

A. One (1) Catering Kitchen – Level 3 

B. One (1) Loading Dock – Level 1 

C. One (1) Commissary Warehouse 

 

1.4.6 Offices:  

A. Two (2) Receiving Offices 

B. One (1) Manager Office 

C. One (1) Food Court Office – Level 2 

D. One (1) Finance Office 

E. One (1) Count Room 

 

1.4.7 Outdoor Space: The West Building Rooftop Garden is approximately 8,000 square feet 

and may be utilized for receptions for up to 800 people. 

 
1.5 The Wintrust Arena – Schedule V to Exhibit A 

 

1.5.1 Catering Spaces: There are a number of areas throughout the building where catering of 

food and beverage must be supplied at the request of the Authority or Client.  

 A. Courtside Lounge on the Event Floor 

 B.  Club Lounge on the Main Concourse Level 



 C.  Suites, (11 locations) on the Upper Concourse Level 

 D.  Suites, (11 locations) on the Suite Level 

   

 1.5.2 Meeting Rooms: None 

  

 1.5.3 Show Floor: None 

 

1.5.4 Permanent and Portable Concessions: Concessions operations are required on the 

Main Concourse and Upper Concourse levels which may be served from permanent 

concession stands located on each floor or from portable concession stands. Two bar 

locations (permanent or temporary) on the Main Concourse must also be operated at the 

request of the Authority or Client. 

  A. Pizza and Grill Concessions (3 Locations) ‘Cermak Grill’  

  B. BBQ (4 Locations) ‘Motor Row Q’ 

C. General Concessions (3 locations) 21st ‘Street Express’ 

D. Miller Coors Bars (2 Locations) TBD 

  
1.5.5    Kitchen and Loading Docks: 

 A. Warehouse and Cold Production Kitchen 

 B.  Hot Production/ Finishing Kitchen 

 C.  Suite Catering Staging Pantry, Upper Concourse 

 D.  Suite Catering Staging Pantry, Suite Level 

 

 1.5.6 Offices: 

  A. One (1) Cash Room- Event Floor 

   



 

EXHIBIT B 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

1.1 Scope of Services 

Except for Retail Food Licensees and the banquet services described in Section 1.3.1(B), the 
Manager shall be the exclusive provider of all food and beverage services at McCormick Place 

including, but not limited to, Banquet Operations and Concession Operations, and all special 
event services not otherwise specifically excluded; and shall also manage the Authority’s interest 

and direct all Retail Food Licensees who may bring specific branded, thematic, or other specialty 

food and beverage services to McCormick Place. Subject to Section 2.1.4 of the Agreement, 
Manager shall also provide food and beverage services for Marriott and Hyatt events when they 

are using McCormick Place. Excluded activities include the following: 
 

A. Food and beverage distributed by exhibitors under a facility approved policy for 
sampling. 

B. Food and Beverage brought into the facility as part of the facility defined 

“Personal Consumption Policy.” 

1.2 Standard of Performance 

All Services must be performed with that degree of skill, care, and diligence normally shown by a 
professional performing service of comparable scope, purpose and magnitude. 

1.3 Food and Beverage Services 

The sale of all products and the performance of all Services will be subject to the approval of the 
Authority. All Services must be performed in a first-class manner demonstrating the highest level 

of customer service and product quality. In connection with the Services, the Manager shall be 
responsible for the following, without limitation: 

 
A. Ordering, receiving and storing all food and beverage products, supplies and 

equipment; 

B. Moving food and beverage products, supplies and equipment to the storage and 
preparation areas or to the designated Event or other McCormick Place location; 

C. Preparing and serving all food and beverage for guests; 
D. Cleaning all areas used in preparing, storing, transporting and serving food and 

beverage; and 

E. Managing and overseeing all food and beverage outlets. 
 

The Manager must provide the Services in the form of Banquet Operations and Concession 
Operations of the nature and in the locations set forth herein. If the Authority adds facilities to 

McCormick Place not contemplated herein, the Authority reserves the right to renegotiate with 
the Manager a contract for Services in the new facilities. 

 

1.3.1 Banquet Operations 

 

This hosted service requires constant and timely attention to ensure product quality 
and customer service to the Clients of the Authority. Except as otherwise provided 

herein, the Manager has the limited exclusive right to provide the Banquet 

Operations at McCormick Place in locations that are outlined below in "Required 



 

Locations" and in any other space not listed below but which, during the Term of the 
Agreement, may be designated by the Authority as an additional location for Banquet 

Operations. 
 

A. Required Locations. Banquet Operations will be required in the following 

locations: ballrooms, show floors, meeting rooms, exhibit booths, permissible 
outdoor spaces and any other space designated by the Authority, and as further 

detailed in Exhibit A.  Banquet Operations in exhibitor booths on the show floor 
include food and beverage being delivered, setup, and served based on a "Booth 

Service Menu," which will be developed by the Manager and subject to the 
approval of the Authority. This service may range from an elaborate meal to a 

simple coffee service and is available for all Events.  Banquet Operations must 

also be provided in the following specific locations, each of which is used for 
public and trade shows. Banquet Operations are not limited to these locations. 

(i) The South Building 
(a) Ballrooms: The Grand Ballroom (S100) is 33,740 square feet and 

seats 2,249 people for banquets. The Vista Ballroom (S406) is 21,365 

square feet and seats 1,424 people for banquets. 
(b) Meeting Rooms: The South Building contains 39 meeting rooms on 

3 different levels of the building. 
(c) Show Floor: The South Building show floor features 840,000 

square feet of exhibit space. As a point of reference, the largest banquet 
served on the show floor in this building was for 12,000 people. 

(ii) The North Building 
(a) Ballrooms: None located in the North Building. 
(b) Meeting Rooms: The North Building contains 29 meeting rooms on 

3 different levels of the building. 
(c) Show Floor: The North Building features over 700,000 square feet 

of exhibition space with show floors on two levels. 

(iii) The Lakeside Center 
(a) Ballrooms: The Lakeside Ballroom (E364) is 44,715 square feet and 

seats 2,981 people for banquets. 
(b) Meeting Rooms: The Lakeside Center contains 40 meeting rooms 

on 3 different levels of the building. 

(c) Show Floor: The Lakeside Center features over 583,000 square 
feet of exhibition space with show floors on two levels. As a point of 

reference, the largest reception served on the show floor in this building 
was for 13,000 people. 

(d) Outdoor Space: The Lakeside Center Outdoor Terrace is used for 
receptions and outdoor concessions on the Level 3 terrace facing Lake 

Michigan. As a point of reference, the largest outdoor reception was for 

3,000 people. 
(iv) The West Building 

(a) Ballrooms: The West Building Ballroom (W375) is 103,760 square 
feet and can be divided into 5 separate sections varying in size from 

16,859 to 29,387 square feet. 

(b) Meeting Rooms: The West Building contains 61 meeting rooms on 
2 different levels of the building. 

(c) Show Floor: The West Building features 470,000 square feet of 
exhibition space with the show floor on one level. 

(d) Outdoor Space: The West Building Rooftop Garden is 
approximately 11,000 square feet is be utilized for receptions for up to 

approximately 600 people. 



 

(v) The Wintrust Arena – See Exhibit A 
(vi)  

B. Banquet Services by Others. While the Authority generally intends for the 
Manager to have exclusive rights at McCormick Place to provide all food and 

beverage products and services, including alcoholic beverages, the Authority 

reserves the right to engage or contract for outside banquet services for certain 
Events. The Authority shall possess the ability to designate an alternate food and 

beverage provider. This outside banquet service shall not sell alcoholic beverages 
or use Equipment. Subject to Section 2.1.4 of the Agreement, the Authority 

agrees to limit the use of this option to no more than six (6) times per year. 
 

1.3.2 Concession Operations 

Subject to the limitations stated herein, the Manager has the limited exclusive right 
to provide the Concession Operations at McCormick Place in the manner set forth 

below.  The Concession Operations require constant and timely attention to ensure 
product quality and customer service to the Clients and guests of the Authority. The 

Concession Operations include the following: selling food and beverage at 

restaurants, bars, cafes, fast food outlets, permanent concession areas, portable 
concession, and in any other spaces not listed below but which, during the Term of 

the Agreement, may be designated by the Authority as an additional location for 
Concession Operations. The Authority desires unique, branded (local, regional, and 

national), and diverse concession facilities to be operated throughout the McCormick 
Place campus.   These will include, but will not be limited to, mobile-thematic, semi-

fixed kiosks or other apparatus, fixed kiosks, and fixed foodservice operations. In 

addition to self-operated concessions operations, the Manager will have the 
opportunity to operate franchised outlets and will be required to manage all Retail 

Food Licenses and integrate their operations into a seamless package of concession 
offerings to customers, contractors, and employees of McCormick Place.   

 

A. Franchises – In order to provide greater variety and customer satisfaction 
and comfort, the Manager may choose to utilize franchise agreements with 

locally, regionally, or nationally recognized branded food-service operations for 
the delivery of concession services. 

   

i. A Franchise will be operated by employees of the Manager. 
ii. The Authority will have final approval over the selection of potential 

Franchises and all terms of any agreement between the Manager and 
the grantor of the franchise. 

iii. The Manager will be required to provide any products or services in a 
manner which is clearly identifiable with the standards established by the 

grantor of the Franchise.    

Retail Food Licensees - The Manager shall oversee operations of Retail Food 
Licensees.   The Manager will manage these agreements and will be responsible for 

ensuring that all terms of the Retail Food Licenses are adhered to fully, manage the daily 
opening and closing of these contractors to coordinate with the Manager ’s offerings, 

collect required payments from the Retail Food Licensees, remit these payments to the 

Authority, and soliciting of additional Retail Food Licenses.   
B. Required Locations. Concession Operations must be provided on the show 

floors of each building in McCormick Place in permanent and temporary locations 
designated by the Authority. The designations are based on show schedules, 

locations, and constraints imposed by the Authority or by show management of 
an Event. Concession Operations must be provided in the following specific 



 

locations of McCormick Place and must be open during show hours, some move-
in and move-out periods, and during other Events designated by the Authority.  

The Director or his/her designee will work with the Manager to ensure adequate 
coverage of Concession Operations for each Event. The Director will have final 

authority in determining which concession locations must be open and 

operational for each Event. The Authority shall have the right to dictate which 
concession area(s) must be open and the hours of operation.   

 
(i) The South Building 

(a) Permanent and Portable Concessions on the Show Floor. 
Concession Operations are required on the show floor during 

show activity and may be provided at Café A1 and A2 located on 

raised platforms within the South Building and from two (2) 
concession stands located on the south end of the show floor 

and a grab and go outlet on the north end of the show floor. 
The halls must also be served by portable Concession Operations 

upon request by the Authority or a Client. 

(b) A permanent coffee stand located on Level 2.5 of the Grand 
Concourse 

(c) The Fine Print Restaurant – Employee Cafeteria  
(d) Bar South and Café South – Located in the S-100 Level 

(e) The Plate Room Food Court – multi-cuisine food court  
(ii) The North Building 
 

(a) Permanent and Portable Concessions on the Show Floor. 
Concession Operations are required in the Grand Concourse 

Lobby, on the show floor and in permanent locations in Halls B1, 
B2, C1 and C2 during show activity. The halls must also be 

served by portable Concession Operations upon request by the 

Authority or a Client. 
(b) Starbucks (Franchisee) 

(c) McDonald’s (Retail Food Licensee) 
(d) Café North – “grab and go” dining 

(e) 23rd Street Café 

(f) Jamba Juice 

(g) A Semi-permanent grab and go location on level 2. Used as a 

Portable Cart Staging area on and as needed basis. 
(h) Connie’s Pizza restaurant (Retail Food Licensee) 

 

 
(iii) The Lakeside Center 
 

(a) Permanent and Portable Concessions on the Show Floor. There 
are no permanent concession locations on the show floor in Halls 

D1, D2 and E of Lakeside Center, and they are serviced entirely 
by portable Concession Operations. Concession Operations are 

also required on the Level 2 Lobby in front of the Arie Crown 

Theatre to service patrons of the theatre before shows and 
during intermission. Concession Operations must also be offered 

on Level 3 East Outdoor Terrace during certain summer Events 
when weather permits and upon request of the Authority or a 

Client. 
(b) Bistro 23 – panini and other sandwiches 



 

(c) Lake Side Café – pizza, sandwiches and salads 
 

(iv) The West Building 
 

(a) Permanent and Portable Concessions. Concession Operations are 

required within Hall F, which may be served by portable 
Concession Operations, and from the Overlook Cafe located on 

raised platforms and from other permanent concession stands 
located at each end of the show floor. (Please see floor plans 

attached as Exhibit II.) Hall F must also be served by portable 
Concession Operations upon request by the Authority or a Client. 

Concessions may also be offered at the West Building Rooftop 
Garden during certain summer Events when weather permits 
and upon request of the Authority or a Client. 

(b) La Brea Sandwiches and Soup 
(c) Starbucks Coffee House (Franchisee) 

(d) West Building Food Court – multi-cuisine food court 

(e) Coffee café station (Level One) 
(f) “270 degrees” used for VIP functions and Event Client catering 

and meetings.   
 

   
Portable Foodservice - The Manager shall be required to provide portable food 

outlets for McCormick Place events.  The Manager may use a combination of 

self-operated internal and franchise brands as well as Retail Food Licensees to 
provide specialty items, which can be sold on a case-by-case basis on the show 

floor or other approved locations. Portable Concession Operations will take the 
form of both mobile thematic carts and portable kiosks. All such pieces of 

equipment will be new and custom designed to fit the needs of McCormick Place. 

Equipment shall be fully outfitted with millwork, special lighting and graphics 
program, shall be UL and NSF approved, and shall highly merchandise the 

products being sold to Clients and guests.  
C. Vending Services. The Manager will be responsible for maintaining a food, 

snack, and hot beverage vending program at McCormick Place in locations to be 

designated by the Authority. All revenue from the program will be reported as 
part of other income and part of Gross Receipts on the financial statement.  All 

soft drink beverage machines under the exclusive beverage sponsorship 
agreement with the Authority's soft drink sponsor are excluded. These beverage 

machines are under the direct control of McCormick Place. All revenues from 
these beverage machines are paid directly to McCormick Place and shall not be 

counted as Gross Receipts.  The Manager may not install any vending machines 

or devices of any type or kind without the prior written consent of the Director. 
 

D. Non-Event Related Concession Operations. The Manager will not be 
required to operate a Concession Operation on days when there is no event-

related activity at McCormick Place. However, during days when there is no 

event related activity, the Manager, upon notification to the Director, may elect 
to open a concession location to service McCormick Place licensees, employees, 

and labor. The decision as to which concession location will be open will be a 
result of communications between the Authority and the Manager but will be 

determined by the Authority alone. 



 

1.3.3 Hours of Operation.  

The hours of operation for Banquet Operations and Concessions Operations shall be 

scheduled by the Manager subject to change by the Authority. 

1.4 Other Services 

1.4.1 Coat Check Services.  

The Manager will operate a coat and luggage check similar in quality and service to 
that of a first-class hotel in the Chicago area. Coat and luggage check may be 

operated in a permanent location or in an area designated by the Authority and/or 
show management. The hours of operation will vary based on the Event schedule. 

 

1.4.2 Labor Proposal 

Manager shall present a labor plan, including every foodservice management 

position proposed, for review and approval by the Director by March 31. This list 
shall include all permanent managers, directors, and supervisors with salary and 

bonus recommendations for the year if requested by the Director.  Once approved 
by the Director, no portion of the labor proposal may be changed, amended or 

deleted without the approval of the Director. Due to the changing volume of 

business, the Authority may permit the Manager 
to adjust the labor schedule upon written notification from the Director. 

1.4.3 Cost of Labor Negotiations 

The Director must approve, in advance, the cost of labor negotiations for labor 

contracts for McCormick Place. If the cost is in direct relation to a negotiation that is 
specific to McCormick Place, then the Authority will consider this fact prior to 

determining whether the cost is a Direct Operating Cost or a corporate expense to 

be paid by the Selected Proposer. The cost of general negotiations that are not 
specific to McCormick Place operations will not be considered a Direct Operating 

Cost and must be paid by the Selected Proposer. 

1.5 Sustainability 

McCormick Place benefits significantly from a reputation as an environmentally conscious facility.  

The Manager must develop and maintain policies, practices, and procedures which are consistent 
with a sustainable, environmentally responsible operation.  The Manager must minimize the 

impact of operations on the environment through programs aimed at limiting consumption of 
non-renewable resources, and encouraging reuse and recycling of waste streams.  At a 

minimum, the Manager will ensure the following: 

1.5.1 Planning  

Manager is required to submit an annual sustainability plan as outlined in Section 

7.2.2 By May 31. Manager will present a final report summarizing all sustainability 
related activities in the previous year, including ongoing and event specific 

programs as well as initiatives undertaken during the reporting year by August 31.  
The report should provide detail on the environmental impact and any additional 

costs and/or savings related to each program or initiative.   

1.5.2 Purchasing 

A. The Manager shall provide recycled/recyclable and compostable and/or 

biodegradable service ware including, serving containers, flatware, cups, 



 

straws, etc. in concession areas and when using disposable goods in banquet 
operations.  Manager will continue to review these offerings and ensure that 

all disposable service ware is selected based on cost, quality, and ease of 
sorting into a desirable diversion stream. 

B. The Manager shall consider the packaging of goods when making purchasing 

decisions.  When selecting items of closely comparable price and quality, 
preference should be given to goods which are delivered in readily reusable 

or recyclable packaging and which minimize packaging. 
C. The Manager shall develop a purchasing network of organic and local 

growers and providers of locally raised meat and fish to meet customer 
requests for those items.   Manager will actively market the availability of 

these options to customers and may charge a reasonable premium for 

additional cost in providing these options. 
D. Manager shall consider the efficient use of natural resources when evaluating 

equipment purchases.  When evaluating items of closely comparable price, 
preference should be given to the equipment which uses resources most 

efficiently. 

1.5.3 Waste Minimization and Diversion 

The Manager shall participate in the facility-wide effort to divert waste from landfills 

through reduction, reuse, and recycling.  At a minimum, the Manager shall either 
work with a waste management company that separates recyclable materials or: 

 
A. Separate and divert the following streams from landfill waste for back of 

house areas including all kitchens, warehouse, preparation, and storage 

areas or other non-public areas utilized by the Manager and for all banquet 
functions. 

1) Recyclables 
2) Wood Pallets 

3) Grease 

4) Compostables  
5) General Waste 

B. Provide an effective process to separate and divert the following streams 
from landfill waste for all public concessions areas at all times. 

1) Recyclables 

2) Compostables 
3) General Waste 

C. Upon request from a facility-contracted show manager, Manager shall 
provide a separate diversion stream for composting of food product and 

compostable service ware in public concession areas.  In the absence of a 
practical method to ensure a separate composting stream that can be 

maintained without attendants, Manager will not be required to set-up 

separate manned composting streams in public areas unless the requesting 
show or facility provides attendants or compensates the Manager to provide 

attendants for this service.   
D. Manager shall not use or allow subcontractors to use any serving container, 

service ware, or other utensils composed of polystyrene (#6) plastics in the 

absence of a viable, recycling or reuse program for those materials. 
 

E. The Manager shall operate and offer to show managers a donation program 
that matches charitable organizations with excess un-served food that is 

legally fit for consumption which has been purchased by events, but not 
consumed.  The Manager will be required to report to the facility the name 



 

of the charitable organization(s) receiving donations through the program 
and the quantity by weight of product donated as well as other agreed upon 

statistics.  Individual show managers can request, and will receive, on an 
individual event basis, the donation information related to their specific 

show. Costs related to this service may be passed on to the customer. 

Additionally, the Manager will be required to report a summary of the 
aggregate donations on a quarterly basis to the Authority.  

1.5.4 Chemicals 

Manager must use non-toxic environmentally friendly cleaning products where 

available.  Any use of cleaning materials which do not obtain Green Seal 
Certification, or similar certification must be approved in writing by the Director. 

1.5.5 Training 

The Manager will provide a defined and documented sustainability training program 
for relevant employees working on site.  This program must contain information on 

the green practices enacted on site, the benefit of these programs on the 
environment and local community, and the commitment of the organization to 

maintain and improve these practices over time. The training will be cost effective 

and take place through strategically positioned graphic display materials and 
operational (stand-up) meetings held by all departments.  

1.5.6 Resource Conservation 

The Manager will continuously review and evaluate solutions which reduce reliance 

on non-renewable resources and limit impact on all natural resources.  Subject to 
health and safety guidelines and industry standards implemented in response to the 

COVID-19 pandemic, Manager will offer the following if requested by the customer: 

 
A. Beverage services which utilize reusable containers and bulk dispensers 

(when safe and practical) as an option to individual personal size servings in 
disposable containers. 

B. Beverage service for banquet operations based on customer request rather 

than placement of pre-poured beverage services. 
C. Utilization and encouragement of customer use of china, and non-disposable 

flatware over disposable service ware wherever practical and safe in light of 
of the COVID-19 pandemic.   

1.5.7 Sustainability Marketing 

Manager will develop and integrate marketing of sustainability programs into all 
published materials to encourage customer understanding of Manager sustainability 

programs and encourage utilization of those offerings and services. 

1.5.8 West Roof Top Garden 

Manager shall be responsible for planting, maintaining, and utilizing the produce 
from a designated food garden space provided by the Authority on the roof of the 

West Building.     

1.5.9 Reporting  

Manager shall report monthly to the Director on the progress of the Food and 

Beverage operations towards the goals agreed to in the sustainability plan described 
in Section 7.2.2. This report must be presented in writing and include monthly and 



 

cumulative information on an agreed upon set of metrics as defined in the 
sustainability plan. 

1.6 Specialized Offerings 

Manager shall make every effort to provide a diverse range of offerings to meet ever-changing 

customer requests.  The Manager must be able to directly provide at a minimum the following 

types of specialized food and beverage services: 
A. Organic 

B. Locally grown and raised 
C. No Added Gluten – Manager will be required to provide food prepared with no added 

gluten. In addition, they will need to be able to provide Gluten Free items, this can 
be with the assistance of an outside contractor.  

D. Healthy Options in both the banquet and concessions operations.  

E. Vegetarian 
F. Vegan 

 
Additionally, the Manager must either be able to provide directly or engage a sublicense which 

can provide Kosher or Halal options or full Kosher Catering for requesting events.  As dietary 

recommendations, requirements and preferences change over time, Manager will be required to 
add offerings to meet these evolving requests through the term of the agreement. 

 

1.7  Approval Required 

All Manager Franchise Agreements and Concession Agreements must be approved by the 
Authority prior to working at McCormick Place. All financial terms and conditions to be entered 

into between the Manager and its respective subcontractors must be approved by the Authority. 

The Authority reserves the final decision on any prices, portions, menus, and/or concepts.   

1.8 Reserve Plan 

By March 31, the Manager shall provide a reserve fund plan for the following fiscal year which 
includes a projection of total expected contributions, and planned expenditures with descriptions 

of use for the categories below: 

 

• Smallwares 

• Equipment inventory and replacement 

• Preventative Maintenance and Repair  

• Marketing and sales promotions 

• Structural modifications 

• Funding for other foodservice related activities 
 

Additionally, the Manager will include a five-year projection of major projects with individual 
values of more than twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) with a focus on potential equipment 

replacement, improvements in equipment and facilities, and service enhancements. 
 

All reserve fund spending must be approved by the Authority.  All structural modifications must 

be reviewed and approved by the Authority.  The Authority reserves the right to manage the 
design, procurement, and construction of any renovations.   

1.9 Equipment and Inventory 



 

1.9.1 Equipment Provided 

The Authority owns all kitchen equipment, Smallwares, banquet equipment, 

concession equipment and supplies, restaurant equipment, bar equipment (fixed 
and portable), office equipment and furniture, cash register systems (Quest) and 

portable, computer hardware and computer software.  

1.9.2 Inventory 

The Manager shall ensure that there is an inventory of Equipment and Smallwares 

adequate to provide the Services to the Clients and guests of McCormick Place at all 
times. The Manager must conduct a complete inventory of all Equipment and 

Smallwares and provide that inventory to the Authority no later than December 31st 
. Copies of the inventory shall be subject to the approval of the Director as to the 

type and similarity to that replaced.  

A. The Authority has provided an inventory of Smallwares, banquet equipment 
and fixed kitchen equipment and supplies to meet the present needs of 

McCormick Place. The Manager is responsible for maintaining the inventory 
at the accepted par level. 

B. Replacements and additions are paid for from the Reserve Fund if adequate 

funds are available. If adequate funds are not available, the replacement or 
addition of inventory shall be paid as a Direct Operating Cost. The Manager 

will make recommendations as to the expected cost of maintaining the 
inventory at par level. 

C. Manager shall develop an inventory system and submit a long-term plan for 
asset management, including preventative maintenance/repair and 

replacement of capital equipment.  Costs to count and manage the inventory 

and repair and replace equipment will be paid from the Reserve Fund.   

1.9.3 Equipment Cleanliness and Appearance 

The Manager must keep all Equipment, furniture, kitchen locations and other 
supplies in well maintained and clean condition, and the Director shall have the right 

to object to the appearance and condition of all kitchens, preparation areas, serving 

areas, receiving docks, storage facility and other locations used by the Manager to 
provide the Services contemplated hereunder. 

1.9.4 Equipment and Safety 

The Manager will be responsible for maintaining the Equipment in safe operating 

condition. Any Equipment that is damaged or is not functioning properly should be 

repaired or replaced as soon as possible with Authority approval. No Equipment 
shall be disposed of without the prior consent of the Authority. 

1.10 Insurance 

The Manager must maintain the types of insurance coverage described in Required Form G 

“Insurance Requirements.” Each Proposal must be accompanied by independent written 
documentation of the Proposer’s ability to procure all of the stipulated insurance from reputable 

commercial sources in the amounts, coverage, scope and form set forth in Required Form G. 

 

1.11 Compliance 



 

1.11.1 Liquor Requirements 

Throughout the Term of the Agreement the Manager, at its own expense, will be 

required to secure and maintain all liquor licenses necessary for the required 
Services. This will include, but not be limited to, licenses for catering, concessions, 

mobile carts, and restaurant locations. There are presently eleven (11) liquor 

licenses at McCormick Place and three (3) at Wintrust Arena. All personnel involved 
in dispensing or serving liquor must be fully trained and certified through an 

educational alcohol selling and servicing program such as the “TIPS Program” or 
another similar alcohol dispensing program. 

1.11.2 Sanitation Requirements 

 

A. The Manager shall be responsible for ensuring that the Services and all 

facilities under the operational jurisdiction of the Manager satisfy all public health 
and sanitation standards and requirements as established by the Authority and 

City, State, and/or Federal Laws. All management personnel must be certified in 
sanitation and food handling and satisfy all City, State and Federal Laws. 

B. The Manager shall be responsible and shall set aside sufficient funds for 

cleaning and sanitation of all areas utilized for production and service for the 
Banquet and Concession Operations. 

C. To the extent that the Manager does not have the requisite expertise to 
perform the cleaning services, the Manager may, and the Authority strongly 

encourages the Manager to, contract with an outside cleaning company of its 
own choosing to provide such services. The cost of such services shall be a 

Direct Operating Cost. 

D. The Manager shall provide to the Authority a detailed cleaning plan and 
maintenance schedule. 

E. The Manager shall be responsible for and consider all cleaning and sanitation 
costs and expenses for the following: 

(i) All food pods / concession seating areas (during active periods) / 

kitchens / freezers and refrigerators and coolers 
(ii) All restaurant outlets / food courts / seating areas / back of house areas 

(iii) All kitchens / storage spaces / Equipment 
(iv) All docks / trash compactors / receiving areas specific to food service 

(v) All banquet spaces / corridors / staging areas for foodservice 

(vi) Any space 50 feet from Banquet Operations or Concession Operations 
while in operation. 

(vii) All service elevators used exclusively in transporting food and beverage 

1.12 Miscellaneous 

1.12.1 “D/B/A” Designation 

The Authority reserves the right to designate the name under which the Manager 

will provide Services to McCormick Place. The approved name shall remain the 

property of the Authority. 

1.12.2 Parking 

The Authority will provide to certain employees of the Manager parking spaces 
(subject to availability) at McCormick Place at a discount off of the published rates 

in effect at the time of such usage. The Authority reserves the right to modify at 

any time the rate, including charging full value for the parking spaces, and it 



 

reserves the right to limit at any time the number of spaces available to the 
Manager. 

1.12.3 Facilities, Premises and Computers 

The Authority will provide the Manager with office space, office furniture, office 

equipment, computer hardware, booking/scheduling software, and the standard 

office software at the Authority’s cost.  The Manager must use the 
booking/scheduling software. If requested by the Authority, the Manager will be 

responsible for migrating their Banquet Event Order process from a stand alone 
database to the facility’s Event Management Software.  While the Manager will be 

responsible for the cost of all software required to perform its Services, the 
Authority has the exclusive right, but not the obligation, to approve, install, and 

configure all software loaded on or hardware attached to the Authority’s computers.  

Subject to any restrictions stated in the Agreement, the Manager will have use of 
various facilities designated by the Authority including, but not limited to, receiving 

docks, the main kitchens, the warming kitchens, the permanent concession stands, 
and other premises to be identified by the Authority.  The Manager is responsible 

for preserving and transferring all licenses and data used and created in its 

operations to ensure that MPEA or any successor has access to and may benefit 
from such data.   

1.12.4 Appearance of Food and Beverage Areas 

The Director will have the right to object to the appearance and condition of the 

receiving docks, storage facilities, kitchens, preparation areas, and serving areas, 
and the Manager will be expected to remedy the appearance and condition 

immediately. 

1.12.5  Authority Provided Services 

A. Pest Control: 

The Authority provides a complex-wide pest control program. The Manager will 
participate and assist in the maintenance of the program through excellent 

sanitation practices. There may be occasions when the Manager may elect to 

provide additional measures for controlling rodents, birds, and other pests in the 
foodservice designated areas. Expenses related to Manager provided pest control 

are Direct Operating Costs. 
 

B. Utilities:  Authority shall furnish pursuant to the grant of rights under this 

Agreement, to Manager all existing utility lines and plumbing fixtures, including 
hot and cold water lines and electric lines, stubbed in to the Food Service Areas, 

and all necessary heat, ventilation, air conditioning, hot and cold water, gas and 
electricity, exterior window washing and re-lamping services adequate to enable 

Manager to operate and utilize all fixtures and equipment used in performing the 
Food Services.  Manager will be responsible for paying for electrical usage and 

the cost of installing and removing temporary electrical services as defined in 

Section 7.3 of the Agreement. 
 

C. Labor:  The Authority will provide various labor and services to the Manager 
during the Term such as, but not necessarily limited to telecommunication, 

electrical, plumbing and other services in relation to Banquet and Concession 

Operations.  The actual costs for these services shall be invoiced by the Authority 
and paid by the Manager as Direct Operating Costs. 



 

1.12.6 Energy Management 

The Manager will be expected to practice sound energy management and cooperate 

with the Authority Energy Management Program. 

 



EXHIBIT C 
 

THIRD PARTY SANITATION REVIEWS 

 
Pursuant to section 4.3.2 of the Agreement, a third party will conduct unannounced 
quarterly inspections using the attached criteria.   



UL Everclean

EVERCLEAN AUDIT KEY
SECTION I – Major Criticals

Immediate training will be provided whenever any of the subcategories in Section I are marked.

FOOD TEMPERATURES/ PROTECTION

1 Holding of Potentially Hazardous Foods

60-129°F

Two or more holding/storage units are failing and have PHF in the danger

zone .

Multiple Systems Breakdown Holding

PHF in the Danger Zone

Example: Line drawers are malfunctioning and holding food at 44°F and

walk-in unit is storing foods at 43°F. Or, reach-in is holding food at 45°F and

steam table is holding food at 133°F.
Note: Less obvious PHF’s are sprouts, garlic in oil, undercooked bacon,

many ranch dressings, guacamole, and sliced melons.
Remember the term “FAT-TOM”. Bacteria need Food, low Acid, Time,

Temperature, Oxygen, and Moisture to grow.
Note: This category is not to include receiving, prep, or serving temperatures

observed in the zone 42-59°F or 130-139/134°F. This should be deducted at

Section 2, #14.
         Pork, Fish and whole muscle beef must be cooked to 145°F
         Ground meat must be cooked to 155°F
         Poultry and stuffed foods must be cooked to 165°F

Note: Food items that are requested under-cooked (hamburgers cooked rare

to medium) may be cooked to any temp if requested by or disclosed to the

customer.

3 Improper Reheating Note: Food from a hermetically sealed container can be “heated” to

140/135ºF before hot holding.

    Reheating for hot holding: 165ºF for 15 seconds, rapidly within 2 hours.

   Reheating for immediate service: any temperature.

Note: PHFs must be cooled from 140/135°F to 70ºF within two hours, and

from 70º to 41ºF in four hours thereafter.
         Use ice sticks and/or ice baths.
         Spread food in a shallow pan < 2” deep.
         Separate food into smaller portions.
         Add ice as an ingredient, if applicable.
         Use containers that facilitate heat transfer.
         Use rapid cooling equipment, when available.
Examples: Dangerous foreign object in food (band aid/glass). Co-mingling

shellfish (includes co-mingling species, bay, harvest date). Insect

contaminated product. Marinating spoiled meat or dipping spoiled meat in

blood to conceal spoilage. Excessive food additives. Blood pooled on ready-

to-eat food from meat above. Refrigerator condensation leaking into ready-to-

eat food.

* If observed, contact supervisor immediately.

2 Improper Cooking

4 Improper Cooling

5 Adulterated Food/Approved Source

Examples: Handling food with bandage but without food-handlers’ gloves.

Open sores on hands of personnel handling food. Persistent runny nose

requiring frequent wiping. Coughing or sneezing in food preparation area.

Productive wound on hand or less than healed burn/ wound on hand or arm

that is not bandaged & gloved.

EMPLOYEE PRACTICES

6 Disease Transmission-Productive Wound

Page 1
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Handwashing Infraction Examples: Personnel who handle food, equipment, linen or utensils after:

using the restroom, first arriving to work, sweeping the floor, changing duties,

changing from raw food to ready-to-eat, eating, coughing, touching their

body, or touching the bottom of a box, without first washing hands.

Note: When supplies are not available on site, Section 1, #7 only will be

marked. If the dispenser is empty but can be refilled, Section 2, #23 will be

marked.
Note: If dispenser is empty, points are deducted at Section 2 (#23)
Note: If towels / soap are "on" the dispenser and not "in" it, deduct Section 3

(#34).
Note: When dispensers are damaged, Section 3 (#34) will be marked.
Note: If a handwash is performed, but done incorrectly, Section 2 (#25) will

be marked and directed training will be provided.

VERMIN

8 Rodents/ Cockroaches – Active
* If observed, contact Everclean immediately.

Examples: Fresh droppings, gnaw marks, nesting, grease marks, live rodent

or dead carcass (in or out of trap) inside the building. Do not open traps.

Examples: When one or more live cockroaches is seen inside the building.

Note: If dead cockroaches are seen, or roaches/rodents are seen outside, then

Section 3, #54 is marked.

Example: Filth / houseflies (x2 or more) or concentration of nusissance flies

(>5-10) in food areas. Flies apt to touch foods (particularly ready-to-eat food)

or in food (x1).

Note: Filth flies in floor drains or non-food areas are marked at Sec 3, #55.

WATER/SANITIZING
Example: No sanitizing. This includes hot water at 180°F (manifold), 160°F

(water temp), OR no chemical available for sanitizing.
Note: Deduct Section 1 ALWAYS for hot water machines if the manager

does not set up a 3-bay dish sink & for chemical machines ONLY if there is

no sanitizer in the restaurant.

No Water/No Hot Water at > 2 Sinks Examples: No water available throughout entire facility.

* If observed, contact Everclean immediately.          The facility lacks hot water (120ºF) at every sink deduct at #11.
         If warm water (100ºF) is missing in 2+ handsinks deduct at #29.

         If warm water ( 100ºF) is missing at 1 handsink deduct at #42 only.

Sewage Backup Examples: Overflowing or clogged grease trap. Overflowing floor drains or

floor sinks. Sewage is overflowing into facility. Toilets are overflowing.

* If observed, contact Everclean immediately.
Note: If floor drains are merely clogged and draining slowly so that there is

no risk of surfaces becoming contaminated, Section 3, #40 is marked only.
Note: Sewage observed on floors (not overflowing), mark Section 3, #53

only.
Note: Sewage observed on equipment, mark Section 2, #26.

13 Toilets Only marked when all toilets are inoperable.

* If observed, contact Everclean immediately.

7

11

12

10 Sanitizing – Dishmachine/Dishsink

9 Flies – Immediate Risk
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SECTION II – Criticals
FOOD TEMPERATURES/ PROTECTION

Example: Holding PHF 42 -59ºF & 130-134/139ºF in just one area (i.e.

storage, holding, receiving) thereby posing a moderate risk.
Note: If more than one holding/storage unit has PHF in the zone 42-59°F or

130-134/139°F this is an equipment breakdown and should be marked at

Section 1, #1.
Example: 40 lbs. of PHF on the cutting board while a cook is chopping other

foods. If the product is at an obvious hazardous temperature, mark the

category.
Note: Excessive amounts of food cannot be diligently prepared. Personnel

should take out one PHF product out at a time to prep.
Example: Thawing on counter tops. Thawing food in hot water. Product is

not submerged or is in standing water.
Proper thawing:

         Thawing in the walk-in is the most ideal.
         Place product in temperate running water, product submerged.
         Cook food from frozen (burger patties).
         Thaw in the microwave, immediately before cooking.

17 Food Storage Containers Examples: Covering Violations: Uncovered containers, food covered with a

towel, double stacking (nesting) food without rigid covers, bulk food stored in

original container open or uncovered.

Labeling Violations: Bulk ingredients not labeled (i.e. rice, sugar, salt, etc.),

PHF held > 24 hours not marked with discard date.

Elevation Violations: Food container on floor.

18 Contamination Risk Examples: Preparing food anywhere besides food handling areas. Washing

hands in food prep sink. Disposing of wastewater in a food prep sink. Using a

cutting board on top of a trashcan or in dish or storage areas. Not washing

produce before preparation. Food employees touching ready-to-eat foods

without a barrier (i.e. gloves, paper wrappers, tongs, scoops, etc.). Scoop

buried in food/ice.

Examples: Raw chicken stored over fish in a cooler (includes freezers and

line drawers). Any raw food above ready-to-eat food (even if covered).

Note: They may be on the same shelf as long as they are covered & the

containers are separated from each other by distance to minimize cross

contact.

Note: Food is considered stored when put in a "door" of a cabinet. In-use (or

working supply) food does not have to be covered if stored in a contamination-

free way.
Examples: Food displayed without a sneeze guard, or sneeze guard is

inadequate. Guest enters/passes through food preparation area (without

adequate space or protection).
Note: Bar garnishes and decorative fruit fall into this category. Everclean will

not deduct unless the Health Authority deducts.

23 Handsinks Not Stocked Examples: If any dispenser is empty but can be refilled.

Note: When supplies are not available on site, Section 1, #7 shall be marked.

Note: When dispensers are damaged, but supplies are installed Section 3, #34

shall be marked.
Note: Deduct even if this violation is corrected on site.

24 Hazardous Chemicals – Storage/Use – High

Risk

Examples: Chemical containers stored in food prep area. An unapproved

insecticide used in food prep area. Unapproved food equipment lubricant

used. Chemicals or cleansers on same shelves as foods in the storage areas.

Sanitizer buckets on a food shelf.

Holding of PHF – 42-59°F & 130-134/139°F14

15 Diligent Preparation

16 Improper Thawing

20 Food Unprotected from Consumer (Sneeze

guards)

19 Ready-To-Eat Food Exposed to

Contamination
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25 Employee Practices Examples: Personnel are eating, drinking, or smoking in a work area. A cook

is observed sitting on a food preparation table. Improper glove use. Improper

handwash (wash hands in cold water, wash hands for 5 seconds, etc.)

Note: An employee observed chewing gum should be deducted at Section 3,

#35.

UTENSILS/EQUIPMENT/SHELVING/CABINETS

26 Food Contact Surfaces – Equipment &

Utensils

Examples: When knives, cutting boards, inside of ice-maker, utensils or

wares in storage, fan guards in coolers with uncovered food items, soda or

beer dispensing nozzles or other food contact surfaces are encrusted with

food, mildew, dust, grease or other debris.

Dishmachine is operating without soap.
Note: When in-use utensils and food contact surfaces should be cleaned a

minimum of every 4 hours.
Note: Immediate washing, rinsing and sanitizing of scales, slicers, mixers and

similar equipment needs to occur at completion of each task.
Note: Items that are non-food contact surfaces will be deducted at Section 3,

#39 (i.e. inside a mechanism of a beverage machine housing, inside a fryer

cabinet, gaskets, shelves, under grill).

27 Sanitizing – Dishmachine/Dishsink Examples: Failure to sanitize kitchen utensils. Failure to sanitize food contact

surfaces (e.g. cutting boards). Failure to sanitize probe thermometers before

each use.

Examples: Dishmachine sanitizer too low/high. Dishmachine was not

reaching temp upon initial inspection but was fixed during audit.

Note: This deduction is not for sanitizer buckets, this should be marked at

Section 3, #50.

PLUMBING/FIXTURES

Missing Backflow Device Examples: A hose, attached to any outlet fixture, extends below the flood

level rim of a sink without an approved backflow prevention device. A

missing or damaged atmospheric vacuum breaker on a garbage grinder or

mechanical dishwasher.
Note: Lack of an air gap for equipment drain lines will be marked in Section

3, #41.
Note: If an old facility has a directly connected waste line, note only.

Note: “Note” this violation the 1st time observed, take points if repeated.

29 Critical Sink Fixture

No Hot Water at 2 sinks

Examples: Handsink is blocked, or items are stored inside of or on top of the

sink. Washing anything (other than hands) in handsink. Sink removed after

final plan check. Hot (or cold) water takes an excessive amount of time to

reach sink. No water available to a sink.

         The facility lacks hot water (120ºF) at every sink deduct at #11.

         If warm water (100ºF) is missing in 2+ handsinks deduct at #29.

         If warm water (100ºF) is missing at 1 handsink deduct at #42 only.

Note: If handwashing is not taking place, warm water (100ºF) ( must be

available within 60 seconds.

28
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SECTION III – Potentially Critical

31 Spoilage/Mold on Fruit Examples: Products have the appearance of spoilage as indicated by

organoleptic (smell, sight, touch) senses, as in the case of slimy chicken or

ammonia-smelling fish. Moldy food products. PHF oxygen reduced (cryovac)

package exceeds “use by” date.
When food products have been contaminated and pose a low risk to the

public’s health and safety.
Examples: Hair found in food. Fruit flies in alcohol. Condensation from

refrigerator dripping onto raw meats that will be cooked (if dripping onto

ready-to-eat food deduct at Section 1, #5). Swollen canned goods. Cans

dented along the seam or rim.

33 Improper Inspection at Delivery/

Transportation
Examples: Manager accepts without inspecting and temping PHF.

Transporting PHF in non-refrigerated truck.

PLUMBING/FIXTURES

Dispensers – Soap/ Towel Broken, but

Supplies Readily Available

Example: A roll of paper towels sitting on top of a towel dispenser. A bar of

soap (instead of liquid soap from a dispenser) is at a handsink. When

dispensers are damaged but supplies installed.
Note: When supplies are not available on site, Section 1, #7 only will be

marked. If the dispenser is empty but can be refilled, Section 2, #23 will be

marked.

35 Employee Hygiene
Examples: Lack of approved hair restraints. Soiled outer garments. Personnel

preparing food are wearing nail polish, acrylic nails, or nails are not trimmed

and no gloves are worn. Employees preparing food are wearing a ring

(wedding band ok) with no gloves. Employees preparing food are wearing

bracelets or a long, dangling necklace. Employee chewing gum.

36 Shellfish Tags/ Records When the facility does not maintain shellfish certification tags/records for 90

days from receipt, as required.

37 Hazardous Materials/ Chemicals - low risk Examples: A single chemical in a food area or utensil area stored in a

container that is tightly sealed with no practical chance of contaminating food,

utensils or food contact surfaces. An unlabeled spray bottle in a janitorial

cabinet. Sanitizer buckets without a label.

38 Interior Premises – Improper Storage/

Linen/ Cast-off

Examples: Dirty linen stored in the food prep area. Paint containers in any

food storage or handling area. Storing a plant/flower in the walk-in

refrigerator. Storing equipment that is broken or no longer in use at the

restaurant (cast-off = abandoned).
When areas that do not contact food become dirty.
Examples: Fryer cabinets, under grills, shelving, contact surfaces of handles,

hinges, fan guards (if all food is covered), gaskets, microwaves, inside

coolers, ice maker door, etc.

PLUMBING/FIXTURES/EQUIPMENT DRAINAGE
Sink not clean, clogged, or slow draining.

Examples: Faucet leaking from any sink. Floor sink soiled with food debris.

Dirty hand washing sink. Unapproved faucet extension at 3 compartment

sink. Sink not secured to wall, cracked sink. Metered handsink does not stay

on for 10 – 20 seconds (depending on local law).

No air gap, not secure, poor installation, leaking, unapproved discharge.
Examples: Reach-in cooler draining to bucket/floor/pan. Drain line without

an air gap. Employee sweeping waste water into alley. Espresso line draining

to hand sink. Ice machine condensate draining to exterior flower bed. Drain

line leaking from any sink. Uncapped drain line. Drain line from condensate

pan is leaking in walk-in refrigerator.

32 Pure food/Dented cans

34

39 Non Food Contact Surface – Unclean

40 Sink/Floor Sink/Floor Drain

41 Supply Line/Waste Line
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Example: Only one handsink in the facility does not reach the temperature of

100°F on demand if handwashing is taking place.

         The facility lacks hot water (120ºF) at every sink deduct at #11.

         If warm water (100ºF) is missing in 2+ handsinks deduct at #29.

         If warm water (100ºF) is missing at 1 handsink deduct at #42 only.

Note: Combination handsinks are only required to reach 110°F.
VENTILATION/LIGHTING

43 Hood Not clean, in disrepair, missing filters, improper installation/gap

Examples: Hood is not operating properly. Drip pan not in place or

overfilled. Gap between baffles. Not enough pull to affect tissue. Exhaust fan

is not kept clean or the filters are missing.

44 Lighting/Light Shields Poor lighting, light shields missing/broken, endcaps missing.

Examples: Burned out bulb in storage room. Missing shields near food areas

and/or no end caps. Inoperable light in walk-in refrigerator. Dirty light shield

/ fixture in refrigerator. Water inside the light shield of the walk-in.

45 Ventilation - General Examples: Unclean ceiling vent. There is no 6-inch overhang over broiler.

Gas rice cooker not installed under a hood. Hood is turned off while cooking.

No ventilation system in the food storage room. Missing screen to ventilation

system. Blocked make-up air vent. No ventilation system or window in the

toilet room.
UTENSILS/EQUIPMENT/SHELVING/CABINETS

46 Condition – Disrepair Examples: Torn refrigerator gaskets. Ice build up in the walk-in freezer.

Missing fan guard. Evaporator pan in walk-in leaking. Rusty shelves in the

walk-in. Damaged utensils or wares (chipped dishes or glassware, cracked

lexans, ice scoop with rough edges). Missing refrigerator handle. Plastic

coating peeling off of shelves. Fry baskets in poor condition. If there is not

any sanitizer residual on the gauge <180F at the dish machine and

management is aware of the problem and has taken the necessary actions to

correct the situation: If gauge at the dishmachine reads >200F, for disrepair.

Storage (Non Food)
Examples: Pots/pans/multi-use dishes stored on floor. Utensils stored in a

mop sink. Storing knives between equipment and wall. Ice scoop stored in the

ice bin (if handle has fallen into ice, deduct at Section 2, #18). Cases of ‘to-

go’ containers stored on the floor or in an unapproved area. Improper storage

of in-use utensils (incl. dipper well off). Pans wet nested (without residue).
Note: Everclean recommends storing in-use utensils in the most sanitary

fashion. The most commonly accepted methods of holding utensils while in

use are:
            Clean and dry, In clean water 135/140°F or hotter
            In food, handle out, and In running water

Unapproved Type/Improper Use/ Improper

Installation

Examples: Using milk crates as shelves to store utensils or food. Lining

shelves with cardboard, towels, aluminum foil or any other unapproved

material. Knives stored in an unapproved wooden block. Using plastic bags to

plug drain.
Utensils too large to fit in 3 bay sink.
Using an ice chest to store customer ice.
Re-using single-service food containers for food.
Soda dispensing unit installed in janitorial room.
Using a cup or bowl to dispense bulk food. Using domestic equipment. Using

enamel/ceramic pots.
Wet cloth under cutting board. Inoperative equipment is used for another

purpose (broken refrigerator or microwave is used as a storage cabinet).
Wrapping utensil handles with cloth, string or tape.
Plastic shopping bags used for food storage. Using a beverage-only

refrigerator for PHF storage.

47

42 No Hot Water – No Immediate Risk

48
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49 Wiping Cloth –Not Clean/Not Stored in

Sanitizer Solution

Examples: Personnel is wiping dining tables and prep tables with same cloth.

Personnel is wiping different food contact surfaces with same cloth without

first sanitizing cloth. Wiping cloth stored in bucket of excessively soiled

water. Using soiled wiping cloth to wipe any surface. Wet wiping cloths are

stored outside of sanitizer solution.
Examples: Sanitizer test kit is not available. Sanitizer buckets ppm is not at

the following: 50ppm-200ppm Chlorine 200ppm QAC (uses QT 10 or 30

strips) 150-400ppm QAC 146 (uses QT 40 strips)
Note: Never mark a dishmachine here. Dish machine ppm will be deducted at

Section 1, #10 or Section 2, #27. Note: Check manufacturer’s label to

determine what concentration is required for any particular sanitizer.
Examples: Equipment: Missing/inoperable/inaccurate (+/-3° F) thermometer

at any unit holding PHF.
Food: Missing/inoperable/inaccurate probe thermometer (+/- 2°F).

Thermometer at refrigeration units not conspicuous.

WALLS / CEILINGS/FLOORS

52 Deterioration/Unapproved Materials/

Facility not Fully Enclosed

Examples: Missing base coving or floor tiles. Peeling paint/plaster. Missing

grout. Walls not smooth and easily cleanable/light colored to reveal dirt.

Missing electrical or switch cover. Vinyl floor tiles in food area. Missing,

broken or unapproved ceiling panels (acoustic type). Deteriorated caulking at

wall and handsink junction. Loose FRP (fiberglass reinforced plastic)/metal

flashing. Deteriorated floor in walk-in refrigerator (aggregate/gravel

exposed). Dirty ceiling fans.

53 Clean Floors, Walls, Ceilings Examples: Mold, grease, food debris, dirt on walls, ceilings (including panels

and vents) or floors.

VERMIN

54 Rodents/Cockroaches – No Active

Population

Examples: Holes and gaps with indication of rodent harborage (nesting

materials, dead carcasses in traps adjacent to exterior doors) with no active

infestation. Outer door at the bottom has a gap greater than 1/4”. Old

droppings on storage shelf. Do not open traps.
Examples: Fruit flies and/or regular flies in the delivery staging/loading dock

area only. Flies in dishwashing area or around floor sink.
Note: Filth flies in the food areas will be deducted at Section 1, #9.

56 Open Door/Air curtain/Window Examples: Open doors without fly-exclusion devices/doors maintained open.

Inadequate air curtain. Missing/torn window screens. Operator deactivated

the air curtain. Delivery door kept open with no air curtain or air curtain

turned off.

TOILETS/TOILET ROOMS/DRESSING ROOMS

57 Toilet(s) – Disrepair/Not Clean/Tissue in

Dispenser

Urinal in men’s inoperable. One toilet clogged but another available. Toilet

improperly secured to wall or floor. Unclean facilities. No toilet tissue.

Dispenser off wall and/or tissue not in dispenser. Soiled toilet tissue not

disposed in toilet. Toilet room door propped open.

58 Toilet Room Doors Self-Closing Removed, missing or damaged, self-closing device.

59 Personal items Note: Personal food should be in a covered container on bottom shelf.

Examples: Change room cluttered/unclean. Personal items (jacket, radio,

food, newspaper, cigarettes, keys) stored in food prep or storage area.

REFUSE/PREMISES/JANITORIAL

60 Janitorial Supplies/Equipment/Tools in

Improper Place

Examples: Mop bucket/mop/brooms stored next to ice machine/too close to

food prep areas. Janitorial area in disrepair/not clean. Brooms stored on floor.

Mop nested on floor, not hung to dry. Okay if mop in wringer.

61 Refuse Containers/Exterior Premises Examples: Exterior refuse containers propped open. Containers encrusted w/

waste, overflowing, leaking. Cardboard used as a trash receptacle. No trash

can in toilet room. Accumulation of cast-off and litter at the exterior of the

building.

55 Other Insects – Low Risk

50 Sanitizer Buckets – Improper

Concentration/Test Kit

51 Thermometer – Probe/Equipment
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SECTION IV – Administrative

SIGNS/PERMITS

62 Health Inspection/Permit Not Available for

Review

Inspection reports should be readily available. Some states require them

available for patrons, sometimes it just needs to be available for the Everclean

auditor. Grades must be posted near door. Permit should be current. This sub-

category will be marked if facility’s health inspection or permit cannot be

found.

63 Certification (Food Safety Manager) Serv-safe, Registry, Experior, state sponsored, etc. These certifications should

be in a conspicuous place.

64 Food Handler Card (where applicable) Cards must be current and conspicuous.

65 Signs – Handwashing/Smoking/Choking/ Handsinks and prep sinks should be identified.

Consumer Advisory/Methyl Mercury No smoking, eating, drinking signs should be posted.

Advisory (CA only) Choking sign should be posted.
A Consumer Advisory warning must be written or implied by using words

like: cooked to order, seared, etc. if a food contains a specific raw or

undercooked ingredient.
California facilities that serve fish must have a Methyl Mercury Advisory

posted.

67 Temperature Logs Mark this if temperature logs are not in use/up to date.

68 Pest Traps Not Secured Mark this if traps are not secure or are too close to food and food stuff.

69 Pest Binder/File Complete Must include: a) look at last pest report, b) capture data and comment c)

double check structural and sanitation issues.

70 Master Cleaning Schedule Mark this if a master cleaning schedule is not in use/posted.

71 MSDS (Material Safety Data Sheets) Mark if MSDS not complete or in right-to-know station.

RISK MANAGEMENT

76 Cutting Glove Available Although not cutting/slicing, a glove should still be available.

77 Cutting Glove in Use
Deduct here if prep involving cutting is taking place and no gloves are worn.

78
Wet Floor Sign/Available/Covers Wet Area

Deduct here if signs are not available/not large enough to cover wet area.

79 Employees Wearing Slip Resistant Shoes Deduct here if employees are not wearing slip-resistant shoes.

80 Other Use as needed.
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 FOOD SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT
AUDITOR: DATE: TOTAL SCORE  

MANAGER: UNIT #:

TIME IN:

STREET ADDRESS:

 in = in compliance; out = out of compliance; no = not observed 

      SECTION I - Risk Factors
POINT VALUE - 7 POINTS FOR EACH OPPORTUNITY - MAX POINTS 35 

  

1 in out no FOH BOH A  

 O Proper hot holding temperatures

O Proper cold holding temperatures B

2 in out no Proper cooking time and temperature  BOH

3 in out no Proper reheating procedures for hot holding  BOH

4 in out no Proper cooling time and temperatures  BOH 8* in out no Rodents/ Cockroaches - active FOH BOH

O Deep container O Mice or rats

O Covered container O Roaches

O No ice bath 9 in out no Flies - immediate risk FOH BOH

O Not stirred

10 in out no Sanitizing - dishmachine/ dishsink FOH BOH

5 in out no Food in good condition, safe and unadulterated FOH BOH O Chemical sanitizer not available in restaurant

 O Approved Source    

6* in out no Employee health FOH BOH 11* in out no No water/ no hot water at 2 or more sinks FOH BOH

O Unprotected coughing or sneezing

O No discharge from eyes, nose, mouth 12* in out no Sewage backup - (includes toilets, drains, sinks,etc) FOH BOH

7 in out no Hands clean and properly washed FOH BOH O Dishroom O Restroom

 O Not washing hands as needed O Line O Other
  13* in out no Toilets - no operable toilets FOH BOH

SECTION II - Risk Factors

14 in out no Holding of PHF 42-59ºF or 130-139ºF FOH BOH 24 in out no Toxic substances FOH BOH

O Proper hot holding temperatures O Properly identified

O Proper cold holding temperatures O Properly stored

   O Properly used

15 in out no Diligent preparation  BOH

O Too much food being prepped 25 in out no Employee practices FOH BOH

O Food not being attended to in timely manner  O Proper eating, tasting, drinking, or tobacco use

16 in out no Improper Thawing  BOH O Drink/ food in designated place

O Room temperature O No barehand contact with RTE food

O Standing water O Improper glove use

O Not submerged in running water

O Fish thawed in cryovac packaging

26 in out no Food contact surfaces - cleaned and sanitized FOH BOH

17 in out no Food Protected (containers) FOH BOH O Can opener O  

O Not covered in storage O Blender O  Mixer  

O Not labeled (non descript food)  O Slicer O  Ice machine  

O Not elevated 6" O Scale O  Ice bin

18 in out no Food Protected (contamination) FOH BOH O Utensil/ holder Soda Nozzle

O Washing fruits and vegetables O Plates O  Soda Gun

O Using a cutting board on a trash can O Tea nozzle

O Food prepared in unapproved area O Dicer Cutting board

O Scoop buried in food O

O Prep sink not washed between uses 27 in out no Sanitizing - dishmachine/ dishsink FOH BOH

19 in out no Food Separated FOH BOH  O ppm low O water temp too low

O Raw over ready-to-eat (RTE) O ppm high O water temp too high

O Raw poultry over other raw foods 28 in out no Plumbing installed; proper backflow devices FOH BOH

20 in out no O Water and ice from approved source

23 in out no Handsinks not stocked FOH BOH 29 in out no Critical handsink fixture FOH BOH

O No soap O Handsink inaccessible or blocked 

O No towels O Sink inoperable or misused

Food Unprotected from Customer (sneezeguards) 

WATER and SANITIZING

Points Deducted

Knife/ holder

Points Deducted

VERMIN

Food processor

Food container - wet with residue/ unclean

PREVENTING CONTAMINATION

POTENTIALLY HAZARDOUS FOOD

SEWAGE

POINT VALUE - 4 POINTS FOR  EACH OPPORTUNITY - MAX POINTS 36 

PROTECTION FROM CONTAMINATION

Directed Training (0 points)

* CONTACT SUPERVISOR IMMEDIATELY    

GOOD HYGIENIC PRACTICES

PROTECTION FROM CONTAMINATION

CHEMICAL

CONCEPT:

POTENTIALLY HAZARDOUS FOOD

Holding of PHF  60-129ºF

 
TIME OUT:

O  

O   
O  
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NAME: ADDRESS: DATE:
 

SECTION III - Good Retail Practices
POINT VALUE - 1 POINT FOR EACH OPPORTUNITY - MAX POINTS 30 

31 Spoilage/ mold on produce FOH BOH 47 Storage (low risk) FOH BOH

32 Pure food/ dented cans/ bad rim/ no spoils area FOH BOH O Dipper well off
33 Improper inspection at delivery/ transportation FOH BOH O Wedged utensils O  Pans wet nested w/o residue

O Inverted single-use items O  Scoop handle touching food

34 Dispensers -soap/ towel broken FOH BOH 48 Unapproved type/ improper use/ improper installation FOH BOH

35 Employee hygiene & cleanliness FOH BOH O Tape on utensils O  

O Missing hair restraints (hairnet or hat) O Foil lining equipment O  

O Soiled apron/ uniforms O Cardboard on floor O  Food in plastic grocery bags

O Fake or painted nails/ jewelry on hands and arms O Scoop w/o handle

O Employee chewing gum O Absorbent material lining shelves

37 Hazardous materials/ chemicals - low risk FOH BOH 49 Wiping cloth : properly used and stored FOH BOH

38 Interior premises -storage of linen/ castoff FOH BOH 50 Sanitizer buckets - improper concentration/ test kit FOH BOH

39 Non food contact surfaces - unclean FOH BOH O QUAT / CL too high

O Shelves/ Racks O  Gaskets O QUAT / CL too low 

O Counters O  Fryer cabinet O QUAT dispenser at improper level

O Bar refrigerators O  Under grill O No test strips available

O FOH refrigerators O  Oven O Wrong strips in use 

O BOH refrigerators O  Oven knobs 51 Thermometers provided and accurate FOH BOH

O Fan guards O  Ice maker lid O Not conspicuous/ visible Improper use

O Dishmachine O  Microwave O Not accurate O  Not NSF approved

O Soda gun holder O  Other:

52 Deterioration/ unapproved materials FOH BOH

40 Sink/ floor sink/ floor drain FOH BOH 53 Unclean floors, walls, ceiling FOH BOH

O Not clean O Floors

 O Clogged/ slow draining O Walls

41 Supply line/ waste line FOH BOH O Ceiling

 O No air gap O Standing water (floor)

O Not secure, poor installation

 O Leaking 54 Rodents/ cockroaches - no active population FOH BOH

42 No hot water - no immediate risk (1 sink) FOH BOH 55 FOH BOH

43 Hood - not clean/ disrepair/ missing/ gap FOH BOH 56 Open door/ air curtain/ window FOH BOH

44 Poor lighting FOH BOH

 O Missing or broken light shield endcap 57 Toilet(s)-disrepair/ not clean/ tissue in dispenser FOH BOH

 O Missing endcap 58 Toilet room doors not self-closing FOH BOH

45 Ventilation - unclean ceiling vent FOH BOH 59 Dressing room/ personal items FOH BOH

46 Condition - disrepair FOH BOH

O O  Knives 60 Janitorial - supplies/ equipment/ tools in improper place FOH BOH

O Cutting boards O  Utensils 61 Refuse containers/ exterior premises FOH BOH

O Wares O  Gaskets O Trash receptacle

O Equipment O  Shelves O Grease receptacle
O Plates O  Other: O

     SECTION IV - Administrative

62 Health inspection/ permit not available for review 67 Temperature logs in use 71 SDS   
63 Certification (Food safety manager) 68 Pest traps not secured 
64 Food handler card (where applicable) 69 Pest binder/ file complete
65 Signs - handwash/ smoking/ choking/ consumer advisory 70 Master cleaning schedule  

     

AUDITOR WILL CAPTURE ALL OPPORTUNITY DEDUCTED FROM THE HEALTH AUTHORITY AT EVERY INSPECTION

DATE: O Critical O     Non-Critical O     Other

SCORE: 

State:

Jur:

     

76    Cutting glove available                [ # OBSERVED =          ]
77    Cutting glove in use                       (when applicable)
78    Wet floor sign available/ covering wet area
79    Employees wearing slip resistant shoes  [ _____ OF _____ ]
80    Other:

PHYSICAL FACILITY

Exterior premises/ loading dock

REFUSE/ PREMISES/ JANITORIAL

 NO POINTS SUBTRACTED FROM OVERALL SCORE FOR THIS SECTION

TOILETS/ TOILET ROOMS/ DRESSING ROOMS

Other insects (i.e. fruit & drain flies) - low risk

WALLS/ CEILINGS/ FLOORS

Utensil water <140/135ºF

Points Deducted

PROPER USE AND STORAGE 

Crates used to store items

OPERATIONS

Wet cloth under cutting board

SECTION V - Health Inspection

SIGNS/ PERMITS OTHER

Risk Management

SECTION VI - Other

FOOD

Other:

VERMIN

Fry basket

Crates used as shelf

O  

O  

O  

O  
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NAME: ADDRESS: DATE: 

Food type (PHFs) Temp. Violation Equipment Location Water Control Temp/PPM Violation    Location Chemical

  Y      N Sanitizer bucket   Y      N

  Y      N Dishmachine   Y      N

  Y      N Dishsink   Y      N

  Y      N Handsink - food area   Y      N

  Y      N Handsink - restroom   Y      N

  Y      N Prep sink   Y      N

  Y      N Bar sink/ machine   Y      N

  Y      N Dishsink water temp (1st basin)   Y      N

  Y      N   Y      N

  Y      N   Y      N

 

       TEMPERATURE CONTROL

Violation #

Section I Opportunities - Call Everclean office if 6, 8, 11-13 are observed

 

Section II Opportunities - Indicate repeat violations

UL Everclean
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NAME: ADDRESS: DATE:

Section III Opportunities

 

 

 

Section IV, VI & Additional Comments

Food Safety Certificates: __________ OF _________ managers

Last Pest Report Date: Comments:

SDS: 

AUDITOR: DATE: 

Violation #

FOOD SAFETY AND SECURITY REPORT

 

63

I _____________________________________ understand the recommendations that are being made to me today and agree to 
follow through on the corrective actions and/or training that needs to occur in order for my location to receive an "A" rating. I have 
agreed to do these within a timely manner.

69

71
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VIII. REQUIRED FORM G –INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

NAME OF PROJECT : FOODSERVICE MANAGEMENT AT MCCORMICK PLACE COMPLEX 
 

PROJECT NUMBER:  2011-01 __________    

PROPOSER:  ____________________________________________________________ 
 

 [ ]  PROPOSER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS PROVIDED EVIDENCE OF THE ABILITY TO 

PROVIDE INSURANCE COVERAGE AS SPECIFIED BELOW.  

1. The Selected Contractor must procure and maintain, at its own expense, until final completion of 
the Services covered by this Contract and during the time period following final completion if 
required to return and perform additional Services, for any reason whatsoever, the types of 
insurance specified below,  

 in amounts specified by the Authority's Risk Manager. The Selected Contractor must provide the 
Authority with certificates evidencing such coverage prior to receiving the contract: 

 a.      Commercial General Liability 

Coverage Limit     

 General Aggregate (per location) $2,000,000.00 
 Products Liability/Completed 
 Oper. Aggregate $2,000,000.00 
 Each Occurrence $2,000,000.00 
 Personal & Advertising Injury $2,000,000.00 
 Liquor Legal Liability                                                                            $2,000,000.00 
 Dram Shop Statutory                                                                                  Statutory 

 If Commercial General Liability or other form with a general aggregate limit is used, the general 
aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit.  

 b. Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability

 Coverage Limit     

 Workers' Compensation Statutory   
 Employer's Liability  
 Each Accident  $  1,000,000.00 
 Per Employee - Disease $  1,000,000.00 
 Annual Aggregate - Disease $  1,000,000.00 
RFP FOR FOODSERVICE MANAGEMENT AT MCCORMICK PLACE® COMPLEX 
Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority (MPEA), Chicago, Illinois 
REQUIRED FORM G –Insurance Requirements 



 

 Workers’ Compensation/ Employer’s Liability policies shall be endorsed to waive  
 the insurer’s right of subrogation against the Authority.    

 c. Automobile Liability 

 Coverage Limit     

 Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
    Combined - Occurrence $1,000,000.00 
 Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist - 
    Occurrence $1,000,000.00 

 This Policy must provide coverage for all owned, non-owned, and hired autos. 

 d. Umbrella Coverage               

Coverage                   Limit

 Occurrence/ Aggregate                              $25,000,000.00 

Coverage must be in excess of Commercial General Liability, Auto Liability Liquor
Liability and Employer’s Liability. It must be no more restrictive than the primary 
coverage listed, with its limits not less than twenty-five million dollars   

 e. Professional Liability 

 Coverage           Limit

Errors and Omissions  
 Per Occurrence         $2,000,000.00 
 General Aggregate         $2,000,000.00  

 Contractor must request architects and designers to name the Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority 
as an additional insured to their policy.  

f. Crime  
          

 Coverage           Limit

Employee Theft / Dishonesty        $1,000,000.00 
 On Premise Coverage for Theft, Disappearance,  
 Destruction of money and securities           $1,000,000.00 
 Off Premise Coverage for Theft, Disappearance,  
 Destruction of money and securities           $1,000,000.00 
 Forgery & Alterations Coverage                                                             $1,000,000.00 
 Money Orders/Counterfeit Fraud Coverage                                              $1,000,000.00 
          Funds Transfer Fraud Coverage                                                             $1,000,000.00 
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 Credit Card Fraud                                                                                $1,000,000.00 
 Computer Fraud with Funds  
 Transfer including wire funds transfer                                  $1,000,000.00 

 This coverage must be evidenced on a Discovery Form 

 g.  All Risk Blanket Builders’ Risk

In the event that Contractor undertakes any construction for the performances of the services, Contractor 
shall provide All Risk Blanket Builders’ Risk insurance to cover all materials, supplies, equipment, 
machinery and fixtures that are or will be part of the permanent facility.  

Coverage Extensions

Business Interruption
Loss of Revenue
Loss of rents
Loss of use of Property   

J. Contractor’s (Site Specific) Pollution Liability Insurance.
 To be carried for all construction projects managed by the Contractor  

Coverage

A broad form Contractor’s (Site Specific) Pollution Liability Insurance Policy which covers losses 
caused by pollution conditions (including sudden and non-sudden pollution conditions) arising from 
the services and operations of the Contractor and all subcontractors pursuant to the Agreement.  
Such policy: 

Shall apply, without limitation, to bodily injury, property damage (including loss of use of damaged 
property or of property which has not been physically injured or destroyed) and clean-up costs. 

Shall provide coverage for pollution conditions which arise from encountering pre-existing 
environmental conditions at the project site.  

Shall provide coverage for liability resulting from the transportation of hazardous wastes. 

Shall be written with a per occurrence limit of liability of $5,000,000 for each occurrence and a 
policy aggregate of liability of $5,000,000.  

Shall contain a deductible no greater than $100,000. 

2. All insurance companies must be rated A-VIII or better by the A. M. Best Company.  

3. Contractor’s assumption of liability is independent from, and not limited in any manner by, the 
Contractor's insurance coverage obtained pursuant to this Contract, or otherwise.  All amounts 
owed by Contractor to the Authority as a result of the liability provisions of the Contract shall be 
paid on demand. 
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4. Contractor expressly understands and agrees that any insurance or self-insurance programs 
maintained by the Authority shall apply in excess of and  

 not contribute with insurance provided by them under the Agreement.  

5.  Policies should be written on an occurrence basis with the exception of professional liability 
coverage.   

6. All coverages must contain a Waiver of Subrogation in favor of the MPEA  

7. All policies must amend the other insurance clause to be Primary and Non Contributory for any 
liability arising directly or indirectly from the Services.    

8. The Metropolitan Pier and Exposition Authority, its trustee, facilities, agents, officers, board 
members and employees are named as an additional insured.  

9. Subcontractors performing services for the selected contractor shall maintain coverage and limits 
equal to or greater than the proposer.   

10. If policies are canceled for any reason, immediate notice is required to be given to the Risk 
Management Department via certified mail.  
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EXHIBIT H 
 

S100 Banquet Kitchen  
 
 

As referenced in Section 2.1.4  

 
 



South Level 1

S
A

V
O

R
 B

anquet 
K

itchen space

P
ortion of front 

kitchen space to be 
used for plate-up/
staging

P
ortion of w

alk-in 
space to be used for 
tem

porary storage 
of cold food for 
im

m
ediate service



 

  

EXHIBIT 3 - TIMELINE 
 
The anticipated timeline for the RFP process is set forth below. These are target dates and 
are subject to change.  
 
 
Request for Proposals (RFP) issued 
 

 
Friday, February 17, 2023 

 
Pre-Submittal Meeting and Site Visit 

 
Thursday, March 2, 2023 
 

 
Questions Due 
 

 
Thursday, March 9, 2023 

 
Answers to questions issued 
 

 
Wednesday, March 15, 2023 

 
Proposals Due 
 

 
Wednesday, April 5, 2023 

 
Interviews / Presentations 
 

 
Week of May 8, 2023 

 
Board Approval and notification of selection 
 

 
June 2023 
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	(ix) Cappuccino Catering: Exhibitor Coffee and Specialty Coffee Services, Berry Chill Retail, Assorted Nuts, Trail Mix and Dried Fruit from Mobile Cart Locations.
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	3.6.2 Management Proposal
	On a yearly basis, the Manager shall present a management plan, including every foodservice management position proposed, for review and approval by the Authority. This list shall include all permanent managers, directors, and supervisors with salary ...
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	The Manager will continuously review and evaluate solutions which reduce reliance on non-renewable resources and limit impact on all-natural resources. At a minimum, Manager will offer the following unless otherwise requested by the customer:
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	3.7.8 West Roof Top Garden Manager shall be responsible for planting, maintaining, and utilizing the produce from a designated food garden space provided by the Authority on the roof of the West Building.  The cost of using the plot will be considered...
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	3.10.2 Inventory
	A. The Authority is providing an inventory of smallwares, banquet equipment and fixed kitchen equipment and supplies to meet the present needs of McCormick Place. The Manager is responsible for maintaining the inventory at the accepted par level.
	B. Replacements and additions are paid for from the Reserve Fund, as defined in Section 3.16 below, if adequate funds are available. If adequate funds are not available, the replacement or addition of inventory shall be paid as a direct operating cost...
	3.10.3 Equipment Cleanliness and Appearance
	The Manager must keep all equipment, furniture, kitchen locations and other supplies in pristine, clean condition. The Manager will train staff to treat all Authority owned equipment and facilities as though they were owned by the Manager.
	3.10.4 Equipment Maintenance and Safety
	Throughout the term of the agreement the Manager, at its own expense, will be required to secure and maintain all liquor licenses necessary for the required services. This will include, but not be limited to, licenses for catering, concessions, mobile...
	All licenses and permits required for the sale of alcoholic beverages at the combined venues shall be obtained by and held in the name of, the Manager. The Manager shall keep the permits in full force and effect, and neither party shall take any actio...
	A. The Manager shall be responsible for ensuring that the services and all facilities under the operational jurisdiction of the Manager satisfy all public health and sanitation standards and requirements as established by the Authority, City, State, a...
	Manager must develop and implement a hazard analysis critical control point (HACCP) program. All employees shall be trained on the program and Manager shall maintain appropriate logs and report to evidence its implementation of such as program.
	B. The Manager shall be responsible and shall set aside sufficient funds for cleaning and sanitation of all areas utilized for the banquet and concession operations.
	C. To the extent that the Manager does not have the requisite expertise to perform the cleaning services, the Manager may, and the Authority strongly encourages the Manager to, contract with an outside cleaning company of its own choosing to provide s...
	D. The Manager shall provide to the Authority a weekly, detailed cleaning plan and maintenance schedule.
	E. The Manager shall be responsible for and consider all cleaning and sanitation costs and expenses for the following:
	F. Manager is responsible for promptly removing and transporting all refuse, compost and waste materials created by its operation after each event to the Authority designated receptacles and for depositing such material in the proper receptacle. The r...
	G. The Authority will have the right to object to the appearance and condition of the food service receiving docks, storage facilities, kitchens, preparation areas, and serving areas, and the Manager will be expected to remedy the appearance and condi...
	A. “D/B/A” Designation. The Authority reserves the right to designate the name under which the Manager will provide services to McCormick Place. The approved name shall remain the property of the Authority.
	B. Parking. The Authority will provide to certain employees of the Manager parking spaces (subject to availability) at McCormick Place at a discount off of the published rates in effect at the time of such usage. The Authority reserves the right to mo...
	C. Facilities, Premises and Computers. The Authority will provide the Manager with office space, office furniture, office equipment, computer hardware, booking/scheduling software, and the standard office software at the Authority’s cost.  The Manager...
	E. Authority Provided Services
	a. $360,000 for gas, water and electricity payable at $30,000 per period
	b. 1% of gross revenue, per month, for utility installation expenses which are defined as all temporary electrical services provided by the facility for food and beverage operations.

	3.16.1 Reserve Plan On an annual basis, the Manager shall provide a Reserve Fund plan for the following fiscal year which includes a projection of total expected contributions, and planned expenditures with descriptions of use for the categories below:
	A. Room Conversion Fee. The Manager will reimburse the Authority for the published meeting room set change rate for any meeting room or ballroom which is set for a function with the sole purpose of hosting a food and beverage function such as a seated...
	B. Food and Beverage for MPEA Staff and Employees. The Manager shall provide the Authority’s staff and employees with food and beverage services at the actual cost of the food and labor at designated on-site facilities. Revenue for this element of ser...
	A.  Franchise Revenue. Franchise operations will be subject to the same financial terms as other Manager provided self-operated concessions operations. The franchise fee will be considered to be a direct operating cost.  Revenue from franchise operati...
	B.  Retail Food Licensee Revenue. All income and/or commissions received by the Manager from retail food licensees shall be reported separately on the financial statement and will be entered as retail food licensee revenue. The Manager will remit an a...
	C. Advertising Revenue. The Authority reserves all rights of advertising in McCormick Place. All revenue generated through advertising, such as cup logos, banner table tents, or any other means in McCormick Place is the property of the Authority and m...
	A. Loss Prevention. The Manager will be responsible for developing and implementing a plan to minimize the risk of loss from theft in all its cash handling operations, which plan shall be subject to the prior review and approval of the Authority.  The...
	B. Audit. The Authority may, upon providing 24 hours’ prior written notice, inspect the books and records of Vendor. Further, in the Authority’s sole discretion, the Authority may, upon no less than ten (10) Days’ prior written notice, cause a complet...
	C. Financial Management Services For all services provided, the Manager will be responsible for financial management including, but not limited to, the following:
	A. Approval Required. All vendor franchise agreements and concession agreements must be approved by the Authority prior to working at McCormick Place. All financial terms and conditions to be entered into between the Vendor and its respective subcontr...
	B. MPEA Sponsored Events. For MPEA sponsored Events, the Manager will charge the Authority the Manager’s actual costs of servicing the event. The costs incurred by the Manager for MPEA sponsored Events shall not be included in the calculation of gross...
	C. Sponsorships. The Manager shall use its best efforts to enlist its major vendors as corporate sponsors of McCormick Place. Such sponsorships may take place in the form of cash donations, long-term interior and exterior building signage, graphic spo...
	The Authority has established an exclusive sponsorship agreement with a soft drink company. The Authority has also established a sponsorship agreement with Miller Coors, for the Wintrust Arena only. To the extent permitted by law, and unless otherwise...
	5. Operations Plan
	6. Management and Staffing Proposal
	7. Sustainability Plan
	9. Marketing Plan
	10. Proposed Banquet Event Order (BEO)
	11. Purchasing Program
	12. Product Specification
	13. Menus and Pricing
	14. Computer Application Experience
	15. Transition Plan and Pre-Opening
	16. Customer Satisfaction Surveys

	17. Concessions Master Use Plan
	Although the current mix of facilities is listed above, the Authority desires each Proposer to carefully create and identify a master use plan for facility concession locations throughout the McCormick Place campus. Coordination of these services shou...
	20. Financial Terms
	The agreement between the Authority and the Manager will be configured as a management fee arrangement with an annual incentive payment component for achieving certain defined performance criteria. The Proposer will submit for the Authority’s consider...
	A. Rebates Proposer should clarify how purchase credits and volume allowances factor into their financial Proposals. Clarification should be given on whether credits will be shared with the Authority on an ongoing basis or whether the Authority’s shar...
	B. Allocations Proposers should outline any expenses that will be allocated by the Manager’s corporate entity to the Authority operation such as employee benefits, insurance, technology and more. Please detail allocations in either dollar amounts or p...
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